University of Miami Scholarly Repository

Open Access Dissertations

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2011-08-04

A Novel Multifunctional Photocatalytic Oxidation (PCO) Gel Preventing Mold/Mildew Growth and Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Emission

Yao Gao University of Miami, sshygy@hotmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_dissertations

Recommended Citation

Gao, Yao, "A Novel Multifunctional Photocatalytic Oxidation (PCO) Gel Preventing Mold/Mildew Growth and Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Emission" (2011). *Open Access Dissertations*. 623. https://scholarlyrepository.miami.edu/oa_dissertations/623

This Embargoed is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Open Access Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact repository.library@miami.edu.



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

A NOVEL MULTIFUNCTIONAL PHOTOCATALYTIC OXIDATION (PCO) GEL PREVENTING MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH AND VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUND (VOC) EMISSION

By

Yao Gao

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Faculty of the University of Miami in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Coral Gables, Florida

August 2011



©2011 Yao Gao All Rights Reserved



UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

A NOVEL MULTIFUNCTIONAL PHOTOCATALYTIC OXIDATION (PCO) GEL PREVENTING MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH AND VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUND (VOC) EMISSION

Yao Gao

Approved:

Jacqueline P. James, Ph.D. Assistant Professor of CAE Engineering Terri A. Scandura, Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School

Helena Solo-Gabriele, Ph.D. Professor of CAE Engineering Yunqiu Wang, Ph.D. Lecturer of Biology

Rodrigo Mora, Ph.D. Faculty of Construction and the Environment BCIT, Burnaby, Canada Vinod C. Malshe, Ph.D. Retired Professor of Chemistry UICT, Mumbai, India



GAO, YAO <u>A Novel Multifunctional Photocatalytic</u> <u>Oxidation (PCO) Gel Preventing Mold/Mildew</u> Growth and Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) Emission

Abstract of a dissertation at the University of Miami.

Dissertation supervised by Professor Jacqueline P. James. No. of pages in text. (184)

With the increasing time people spend indoors, the indoor environment quality draws more and more attention. The concentration of indoor pollutants is usually much higher than outdoors, in which volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and mold/mildew are both major pollutants and cause many health problems to residents. Efforts devoted from academy and industry to protecting people from indoor environment problems are apparently not sufficient.

Photocatalysts, such as TiO₂, WO and ZnO, can absorb light photons and react with O₂ and H₂O to generate highly oxidative radicals, which can oxidize VOCs and disinfect microorganisms. Recently, this photocatalytic oxidation (PCO) technology has been intensively studied to reduce VOCs and disinfect bacteria in the indoor environment. Few papers address the indoor mold/mildew problem, and this research therefore endeavors to do so. The objectives are to evaluate the effectiveness of PCO technology to resist mold/mildew growth and prevent VOC emission from building materials under either UV or visible light irradiation. The models, including linear regression, logistic regression, and numerical model, are also built for interpreting experimental results and for predicting performance in application.



The mold/mildew resistance of different PCO gels was examined using accelerated mold/mildew growth agar plate tests. These gels included TiO_2 only and TiO_2 in combination with H_2O_2 and with Ag. Without the application of PCO gels, no mold/mildew inhibition was observed from UV (365 nm) or visible light. Under UV light irradiation, the TiO_2 gel achieved complete mold/mildew inhibition. Without light, a 12-day delay of mold growth was obtained using the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel. Under visible light irradiation, the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel was also the most effective PCO gel with a 8-day delay of mold growth, which, however, was shorter than the same gel in the condition of no light with a 10-day delay due to the light-induced deterioration of the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel) coated building materials under UV or visible light irradiation was also confirmed by small chamber tests (the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel with above 50% reduction of total VOC emission).

A linear model was obtained for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel in the condition of no light, with respect to the correlation between the delay of mold growth and the gel ingredients. A logistic model was created for predicting the probability of mold growth on different TiO₂ gels with different UV light exposure time at different intensities. A numerical model was developed with better accuracy than the previous one for VOC emission from PCO gel coated building materials.

This study showed that the PCO gel might be a promising multifunctional material in resisting mold/mildew growth and preventing VOC emission in the indoor environment (The TiO₂ gel for complete mold/mildew inhibition and the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel for delay of mold growth in emergency situations and reduction of VOC emission from building



materials). More stable Ag-TiO₂ or other visible-light-driven photocatalysts are needed in future research because of the deterioration of the current one.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my family for their love and support: to my parents for their long-term education and encouragement, which are always the power source of my life; to my siblings for their care and well wishes.

Many thanks to my advisor, Dr. James, who supports me in my research academically, economically, and spiritually. I would not finish the work without her dedication, professional advice and constructive criticism. Her previous work is a foundation of these research ideas.

I would also like to thank my dissertation committee, Dr. Solo-Gabriele, Dr. Wang, Dr. Mora and Dr. Malshe, for their expert guidance.

Thanks to Nick and Zedong, for their valuable contribution in conducting the experiments.

Thanks to Yu, for her constructive advice on regression analysis.

Thanks to Dr. Yan, for his sincere help on numerical modeling.

Thanks to my close friend Xinyao, for her great help on formatting cited papers.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | | Page |
|-------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| LIST | OF FIGURES | vii |
| LIST | OF TABLES | X |
| Chapt | er | |
| 1 | INTRODUCTION 1.1 Indoor Air Pollution 1.2 Nature of the Problem 1.3 Objective 1.4 Dissertation Outline. | 1 1 3 5 6 |
| 2 | REVIEW OF VISIBLE-LIGHT-DRIVEN MODIFIED TiO_2 2.1 Background of TiO_2 2.2 1972-19802.3 1981-19902.4 1991-20002.5 2001-Present2.6 Modified TiO_2 2.6.1 Background2.6.2 Non-metal Doping2.6.3 Metal Doping2.6.4 Both Non-metal and Metal Co-doping2.6.5 Oxides, Sulfides, Bromides, and Chlorides Mixing2.6.6 H ₂ O ₂ Addition2.6.7 Dye Sensitizing2.6.8 Others2.7 Conclusion | $\begin{array}{c} 7 \\ 7 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 12 \\ 17 \\ 20 \\ 20 \\ 20 \\ 20 \\ 20 \\ 28 \\ 33 \\ 35 \\ 40 \\ 41 \\ 43 \\ 44 \end{array}$ |
| 3 | PRELIMINARY MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH TEST ON TiO ₂ AND H ₂ O ₂ 3.1 Background 3.2 Materials and Preparation 3.3 Experiment 3.4 Results and Discussion 3.4.1 Mold Growth without Light 3.4.2 Mold Growth under UV Light 3.4.3 Mold Growth under Visible Light 3.5 Conclusion | 47 47 48 48 51 51 52 54 55 |



| 4 | MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH TEST ON PCO GELS | 59 |
|---|------------------------------------------------------------|----------|
| | 4.1 Background | 59 |
| | 4.2 Materials and Preparation | 61 |
| | 4.3 Experiment | 62 |
| | 4 4 The First Stage Result and Discussion | 63 |
| | 4 4 1 The First Stage Specification | 63 |
| | 4 4 2 Paint Samples | 63 |
| | 4 4 3 Gel Samples | 66 |
| | 4 4 3 1 Without Light | 67 |
| | 4 4 3 2 UV Light | 68 |
| | 4 4 3 3 Visible Light | 70 |
| | 4.5 The Second Stage Result and Discussion | 72 |
| | 4.5.1 The Second Stage Specification | 72 |
| | 4.5.2 Without Light | 72 |
| | 4.5.2 without Light | 73 |
| | 4.5.2.1 Result | 7/ |
| | 4.5.2.2 The Effect of H ₂ O ₂ | 76 |
| | 4.5.2.4 The Becommended Gel Sample without Light | 78 |
| | 4.5.2.4 The Recommended Get Sample without Light | 70 |
| | 4.5.5 UV Light | 70 |
| | 4.5.3.1 Result | ×1 |
| | 4.5.3.2 The IIV Light Intensity | 82 |
| | 4.5.5.5 The UV Light Exposure Time | 84 |
| | 4.5.3.5 The Decommended Gel Sample and LIV Light Condition | 85 |
| | 4.5.5.5 The Recommended Oel Sample and O v Light Condition | 05 86 |
| | | 80 |
| 5 | VOC TEST ON PCO GEL COATED BUILDING MATERIALS | 90 |
| 5 | 5 1 Background | 90 |
| | 5.1 Duckground | 91 |
| | 5.3 Result and Discussion | 96 |
| | 5.3.1 General Description | 96 |
| | 5.3.2 Pressure Treated Wood | 97 |
| | 5.3.2 Alessed Paint | 101 |
| | 5.5.5 On-based I ant | 101 |
| | 5.4 Conclusion | 100 |
| 6 | MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH MODEL | 110 |
| U | 6.1 Background | 110 |
| | 6.2 "Without Light" Model | 111 |
| | 6.3 "IV Light" Model | 114 |
| | 6.4 Conclusion | 122 |
| | | 144 |
| 7 | VOC EMISSION MODEL | 123 |
| , | 7.1 Background | 123 |
| | 7.2 Model Development and Equations | 124 |
| | 7.3 Model Result and Discussion | 133 |
| | 7.4 Conclusion | 136 |
| | | |



| 8 | CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS | 138 |
|---|--------------------------------|-----|
| | 8.1 Conclusion | 138 |
| | 8.2 Recommendations | 141 |
| | | |

| REFERENCE 1 | 144 |
|-------------|-----|
|-------------|-----|



LIST OF FIGURES

| Name Page |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Figure 3.1 Mold/mildew resistance experiment settiing |
| Figure 3.2 The picture result of mold growth test on TiO ₂ and H ₂ O ₂ at different incubation time |
| Figure 4.1 The PCO gel and the prevention of pollution (James, 2005) 60 |
| Figure 4.2 The color change of Ag-TiO ₂ after UV light irradiation or visible light irradiation: (a) before light irradiation; (b) after light irradiation |
| Figure 4.3 The picture result of mold growth test for the $Ag-TiO_2/H_2O_2$ gel at different incubation time |
| Figure 4.4 The effect of Ag-TiO ₂ in the Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ gel sample on mold/mildew resistance without light |
| Figure 4.5 The effect of H_2O_2 and the interaction between Ag-TiO ₂ & H_2O_2 in the Ag-TiO ₂ / H_2O_2 gel sample on mold/mildew resistance without light |
| Figure 4.6 The critical line for mold growth influenced by TiO ₂ added in TiO ₂ gels |
| Figure 4.7 The critical line for mold growth influenced by UV light intensity 83 |
| Figure 4.8 The critical line for mold growth influenced by UV light Exposure time |
| Figure 5.1 The small chamber experiment system |
| Figure 5.2 The chamber background VOC concentration |
| Figure 5.3 Illustration of setup inside the small scale chamber (James, 2005)95 |
| Figure 5.4 The VOC analysis system |
| Figure 5.5 VOC emission from pressure treated wood under UV light irradiation99 |
| Figure 5.6 VOC emission from pressure treated wood under visible light irradiation |



| Figure 5.7 Comparison of the Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ gel coated pressure treated wood under UV and visible light irradiation | 100 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Figure 5.8 Comparison of the TiO ₂ gel coated pressure treated wood under UV and visible light irradiation | 101 |
| Figure 5.9 VOC emission from oil-based paint under UV light irradiation: (a) the whole period of the experiment; (b) 0-25 hours; (c) 25-60 hours; (d) 60-96 hours | 104 |
| Figure 5.10 VOC emission from oil-based paint under visible light irradiation: (a) the whole period of the experiment; (b) 0-25 hours; (c) 25-60 hours; (d) 60-96 hours | 106 |
| Figure 5.11 Comparison of the Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ gel coated oil-based paint under UV and visible light irradiation | 107 |
| Figure 5.12 Comparison of the TiO ₂ gel coated oil-based paint under UV and visible light irradiation. | 107 |
| Figure 6.1 Model result vs experiment data-the time of the first sign of mold growth on the Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ gel without light: (a) result with Ag-TiO ₂ increase; (b) result with H ₂ O ₂ increase. | .113 |
| Figure 6.2 The logistic curve | 115 |
| Figure 6.3 The prediction of the logistic model in the experiment cases | .117 |
| Figure 6.4 The examples of the comparison between experiment data and logistic model: (a) The effect of UV light exposure time at 1 g TiO ₂ addition and 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity; (b) The effect of UV light exposure time at 1 g TiO ₂ addition and 0.6 mW/cm ² UV light intensity; (c) The effect of UV light intensity at 1 g TiO ₂ addition and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (d) The effect of UV light exposure time; (e) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO ₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time. | 121 |
| Figure 7.1 The schematic of the building materials coated with the PCO gel | .125 |
| Figure 7.2 Comparison of measure and simulated TVOC emission concentrations from oil-based paint and PCO gel with UV light (James, 2005) | 126 |



| Figure 7.3 Comparison of measure and simulated TVOC emission concentrations from oil-based paint and PCO gel with visible light (James, 2005) |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Figure 7.4 Comparison of TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under UV light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model133 |
| Figure 7.5 Comparison of Log TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under UV light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model133 |
| Figure 7.6 Comparison of TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under visible light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model |
| Figure 7.7 Comparison of Log TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under visible light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model |



LIST OF TABLES

| Name | Page |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------|
| Table 2.1 Brief History of Photocatalysts (TiO ₂ and Modified TiO ₂) | 19 |
| Table 2.2 The Modified TiO_2 in Degradation of VOCs and Disinfection of Microorganisms under Visible Light Irradiation | 46 |
| Table 3.1 Mold Growth Test Results for TiO_2 and H_2O_2 | 57 |
| Table 4.1 The First Stage Mold Experiment Result for the Gel Samples | 67 |
| Table 4.2 The Mold Growth Result on Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ without Light | 73 |
| Table 4.3 Two-Way ANOVA Test on the Mold Growth Result without Light | 74 |
| Table 4.4 The Mold Growth Result on TiO2 (P25) Gel under UV Light Irradiation | 80 |
| Table 4.5 The PCO Gels with Optimized Components and Operating Condition | 88 |
| Table 5.1 The Reduction of TVOC Emission from Building Materials by the PCO Gel | 108 |
| Table 7.1 Parameters Used in Developing New VOC Emission Model | 132 |



Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. Indoor Air Pollution

In recent years, indoor air quality has obtained increasing attention, due to the high percentage-90% of time people spend indoors (U.S. EPA, 1987a; 1989; 1998; Leech et al, 2002). Comparative risk studies performed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) have consistently ranked indoor air pollution among the top five environmental risks to public health (U.S. EPA, 1987b; 1990). U.S. EPA also reported that indoor levels of pollutants might be 2 to 5 times-and occasionally more than 100 times-higher than outdoor levels (U.S. EPA, 1987a). People's exposure to indoor air pollutants may be 10 to 50 times more than outdoor exposure (U.S. EPA, 1998).

There are two major types of indoor pollutants: chemical pollutants and microbiological pollutants. One of the major microbiological pollutants in the indoor environment is mold/mildew. The spore concentration of *Cladosporium sp.*, *Penicillium sp.*, *and Aspergillus sp.* was found predominating the indoor environment (Hunter et al., 1988; Andersson et al., 1997; Seltzer and Baxter, 1998; Gravesen et al., 1999; Miller et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2006; Haas et al., 2007; Dassonville et al., 2008; Rabito et al., 2008; Aringoli et al., 2008; Codina et al., 2008; Bogomolova and Kirtsideli, 2009). Suspended fungal spores are transported by air, which can grow on any indoor surface with sufficient organic supply, oxygen and humidity, causing many related human health



problems. Mold/mildew growth in the indoor environment affects the health of residents in two combined mechanisms. Fungal spores and mold/mildew fragments spread in the indoor air can act as allergen causing allergy or allergy-like symptoms to human, some of which are lethal. Also, some toxic chemicals called mycotoxin can be attached to dusts or fungal components releasing to indoor air (Wicklow and Shotwell, 1983; Palmgren and Lee, 1986). The inhalation of those toxins may cause human illness or even potentially cancer. The most famous indoor mold is *Stachybotrys chartarum* also called "black mold" causing severe human health problems in water-damaged buildings (CDC report, 1995; Montana et al., 1997; Etzel et al., 1998). A comprehensive review of the scientific literature was conducted by the Institute of Medicine of the National Academies (2004). Sufficient evidence for an association between mold or dampness in the indoor environment and upper respiratory tract symptoms, wheeze, cough, asthma symptoms in sensitized persons & hypersensitivity pneumonitis in susceptible persons was concluded. Also, limited or suggestive evidence for an association between dampness in the indoor environment and lower respiratory illness in otherwise healthy children & shortness of breath (dyspnea) was found (Institute of Medicine, 2004).

In 2005, Hurricanes Katrina and Rita ripped through the Golf coast in August and September, respectively. Approximately 80% of the city-New Orleans was flooded for more than 2 weeks, and it ultimately took the city's pumping system 43 days to remove the flooding waters from lower-lying areas (Knabb et al., 2005; CDC, 2006). The big flooding created ideal conditions for mold growth. Water damaged buildings became the very suitable habitat for mold growth. More than 100,000 homes in the flooded areas were estimated to experience significant mold growth (Riggs et al., 2005). Personal



property as well as personal health was compromised by mold growth in water-damaged houses.

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are a group of chemical compounds with a boiling temperature less than 250 °C. So, VOCs can easily vaporize at room temperature. Thus, they are well-known indoor chemical pollutants, most of which are known to be toxic and considered to be carcinogenic, mutagenic, or teratogenic (Alberici and Jardim, 1997). Adverse health effects potentially caused by exposure to VOCs in indoor air include: (1) irritant effects, including perception of unpleasant odors, mucous membrane irritation, and exacerbation of asthma, (2) systemic effects, such as fatigue and difficulty concentrating, and (3) toxic, chronic effects, such as carcinogenicity (Spengler and Sexton, 1983; WHO, 1989; Girman et al., 1989). Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) is also attributed to indoor VOC concentration in some cases.

1.2. Nature of the Problem

Building materials, furnishing and furniture are the main habitats for mold/mildew growth and a major VOC source in the indoor environment. The traditional control method for mold/mildew growth is to control the humidity level by heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) system, which has three major defects:

- a) It onsumes extra energy and becomes ineffective when losing the power.
- b) It generates unequaled humidity condition, leading to outbreak of mold/mildew on some spots with higher humidity level.
- c) It cannot control or respond to the water damage.



A variety of organic or metallic (e.g., Ag and Cu series) biocides have been used for mold inhibition in building materials. Such biocides are only effective for short-term antifungal purposes, and can, themselves, be toxic (Chen et al., 2009). So, a non-toxic, long-lasting coating material which can resist mold growth for long term or for emergency period (such as the flooding period during hurricane) even under high humidity condition is needed.

The traditional control method for VOCs is to reduce the VOC concentration in the indoor air using ventilation system and/or air clean system, which have three major defects:

- a) They consume extra energy and become ineffective when losing the power.
- b) They generate unequaled VOC concentration, leading to some spots with extremely high VOC concentration.
- c) They are not as effective as source control method, since they are just removing VOCs which are already present in indoor air.

In recent years, "green" building materials, as a source control method, have been applied to create a healthier indoor environment for occupants. However, their application is limited by:

- a) Their high Price.
- b) Their limited variety of products.
- c) Their use in old buildings is restricted.

So, a long-lasting coating material which can be applied to and reduce the VOC emission from any indoor surfaces under general indoor condition is needed.



A promising technology-photocatalytic oxidation (PCO) technology has been intensively studied for several decades, since Fujishima and Honda (1972) discovered the water photo splitting in a TiO₂ anode photochemical cell. Instead of thermo-activation for conventional catalysis, heterogeneous photocatalysis only require photonic energy to activate the chemical reaction, which means that it can have a broader range of application (Chen and Poon, 2009). The catalysts (the conventional catalysts or photocatalysts) are not consumed in the chemical reaction, which have a potential to be sustainable materials (Wang, 2011). In the presence of oxygen and water, the photocatalysts, such as TiO₂, ZnO and so on, can be activated by ultra violet (UV) light or visible light and generate electron-hole pairs by overcoming the band gap between valence band (VB) and conduction band (CB). Then, electron-hole pairs, either directly or indirectly by further producing oxidative radicals (O₂⁻ and OH*) and H₂O₂, react with organic compounds or bio-structures. Many studies on PCO technology have contributed to the VOC degradation in air and microbiological resistance.

1.3. Objective

The objectives are to evaluate the effectiveness of PCO technology to resist mold/mildew growth and prevent VOC emission from building materials under either UV or visible light irradiation. The models, including linear regression, logistic regression, and numerical model, are also built for interpreting experimental results and for predicting performance in application. This coating material has the potential to be an energy-efficient control method for indoor mold/mildew growth and VOC emission,



tolerating unequaled indoor environment conditions and reducing risk for accidental conditions.

1.4. Dissertation Outline

The dissertation is divided into seven chapters:

- a) Introduction: background information on indoor air quality, VOC & mold/mildew problems, and proposed solution using PCO technology.
- b) Review of visible-light-driven modified TiO₂: history of PCO technology & TiO₂ and methods to modify TiO₂ for visible light activity.
- c) Preliminary mold/mildew growth test on TiO₂ and H₂O₂: research on the synergy between TiO₂ & H₂O₂ on mold/mildew resistance and preliminary result on the mold/mildew resistance of PCO gels.
- d) Mold/mildew growth test on PCO gels: research on the optimal mold/mildew resistance of PCO gels loaded with different photocatalysts including TiO₂ & Ag-TiO₂ with & without H₂O₂ and factory experiment on the optimized PCO gels.
- e) VOC test on PCO gel coated building materials: confirmation of the reduction of VOC emission from the PCO gel coated building materials.
- f) Mold/Mildew growth model: regression model on the result from mold/mildew growth tests.
- g) VOC emission model: new VOC emission model considering the PCO reaction on the surface of building materials using new PCO reaction model.



Chapter 2

REVIEW OF VISIBLE-LIGHT-DRIVEN MODIFIED TiO2

2.1. Background of TiO₂

To obtain the optimal formulation and preparation method of the PCO gel that even works under visible light irradiation, a review for visible-light-driven photocatalysts was done before any experiments were performed.

In the PCO application, titanium dioxide (TiO_2) is the most widely used photocatalyst. TiO₂ is a common semi-conductor material that has been used as a white pigment in paints, cosmetics and foodstuff since ancient time (Fujishima et al., 1999). There are three crystal structures of TiO₂: anatase, rutile and brookite. Anatase is more widely used due to its higher photoactivity than other types. TiO₂ has its superior characteristics (Zhao and Yang, 2003): a) Relatively inexpensive, safe, chemically stable; b) High photocatalytic activity compared with other metal oxides; c) Oxidation of the major classes of pollutants at ambient temperature; d) Capable of completely degrading a large range of pollutants in certain reaction condition; e) No chemical additives are required. Based on its photocatalytic oxidizing power, its application includes water purification, air purification, microbial disinfection, and self-cleaning material, etc.

Generally, the PCO reaction can be divided into four steps:



- a) Adsorption of pollutants. In PCO reaction, the contaminants are first adsorbed onto the active sites on the surface of photocatalyst. So as water and oxygen (other reactants).
- b) Formation of electron-hole pairs. This is the most important step for PCO reaction. Photo-energy is needed to overcome the band gap between valence band (VB) and conduction band (CB). When the energy provided (photon) is larger than the band gap, the electron-hole pairs are created in the semiconductors for the following pollutant oxidation reaction. The common light source is ultra-violet (UV) light. In the case of TiO₂, UV light will activate TiO₂ to generate pairs of electron-hole: TiO₂ + hv \rightarrow h⁺ + e⁻. h⁺ and e⁻ are powerful oxidizing and reductive agents, respectively.
- c) Oxidation of pollutants. The charge will transfer between electron-hole pairs and adsorbed reactants on the semiconductor surface. On the surface of TiO₂, oxidative reaction is (OH⁻ is from adsorbed water) OH⁻ + h⁺ \rightarrow OH; while, reductive reaction is O₂ + e⁻ \rightarrow O₂⁻. The hydroxyl radical (OH*) coming from the oxidation of adsorbed water or adsorbed OH⁻ is the primary oxidant; and the presence of oxygen can prevent the re-combination of hole-electron pairs. Then, OH* further oxidizes the adsorbed pollutants into the final products-CO₂ and H₂O. OH* + pollutant + O₂ \rightarrow products (CO₂, H₂O, etc).
- d) Desorption of products. Final products such as CO₂ and H₂O will emit back to ambience through desorption.

According to the principles of semiconductor TiO_2 photocatalysis, the photocatalytic activity is mainly dependent on three factors: a) electron-hole generation capacity; b)



electron transfer route and efficiency; c) separation efficiency of photogenerated charge pairs (Xie et al., 2005). Currently, two major limiting factors impede the progress of PCO technology. Firstly, because of the relative big bandgap (above 3eV), most of widely used photocatalysts can only absorb the ultra-violet portion of the solar energy. Secondly, fast recombination between photogenerated electron-hole pairs takes place in photocatalysis, lowering the photocatalytic efficiency and wasting energy in unproductive ways (Dozzi et al., 2009). The review will take a look at the history of TiO₂ in PCO application (Table 2.1) and the development of visible-light-driven photocatalysts based on the modified TiO₂ (Table 2.2). Much effort was made in the development of more efficient photocatalyst and the application of the photo-purification of water & air.

2.2. 1972-1980

In the late 1960s, Fujishima, Akira began to study oxide semiconductor which would respond to light, while he was still a graduate student at the University of Tokyo (Fujishima and Zhang, 2006). In 1972, Fujishima and Honda discovered the water photo splitting on TiO₂ electrode, after which many researches were conducted on the photoactivity of TiO₂. As early as 1971, Formenti et al. (1971) observed the partial oxidation of paraffins by heterogeneous photocatalysis. The oxidation of organic compounds over TiO₂ under the irradiation of UV light was also noticed by Sullivan (1972) due to the photo-degradation of polymer containing TiO₂. After that, Bickley and Stone (1973) and Bickley et al. (1973) studied the gas-solid heterogeneous photocatalysis using isopropanol vapor and TiO₂. In 1977, Frank and Brad (1977) first studied the



photocatalytic oxidation of CN⁻ and SO₃²⁻ over TiO₂ under UV light irradiation. Their research aroused the interest of photocatalytic oxidation over TiO₂ in environmental application. During that period of time, metal ions such as Cr (Ghosh and Maruska, 1977; Maruska and Ghosh, 1979; Houlihan et al., 1978), Cd (Monnier and Augustynski, 1980), and Co (Matsumoto et al., 1980) were studied to extend the spectral reponse of TiO₂ into the visible light region. Dye sensitization for spectral extension of TiO₂ to visible light was intensively examined in water splitting and solar cell (Hauffe and Bode, 1974; Memming, 1974; Osa and Fujihira, 1976; Spitler and Calvin, 1977). Dye molecules are adsorbed on the surface of TiO₂ particles, forming chemical complexes that can absorb visible light and inject the exited electrons into the conduction band of TiO₂, leading to the photocatalysis under visible light irradiation.

2.3. 1981-1990

Researchers continued studying the application of photocatalysts in the degradation of environmental contaminants. Most of efforts were contributed to the water purification. Many kinds of water contaminants were intensively studied for photocatalytic oxidation over TiO₂ under UV light irradiation including sulphides (Davidson and Pratt, 1983), phenol (Matthews, 1987; Augugliaro et al., 1988b), chloroform (Pruden and Oilis, 1983), 2-propanol (Harvey et al., 1983), 2-chlorophenol (Matthews, 1987), 4-chlorophenol (Barbeni et al., 1984; Matthews, 1987), chlorobenzene (Matthews, 1986), salicylic acid (Matthews, 1987), benzoic acid (Matthews, 1987), 2-naphtho1 (Matthews, 1987), naphthalene (Matthews, 1987), and fluorescein (Matthews, 1987), potassium iodide



(Draper and Fox, 1990b), 2,4,5-trichlorophenol (Draper and Fox, 1990b), methyl viologen dichloride (Draper and Fox, 1990b), potassium tetrachloroplatinum(II) (Draper and Fox, 1990b), tris(1,10-phenanthroline)-iron(II) perchlorate (Draper and Fox, 1990b), N,N,N',N'-tetramethyl-p-phenylenediaminem (Draper and Fox, 1990b), thianthrene (Draper and Fox, 1990b), Thiocyanate (Draper and Fox, 1990a), p-Nonylphenyl poly(oxyethylene) ethers (Hidaka et al., 1988a), sodium dodecylbenzene sulphonate (Hidaka et al., 1988b). The photocatalytic oxidation of air pollutants, especially some volatile organic compounds, was also drawing the attention of the researchers, though there were fewer papers published for gaseous contaminants than that for aqueous contaminants. Toluene (Ibusuki and Takeuchi, 1986) as the largest component of environmental aromatic hydrocarbons, 2-ethoxyethanol (Yamagata et al., 1989) as a volatile organic solvent and trichloroethylene (Dibble and Raupp, 1990) as a major vapor contaminant of water treatment facility effluents were confirmed being oxidized by the photocatalytic oxidation over TiO₂ under UV light. The addition of H₂O₂ into TiO₂ was found to promote the rate of photocatalytic reaction under UV light irradiation (Augugliaro et al., 1988a and 1990, Wei et al., 1990).

In 1985, Matsunaga drew the interest of photocatalyst to the disinfection of microorganisms. He found the bactericidal effect of TiO_2 against several species of microorganisms such as *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) and postulated the oxidation of enzyme inside the microbial cells due to the photocatalytic reaction causing the death of the cells (Matsunaga, 1985). Then, Matsunaga et al. (1988) built a continuous-sterilization system using TiO_2 powders in which *E. coli* cells were continuously sterilized. It was a big step for the real application of photocatalyst in microbial disinfection.



Chromium ion was kept being used for the sensitizer of TiO_2 to obtain the visible light photo-activity. Borgarello et al. (1982) observed visible light induced water cleavage on chromium-doped TiO_2 particles. To increase the light harvesting and the absorption of visible light, chromophores were adopted as a dye sensitizer because of highest photon to current conversion efficiency among other dyes. This new dye sensitization system was developed in which Ru(bpy) complexes were used as a sensitizer on TiO_2 (Desilvestro et al., 1985; Furlong et al., 1986; Vlachopoulos et al., 1988). Enea et al. (1989) screened systematically a number of other chromophores suitable for sensitization of TiO_2 . They reported the laser dye coumarin 343 had the highest efficiency. Amadelli et al. (1990) further developed the cyano-bridged trinuclear complex based on Ru(bpy) complexes adsorbed on the surface of TiO_2 for the better light absorption of the dye sensitization process. Another dye sensitization system using transition metal cyanide complexes as charge transfer dyes for TiO_2 was developed by Vrachnou et al. (1989).

2.4. 1991-2000

Within this period, a considerable amount of research was carried out in both water (Al-Sayyed et al., 1991; Augugliaro et al., 1991; Kormann et al., 1991; Matthews, 1991; Ollis et al., 1991; Davis et al., 1994; Lakshmi et al., 1995; Wang et al., 1999a; Gouvea et al., 2000) and air (Peral and Ollis, 1992; Obee and Brown, 1995; Luo and Ollis, 1996; d'Hennezel et al., 1998; Kwon et al., 2000) purification. In order to increase the efficiency of the photocatalysts, the mechanism of photocatalytic reaction was studied



(Mills and Hoffmann, 1993; Pelizzetti and Minero, 1993; d'Hennezel et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999b). There are many factors that can influence the rate of photocatalytic reaction such as light intensity (Kormann et al., 1991; Chen and Ray, 1999), oxygen (Augugliaro et al., 1991; Augugliaro et al., 1999; Chen and Ray, 1999), water (Peral and Ollis, 1992; Obee and Brown, 1995; Sitkiewitz and Heller, 1996), dopants (Al-Sayyed et al., 1991; Sclafani et al., 1991; Litter, 1999; Wilke and Breuer, 1999), additives (Do et al., 1994; Zhao et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999b; Kwon et al., 2000), etc. The photocatalysis of TiO₂ was also studied for real applications (Bahnemann et al., 1991; Matthews, 1991; Ollis et al., 1991; Venkatadri and Pete, 1993; Davis et al., 1994; Sauer and Ollis, 1994 and 1996; Alfano et al., 2000).

Metal ion doping for TiO₂ photocatalysis system had been examined since 1980s. Litter (1999) summarized the previous research result of many kinds of transition metal ions for their influence of photocatalytic reaction. Some metal ions such as Fe^{3+} , Ag^+ , and Cu^{2+} with low level of concentration have positive effect on the photocatalytic reaction acting as an electron deliverer to O₂; however, with high concentration of those ions and some other metal ions such as $Mn^{2+} Co^{2+}$ and Cr^{3+} , the photocatalytic reaction would be inhibited or even stopped mainly due to their recombination center roles for the photocatalytic electrons and holes. The loading of noble metal on TiO₂ powders such as Au (Albert et al., 1992; Gao et al., 1992), Ag (Sclafani et al., 1991; Lee et al., 1992), and Pd (Papp et al., 1993), which also acts as an electron deliverer for fast reduction of O₂, can be an effective way to improve the photo-activity of TiO₂. Using binary metal oxides as photocatalysts are another way to promote the photocatalytic efficiency, Lin and Yu (1998) first conducted an experiment on gaseous phase photocatalytic degradation using



mixed TiO₂-rare earth oxides. They found that photoactivity the mixture of TiO₂ with La_2O_3 (0.5 wt.%) or Y₂O₃ (0.5 wt.%) exhibit higher photoactivity than pure TiO₂ (P25) for the oxidation of acetone. On the other hand, the mixtures of TiO₂ with CeO₂ had lower photoactivity than pure TiO₂. Later, Kwon et al. (2000) used WO₃/TiO₂ binary metal oxides system to study the role of WO₃ in enhancing the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂. The increase of photo-activity with the addition of WO₃ was confirmed by the degradation of benzene and 2-propanol.

Venkatadri and Pete (1993) stated that TiO₂ assisted photocatalytic oxidation is more suitable for ground water treatment with low concentration of contaminants instead of waste water treatment with high concentration of contaminants and the possible application of solar irradiation would facilitate the economics of its application. Sauer and Ollis (1994) summarized all the previous researches on photocatalytic degradation of major air contaminants such as alkanes, 1-butanol, toluene, trichloroethylene & odor compounds using the honeycomb monolith reactor and proposed the honeycomb monolith as an effective configuration for removal of all major classes of air contaminants. With the knowledge accumulation from over two-decade research, many review papers were also published regarding to each aspects of the photocatalysis (Fox and Dulay, 1993; Pelizzetti and Minero, 1993; Wold, 1993; Hagfeldt and Gratzel, 1995; Hoffmann et al., 1995; Mills and Le Hunte, 1997; Peral et al., 1997; Blake et al., 1999; Litter, 1999; Alfano et al., 2000). It is realized that compared to the water purification, photocatalytic reaction may be more applicable for air contaminants; for there is relatively small concentration of pollutants in the air (usually below 500 ppm and sometimes in ppb level) and relatively abundant oxygen (21% of air is oxygen) acting as



an electron acceptor in the photocatalytic reaction. So, the photocatalytic reaction would be more efficient in air purification. Many researches were conducted on TiO_2 photocatalysis for major air contaminants including nitrogen oxides (Ibusuki and Takeuchi, 1994; Nakamura et al., 2000), ethanol (Sauer and Ollis, 1996), 2-propanol (Kwon et al., 2000), acetaldehyde (Sopyan et al., 1994 and 1996; Ohko et al., 1998; Sauer and Ollis, 1996), formaldehyde (Peral and Ollis, 1992; Obee and Brown, 1995), benzene (Sitkiewitz and Heller, 1996; d'Hennezel et al., 1998; Kwon et al., 2000), toluene (Obee and Brown, 1995; Luo and Ollis, 1996; d'Hennezel et al., 1998; Augugliaro et al., 1999; Cao et al., 2000), m-xylene (Peral and Ollis, 1992), 1-butanol (Peral and Ollis, 1992), butyraldehyde (Peral and Ollis, 1992), 1,3-butadiene (Obee and Brown, 1995), acetone (Peral and Ollis, 1992; Sauer and Ollis, 1994), TCE (Jacoby et al., 1995; Luo and Ollis, 1996), and stearic acid (Sitkiewitz and Heller, 1996). Alberici and Jardim (1997) demonstrated the capacity of TiO₂ photocatalysis process to destroy different classes of VOCs present in air using 17 VOCs in the feed air to a plug flow reactor with UV light illuminated TiO₂. At the steady state, high conversion yields were obtained for most of VOCs (above 60% and some above 95%); however, the photodegradation of isopropylbenzene (30.3%), methyl chloroform (20.5%) and pyridine (15.8%) was not so efficient.

Due to the non-toxicity of TiO_2 , strong oxidizing power, and possible use of sunlight, the microbial disinfection over TiO_2 was continually evaluated with different kinds of bacteria (Saito et al., 1992; Watts et al., 1995; Kikuchi et al., 1997; Sunada et al., 1998), viruses (Watts et al., 1995), and real application (Ireland et al., 1993; Wei, et al., 1994; Watts et al., 1995). Ireland et al. (1993) first developed a TiO_2 photocatalytic reactor to



study the use of TiO_2 for microbial inactivation. In 1995, Watts et al., (1995) first documented the inactivation of virus (poliovirus 1) using TiO₂ under UV light and sunlight. The modification of its surface structures by TiO_2 photocatalytic process may be the cause of the inactivation. The mechanism of this disinfection process by photocatalysis was also intensively examined (Saito et al., 1992; Kikuchi et al., 1997; Wamer et al., 1997; Maness et al., 1999). Saito et al., (1992) confirmed the bactericidal action of TiO_2 on the mutans group of streptococci. They found that bacterial death appears to be caused by a significant disorder in cell membranes and finally the cell walls were decomposed. Kikuchi et al. (1997) found that the long-range bactericidal effect is attributed mainly from hydrogen peroxide produced by the photocatalysis, together with a cooperative effect due to other oxygen species. H₂O₂ and O₂⁻ produced by photocatalysis of TiO_2 are less toxic to the microorganisms due to the presence of superoxide dismutase and catalase enzyme in all aerobic microbial to convert those toxic active oxygen radicals into non-toxic substances. OH* also produced by the photocatalysis is more toxic compared to H₂O₂ and O₂; however it cannot sustain long, compared to H₂O₂ with longer life. The major mechanism of disinfection by the photocatalysis of TiO₂ involves that H_2O_2 penetrates of cells and reacts with Fe^{2+} ions which are present significantly inside the cells to produce more OH* which damages the cells: $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow OH^* + OH^- +$ Fe^{3+} (Blake et al., 1999).

It is worth of pointing out that Fujishima and his colleagues performed a series of researches (Sopyan et al., 1994 and 1996; Matsubara et al., 1995; Negishi et al., 1995; Ohko et al., 1997 and 1998) on highly efficient TiO₂ film they developed (pure anatase form) under weak UV light irradiation ranging from 1 uW/cm² to 1 mW/cm², some of



which was at ordinary indoor UV level. They found that with weak UV light of 1 uW/cm^2 was sufficient to decompose some air contaminants such as 2-propanol (Ohko et al., 1997) and acetaldehyde (Ohko et al., 1997). Under weak UV light of 1 mW/cm2, *E.coli* was efficiently killed on a TiO₂-coated glass plate (Kikuchi et al., 1997). Those series of researches extend the practical application of TiO₂.

In the development of visible-light-driven photocatalyst, the system of TiO₂ with dye sensitization under visible light irradiation was continually studied (Zhao et al., 1998). Anpo et al. (1997 and 1998) prepared a TiO₂ photocatalyst with the implantation of Cr ion which was able to absorb visible light. NO reduction of photocatalytic efficiency was found compared the NO decomposition into N₂, O₂, and N₂O in oxygen free environment under visible light irradiation with that under UV light irradiation. In 2000, Nakamura and his colleagues (Nakamura et al., 2000) developed a visible-light-driven TiO₂ photocatalyst by plasma-treating. The photocatalytic oxidation of plasma-treated TiO₂ was confirmed by NO removal under visible light irradiation, which is attributed from the oxygen vacancies formed inside the crystal structure for the formation of the oxygen vacancy state located between the valence and the conduction bands.

2.5. 2001-Present

The development of photocatalysts entered a new stage in 21st century. As palmisano and his colleagues stated in their review paper (Palmisano et al., 2007), photocatalysis is a promising route for 21st century organic chemistry to potentially contribute to replacing environmentally hazardous processes with energy efficient routes allowing to totally



avoid the use and production of harmful chemicals and to maximize the quantity of raw material that ends up in the final product. During almost 4 decades of study on photocatalysis, the basic structure of photocatalysis is almost built up (Thompson and Yates et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2007a; Mo et al., 2009). The gap between still needs to be filled up. Some photocatalytic products were going into the real market, even though some of them still needed to be improved.

In Japan, the commercialized TiO₂-based photocatalytic products include exterior construction materials, interior furnishing materials, road construction materials, purification facilities and household goods, etc. Self-cleaning exterior construction materials are widely applied in Japan, which uses the action of sunlight and rainwater to keep the exterior surface of building clean by the photocatalytic and superhydrophilic properties of TiO_2 . Another important application of TiO_2 photocatalysis is in the purification of indoor air, due to the low concentration of contaminants in the indoor air. TiO₂-based air filters can operate with UV lamps to decompose the adsorbed pollutants instead of accumulating them by active carbon filters. So, it has longer operating life and is easy to regenerate by washing with water. It can also kill the microorganisms in indoor air, which is very important for the applications in hospitals, institutions for the elderly, and schools, etc. TiO₂-based antibacterial products such as tiles, fibers, and sprays, etc., are also applied to hospitals in Japan (Fujishima and Zhang, 2006). As we stated above, the direction of the development of photocatalysis would be conquering two limiting factors-light absorption and photocatalytic efficiency to create and engineer high-efficient, visible-light-driven photocatalyst and photocatalytic process. More and more researches



carried on after 2000 turned their direction to develop photocatalysts with visible light photoactivity by modifying TiO_2 .

| Table 2.1 Brief History of Photocatalysts (TiO ₂ and Modified TiO ₂) | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Period | Year | Significant Events |
| | 1972 | Fujishima and Honda discovered the photoactivity of TiO ₂ and its mechanism |
| 1072 1000 | 1973- | Dye sensitization for spectral extension of TiO ₂ to visible light was intensively examined in water splitting and solar cell |
| 1972-1980 | 1977 | Frank and Brad aroused the interest of photocatalytic oxidation over TiO ₂ in environmental application |
| | 1977- | Research of photocatalysis on water purification |
| | 1977- | Transition metal ions such as Cr, Cd, and Co were used for the extension of spectral response of TiO ₂ into visible region |
| | 1985 | Matsunaga drew the interest of photocatalyst to the disinfection of microorganisms. |
| 1981-1990 | 981-1990 1985 | New dye sensitization system for visible-light-driven photocatalysts used Ru(bpy) complex |
| | 1986 | Ibusuki and Takeuchi used the photocatalytic technology in degradation of VOCs |
| | 1986 | Sato reported the preparation of N-TiO ₂ |
| | 1991- | Noble metal was noticed to greatly improve the photocatalytic activity |
| | 1992- | The disinfection process by photocatalysis is attributed to the disorder in cell membranes |
| | 1993- | Many review papers were published |
| | 1994- | Fujishima and his colleagues performed a series of researches on highly efficient TiO ₂ film under weak UV light irradiation |
| 1991-2000 | 1995 | Watts et al. first documented the inactivation of virus (poliovirus 1) using TiO ₂ under UV light and sunlight |
| | 1997 | Alberici and Jardim demonstrated the capacity of TiO ₂ photocatalysis process to destroy different classes of VOCs present in air |
| | 1998 | Lin and Yu first used binary metal oxides on gaseous phase photocatalytic degradation |
| | 2000 | Nakamura and his colleagues developed a visible-light- driven TiO ₂ photocatalyst by plasma-treating. |
| 2001- | 2001- | Increasing application of photocatalysis in the real environmental application |
| present | 2001- | More interest in developing visible-light-driven photocatalyst with high photocatalytic efficiency |



2.6. Modified TiO₂

2.6.1. Background

The application of most of the popular photocatalysts is restricted by their soly absorption of UV light, i.e. TiO_2 . To extend the application of the conventional photocatalysts as well as to maintan their superior property and low price, those photocatalysts, originally active in UV light, are modified to achieve visible light activity. The varieties of modified TiO2 are the most intensively studied visible-light-driven photocatalysts. There are several methods that can be used to modify TiO_2 for visible light activity:

- a) Non-metal doping;
- b) Metal doping;
- c) Both non-metal and metal co-doping;
- d) Oxides, sulfides, bromides, and chlorides mixing;
- e) H₂O₂ addition;
- f) Dye sensitizing; and others.

2.6.2. Non-metal Doping

TiO₂ doping with non-metallic impurities such as boron (Zaleska et al., 2008; Portjanskaja et al., 2009), carbon (Kuo et al., 2007; Irie et al., 2006; Wong et al., 2007; Gu et al., 2008; Dong et al., 2009a), sulfur (Ohno et al., 2003; Umebayashi et al. 2003a; Ohno, 2004; Ohno et al., 2004; Takeshita et al., 2006; Portjanskaja et al., 2009), phosphorus (Lin et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2008; Natori et al., 2009), fluorine (Yu et al.,



2002; Li et al., 2005a; Serpone, 2006; Yang et al., 2007a), Iodine (Hong et al., 2005; Long et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2009a), nitrogen is the most promising technology to extend the photoactivity into visible light region. Those non-metallic impurities doped into the crystal lattice, usually substituting for O, can create a smaller band gap, which, then, can absorb the visible light photon and start the photocatalytic reaction. The O vacancies are also generated through the doping process, which can contribute to the visible light photoactivity of the doped catalyst. However, whether the O vacancies enhance the visible light photoactivity of non-metal doped photocatalysts via stabilizing the doping impurities or directly absorbing the visible light photon is still under debate. Nakamura et al. (2004) and Livraghi et al. (2006), and Wu et al. (2008) considered that visible-light response of N-TiO₂ arise from an N-induced midgap level, which is formed slightly above the top of the valence band. Batzill et al. (2006) admitted that the introduction of N-centers favors the formation of oxygen vacancies, but the oxygen vacancies just act as dopant stabilizing entities. On the other hand, it has also been argued that it is the oxygen vacancies or associated defects contribute to the visible light activity, and the N-centers just serve to enhance the stabilization of these defects (Emeline et al., 2007; Wendt et al., 2008). Nambu et al. (2006) and Graciani et al. (2008) suggested that there is a relationship between implanted nitrogen atoms and oxygen vacancies summarized in the following two facts. The presence of vacancies of oxygen lowers the implantation energy of nitrogen and stabilizes them; whereas, the presence of implanted N lowers the energy of formation of oxygen vacancy. Anyway, the electron-hole pairs can be generated in non-metal doped TiO₂ by either non-metalic impurities or oxygen vancancies under visible light irradiation. Then, TiO₂ will trap the excited electrons and transport them to


the adsorbed O_2 on the surface of the photocatalysts. The photo-excited holes will spontaneously oxidize OH^- into OH. Therefore, the non-metallic doping improves the photoactivity of TiO₂ under visible light irradiation.

Other factors than the visible light absorption, which are changed simultaneously by the doping element, can also influence the photocatalytic activity and the practical application of the modified TiO₂. Turbidity of the slurry solution decreases with the increase of carbon content, which increases the possibilities of practical application of TiO₂ as a photocatalyst in water-treatment systems under visible light (Janus et al., 2006 and Morawski et al., 2006). P-doped species can increase the surface area of the materials and retard the phase transition of anatase to rutile. The excellent photocatalytic activity of P-TiO₂ compared with pure TiO₂ could be explained by its high surface area and small crystallite size (Lin et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2008).

The photocatalytic activity of the non-metal doped TiO₂ will be increased with the increase of non-metallic doping elements. However, the excessive doping will result in the decrease of photoactivity, since the doping impurities can also act as the recombination centers of photo-generated holes and electrons (Chen et al., 2007c; Ozaki et al., 2008; Zaleska et al., 2008; Portjanskaja et al., 2009). Let's take N-TiO₂ as an example. With the increase of N doping, the visible light activity of N-TiO₂ will slightly increase at first and after a certain optimal percentage of the N doping, it will then decrease. The optimal amounts of N doping in TiO₂ were N_y-TiO₂ at y= 6 (Chen et al., 2007c), 0.15–0.17 wt.% of nitrogen (Yin et al., 2005), 1.61 at% (Buzby et al., 2006), 3.4% (Shen et al., 2007), 6.0% (Kitano et al., 2006), and N/Ti ratio of 2.0 (Xing et al., 2009a).



Since Sato (1986) reported the preparation of a yellow material obtained by calcination of titanium hydroxide in the presence of ammonium chloride, causing the photocatalytic sensitization of TiO_2 into the visible light region, N-TiO₂ has been most intensively studied among all the modified TiO₂. Many kinds of organic substrates were confirmed to be oxidized by N-TiO₂ in both aqueous solution and gas phase under visible light irradiation and their visible light photo-degradation efficiencies were much higher than the undoped TiO₂: methyl orange (Lei et al., 2005; Shao et al., 2008), propane (Zhang et al., 2008a), phenol (Kosowska et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2009), formaldehyde (Qu et al., 2009), methylene blue (Cao et al., 2007; Sathish et al., Shen et al., 2007; Wan et al., 2007; Li et al., 2009a), trichloroethylene (TCE) (Yokosuka et al., 2009), CO (Sato et al., 2005; Kang et al., 2007), NO (Yin et al., 2003; Yin et al., 2005), NO_x (Zhou et al., 2007; Kang et al., 2008), azo dyes (Kosowska et al., 2005; Wawrzyniak and Morawski, 2006), ethylene glycol (EG) (Tachikawa et al., 2006), gaseous isopropanol (Tokudome and Miyauchi, 2004), 2-chlorophenol (2-CP) (Buzby et al., 2006; Ananpattarachai et al., 2009), ethylene, (Chen et al., 2008), herbicides RS-2-(4chloro-o-tolyloxy)propionic acid (mecoprop) & (4-chloro-2-methylphenoxy)acetic acid (MCPA) (Abramovic et al., 2009), 4-CP (Fu et al., 2006), an azo dye Orange G (OG) (Sun et al., 2008a), gaseous formaldehyde & toluene (Aoki et al., 2006), toluene in gas phase (Irokawa et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2008; Dong et al., 2009b), formic acid (Balcerski et al., 2007), 2-propanol (Irie et al., 2003; Kitano et al., 2006; Prabakar et al., 2008), 2,4dichlorophenol (Xing et al., 2009a), rhodamine B (Shao et al., 2008), and benzoic acid (Wang et al., 2007b). Many reported the reduction of UV light activity for N doping (Balcerski et al., 2007; Abramovic et al., 2009). Balcerski et al. (2007) and Yates et al.



(2006) found that the visible-light-active N-TiO₂ has defect sites in the form of Ti-N triple bonds. The increase of these sites leads to a loss of crystallinity that accounts for the reduced photocatalytic activity under UV irradiation.

Other non-metal dopings such as C (Dong et al., 2009a), S (Nishijima et al., 2007a), F (Wu and Chen, 2008), and P (Natori et al., 2009) were also found to improve the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ under visible light.

Codoping two or three non-metal species into TiO_2 aroused the interest from the researchers who were trying to find the synergy between different sorts of non-metal ions such as B & F (Reyes-Garcia et al., 2007), B & N (Gombac et al., 2007; Ling et al., 2008; Yan et al., 2008), N & C (Noguchi et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2007d; Yin et al., 2007), N & S (Liu and Gao, 2004; Yu et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2008; Sathish et al., 2009; Rengifo-Herrera et al., 2009), N & F (Li et al., 2005b; Yamada et al., 2008; Meng et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009), N & Si (Ozaki et al., 2007 and 2008), C, N & Cl (Li et al., 2006), C, N & S (Hupka et al., 2006; Zhou and Yu, 2008; Bengtsson et al., 2009; Nadtochenko et al., 2009). The result was controversial, some of which showed the increase of photocatalytic activity of two or three non-metal elements codoped TiO_2 compared to one non-metal element doping (Chen et al., 2007d) and some else exhibited no difference (Sathish et al., 2009). Chen et al., 2007 observed that C, N-TiO₂ nanomaterials exhibited the highest photocatalytic activity among C-TiO₂, N-TiO₂, and C, N-TiO₂, which could be assigned to the synergistic effect of doped C and N atoms. Also, Li et al. (2005b) observed that the highest visible-light activity of N, $F-TiO_2$ for decompositions of both acetaldehyde and trichloroethylene among N-TiO₂, F-TiO₂, and TiO₂. However, Sathish et al. (2009) hardly found the enhanced photocatalytic activity of N, S-TiO₂ by S species



compared to N-TiO₂, Neither, Wang et al. (2009) found the N, F-TiO₂ exhibited lower photocatalytic activity for the oxidative degradation of Methylene Blue under visible light irradiation than N-TiO₂, though the former has much stronger visible-light absorption than the latter. It could be the different reaction substrates in the experiment that caused the controversial result. Hupka et al. (2006) observed that N, C, S-TiO₂ had higher phenol degradation under visible light than N, C-TiO₂. However, in the degradation of 4-chlorophenol, N, C-TiO₂ was better than that of N, C, S-TiO₂. The mechanism of codoping non-metal elements is still not very clear. For N and C codoped TiO₂, Chen et al (2007d) thought that N atoms can incorporate into the lattice of anatase through substituting the sites of oxygen atoms, while most C atoms can form a mixed layer of deposited active carbon and complex carbonate species at the surface of TiO_2 nanoparticles. For N, F-TiO₂, N-doping into TiO₂ results in not only the improvement in visible-light absorption but also the creation of surface oxygen vacancies. F-doping produces several beneficial effects including the creation of surface oxygen vacancies, the enhancement of surface acidity and the increase of Ti³⁺ ions (Li et al., 2005b). Ozaki et al (2008) considered the stabilization of N doping by Si doping is the synergy present in N, Si-TiO₂.

Some of the studies showed a promising potential for using non-metal doped TiO_2 in degradation of VOCs. S-TiO₂ showed fairly high photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation in oxidation of acetaldehyde (Nishijima et al., 2007b) and 2-propanol (Ohno, 2004; Ohno et al., 2004) in gas phase. F doped TiO_2 prepared by Li et al. (2005a) had high photocatalytic activity for the decomposition of gas-phase acetaldehyde under both UV and visible light irradiation. For the photocatalytic oxidation of acetone and



formaldehyde, the daylight-induced photocatalytic activities of the as-prepared N, S-TiO₂ powders were about ten times greater than that of Degussa P25 (Yu et al., 2006). Jo and kim (2009) observed that the degradation efficiency by an annular reactor coated with N-TiO₂ was well above 90% for four target compounds (ethyl benzene, o,m,p-xylenes) under visible light irradiation, suggesting that this photocatalytic system can be effectively employed to cleanse these pollutants at indoor air quality levels. Dong et al. (2009a) reported that the reaction rate constant of mesoporous C-TiO₂ in degradation of gaseous toluene under visible light irradiation was 17.6 times higher than that of TiO₂ (P25).

The disinfection of microbes using non-metal doped TiO_2 in the indoor environment was also examined. Cao et al. (2007) prepared the photocatalytic paint by adding Ndoped nanocrystalline anatase TiO_2 powders into self-engineered oxidation resistance latex paint system. The sterilization of *E.coli* by the N-TiO₂ modified paint could exceed more than 99% after 2 to 4 hours visible light irradiation. Vacaroiu et al. (2009) also concluded that N-TiO₂ could be used in disinfection of *E. coli* under visible light irradiation. Rengifo-Herrera et al. (2009) found that N, S-TiO₂ (P25) showed a high photocatalytic activity in *E. coli* inactivation under visible light.

Other similar method used sulfate species adsorbed on TiO_2 to promote the absorption of visible light. The sulfate species are incorporated into the TiO_2 network, resulting in the narrowing of band gap. Thus, the $SO_4^{2^2}/TiO_2$ exhibited much higher activity under visible light (Yang et al., 2005; Parida et al., 2008). With further configuration of non-metal doped TiO_2 , Liu et al. (2007a) and Kang et al. (2008) mixed N-TiO₂ with TiO₂ for the efficient prevention of recombination between photoexcited



electron and hole. N-TiO₂ supplies electrons and holes under visible light irradiation and acts as a hole acceptor, while TiO₂ acts only as an electron acceptor. Cojocaru et al. (2009) developed a photocatalyst-N-TiO₂ loaded with active carbon (AC). Under visible light irradiation, N-TiO₂-AC photocatalysts exhibited a remarkable activity, due to the high adsorption capability of AC.

Some negative result of non-metal doped TiO₂ was also present. Tachikawa et al. (2004) observed no oxidation reaction with S, C-TiO₂ powders, although charge carriers were sufficiently generated under excitation by visible light. Two mechanisms were proposed to explain the controversial findings. The photoproduced holes under visible light irradiation in the S, C-TiO₂ are quickly trapped in the doping sites that are located deep in the photocatalyst instead on the surface where the organic substrates are adsorbed. Furthermore, the photoproduced holes should have poor oxidizing power because of using photons with low energy. The mobility and potential energy of photoproduced holes trapped at the doping sites have significant influences on the photocatalytic efficiency of the S, C-TiO₂ powders (Tachikawa et al., 2004). Rengifo-Herrera et al. (2009) observed no phenol degradation on both doped and undoped Degussa P-25 powders illuminated by visible light. Under visible light irradiation, the photogenerated holes in N, S-TiO₂ (P25), due to the N and S localized states, have a lower oxidative potential, which is probably innocuous to phenol. No visible light-induced photocatalytic activity was observed, though N-TiO₂ possesses features extending towards the visible light region (Yates et al., 2006).



2.6.3. Metal Doping

Transition metal doping can improve the visible light photoactivity of TiO_2 in two mechanisms: (a) Transition metal ion doping is responsible for extending light absorption of TiO_2 into visible region; (b) Transition metal ion can act as an electron trapper to enhance the separation of photo-induced holes and electrons. In general, Metal ions (Mn⁺) capture photogenerated electrons and pass them to O_2 during the photocatalysis of metaldoped TiO₂ (Eq. 2.1 and Eq. 2.2).

$$Mn^+ + e^- \rightarrow M^{(n-1)+}$$
 2.1

$$M^{(n-1)+} + O_2 \rightarrow Mn^+ + O_2^-$$
 2.2

The dopant effectiveness lies not only in trapping the charge carriers to prevent recombination reactions but it should also detrap the charge carriers at a faster rate to facilitate the generation of highly reactive oxidative radicals such as hydroxyl and super oxide radicals. The detrapping of the trapped charge carriers depends mainly on the electronic configuration and stable oxidation state of the dopants (Devi et al., 2009b). Sn, not a transition metal, was also studied in modifying TiO₂, which has similar mechanisms to improve the visible light photocatalytic activity (Sayılkan et al., 2007; Yao et al., 2007).

The doping metal for increasing the photocatalytic activity also influenced other aspects of the photocatalysts. Cui et al. (2008) found that the recombination rate of photogenerated electron-hole pairs on Cu^{2+} -TiO₂/Ti film was decreased because of the increase of the surface roughness and restrain of crystal growth on TiO₂ film by Cu^{2+} , leading to successful photodegradation of phenol in aqueous solution under visible light irradiation. Also, the presence of cerium retards TiO₂ transition from amorphous to



crystalline anatase form, which contributes to the increased photocatalytic performance under visible light irradiation (Silva et al., 2009).

Transition metals such as Fe (Carneiro et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2006a; Wang et al., 2006b; Zhu et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2009), Cu (Maeda and Yamada, 2007; Cui et al. 2008), Co (Shi et al., 2006), V (Izumi et al., 2007; Lu et al., 2007; Masih et al., 2007), Cr (Umebayashi et al. 2003b; Bae et al., 2007; Lam et al., 2007; Wan et al., 2008, Noble metal (Pt (Li and Li, 2002; Kim et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2007a; Ishibai et al., 2007; Yi et al., 2007; Egerton and Mattinson, 2008), Pd (Grandcolas et al., 2008), Ag (Rupa et al., 2007; Hou et al., 2009; Menesi et al., 2008 and 2009; Li et al., 2009b), Au (Jakob et al., 2003; Subramanian et al., 2003; Mrowetz et al., 2007; Kowalska et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2009a; Zhao et al., 2009) and Ru (Houskova et al., 2009)), and Lanthanide metal (Ce (Xu et al., 2006; Yan et al., 2006; Ma et al., 2009; Silva et al., 2009), Nd (Xie and Yuan, 2004; Xie et al., 2005), Th (Devi et al., 2009a and 2009b), and Eu (Xie and Yuan, 2005)) were reported to improve the visible light photoactivity of TiO_2 in above two mechanisms. However, some researchers also obtained some controversial results. Ha et al. (2006) found that Co-doped TiO_2 showed no visible light photoactitity for CH₃Cl degradation. Maeda and Yamada (2007) observed that Fe-doped TiO₂ with 2 at% of Fe hardly showed visible light photocatalytic activity due to its quick Recombination of the photogenerated electron/hole pairs. Dozzi et al. (2009) challenged the positive effect of Au loading on TiO_2 . They obtained the opposite results from the photo-degradation of the different organic chemicals over Au-TiO₂ compared to unmodified TiO2 and stated that the effect of Au nanoparticles on the oxidation of organic substrates may appear controversial, because a) Au deposition may greatly



change the surface property of photocatalyts, causing an intrinsic decrease in photocatalytic activity; b) the photocatalytic oxidation rate over Au-TiO₂ under visible light irradiation depends on the reaction track of chemical substrates during the photocatalysis. Whether the organic substrate preferentially undergoes the direct oxidation by photoproduced holes or by the highly oxidative radical generated through photocatalysis has dramatical difference in photocatalytic efficiency. In this second case, gold nanoparticles on TiO_2 may act as the recombination centers of photogenerated charge carriers.

Noble metals mainly comprised of Pt, Pd, Ag, Au and Ru as a doping metal to TiO_2 have been gained much attention from the researchers. The relative big ion sphere makes them scavenge photogenerated electrons more efficiently. Kafizas et al. (2009) found that Nano Au-TiO₂ and Ag-TiO₂ exhibited significantly higher rates of photocatalysis under visible light irradiation, despite its relatively high band-gap (3.10 eV) that should only be activeated by UV light. They suggested that as no direct correlation between calculated band-gap and photoactivity was seen in the experiment with different wavelength irradiation, a charge separation model was used to describe the mechanism by which this enhanced photoactivity was achieved. However, the mechanism of photoinduced reactions of noble metal doped TiO₂ under visible-light irradiation has not yet been clarified. There was a debate on the influence of the Au particle size on photocatalytic activities. The smaller size of Au particle leads to higher activity (Haruta et al., 1997; Orlov et al., 2004 and 2007). Whereas, an opposite dependence, higher degradation efficiency under visible light irradiation along with large Au particle size has also been reported (Kowalska et al., 2009).



Hou and Liu (2008) compared the photoactivity of the 4 different noble metalmodified TiO₂ films. They found that the order of optimum reaction rate for the degradation of Methyl Oragne (MO) is $k_{Pt}>k_{Pd}>k_{Ag}>k_{Au}$ when noble metal modified TiO₂ films were under visible light irradiation. The reason of higher enhanced photocatalytic efficiency of Pd/TiO₂ films than Ag/TiO₂ films irradiated under visible light must be that Pd/TiO₂ films can use more visible light for catalytic activity than Ag/TiO₂ films. The worst enhanced photocatalytic efficiency of Au/TiO₂ films under both UV and visible light must be associated with its largest particle size. However, Au and Ag doping were also found to have superior photocatalytic activity, as stated above.

Metal doping has an optimal amount in the modified photocatalyst, but the values are different from the different metal ions and different experiment conditions. The photocatalytic activity of metal-doped TiO₂ usually increases with the increase of metal dopant in the photocatalyst at small doping level. However, the photocatalytic activity will decrease with excessive metal doping, which can become recombination center of photo-induced holes and electrons (Li and Li, 2002; Lam et al., 2007; Yi et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2007a; Hou and Liu, 2008; Hou et al., 2009). It was also reported that the metal doped TiO₂ under visible excitation having less redox power at the expense of utilizing low energy photons limits the range of chemical substrates that can be photocatalytically oxidized (Kim et al., 2005).

Not as in non-metal doping, there were few researchers who tried examining the synergy in two or three metal elements codoped TiO_2 . Grandcolas et al. (2008) found that the decoration of platinum by palladium in Pt, Pd codoped TiO_2 could further limit the charge recombinations by involving the palladium mainly in the photogenerated charge



transfer process in CO removal under visible light irradiation. More researches will be needed on the modified TiO_2 with different metal elements co-doping.

Some of the studies showed a promising potential for using metal-doped TiO₂ in degradation of VOCs. Bae et al. (2007) obtained the high oxidation potential of Cr-TiO₂ for CH₃OH degradation to CO₂ under visible light irradiation. Lam et al. (2007) confirmed that the visible-light-driven photocatalytic activity of Cr-TiO₂ by the degradation of formaldehyde gas using single-plate and parallel-plate photoreactor. Sidheswaran and Tavlarides (2008) achieved up to 90 mol% conversion in degradation of toluene gas over Ce-TiO₂ under constant visible light irradiation for the residence time greater than 15 seconds. Kowalska et al. (2009) speculated that upon the excitation of Au-TiO₂ under visible light irradiation, Au particles inject the photogenerated electrons into the conduction band of TiO₂ and thus reduce oxygen adsorbed on the surface of TiO₂. The resultant electron-deficient Au could, then, oxidize 2-propanol. Yu et al. (2009) observed that at the optimum Fe/Ti = 0.5%, the photocatalytic activity of Fe-TiO₂ nanorods exceeded that of Degussa P25 by a factor of more than two times in the photocatalytic oxidation of acetone in air under visible light irradiation.

The disinfection of microbes in the indoor environment using metal-doped TiO₂ was also studied. Hu et al. (2007) observed that over AgI/TiO₂ under visible light irradiation, the concentration of 4.7×10^6 CFU/mL of *E. coli* was completely inactivated within 15 min, while 6.9×10^7 CFU/mL was completely killed at 60 min of irradiation. With the initial concentration increasing, the inactivation rate decreased. However, the initial concentration of 1.2×10^9 CFU/mL was also completely removed at 120 min of irradiation. He et al. (2008a) found that using Fe-doped TiO₂ modified photocatalytic paint, the



sterilization ratio of *E. coli* could exceed more than 99% in less than 4 hours under 400lux-visible light irradiation. Wu et al. (2010) synthesized a Montmorillonite (MMT)supported Ag/TiO₂ composite, which could maintain antibacterial effect in long-term operation. At the initial level of 3.2×10^8 CFU/mL, with Ag/TiO₂/MMT, *E. coli* was almost completely killed after illumination under visible light for approximately 3h, which was much higher than Ag/AgBr/TiO₂ system.

2.6.4. Both Non-metal and Metal Co-doping

Non-metal doping can introduce a new local band in doped TiO₂ which can be excited by visible light photons. While, metal doping can mainly improve the charge separation between electrons and holes. Metallic, non-metallic co-doped TiO₂ under visible light irradiation shows combined effects of both metal and nonmetal doping: not only improve the visible light absorption but also reduce the chance of recombination of photoinduced electron-hole pairs, which is responsible for the higher photocataltic activity. The synergy was found in many studies. Liu et al. (2007b) found that the decomposition of methylene blue (MB) solution under visible light irradiation was higher on Ag/N-TiO₂ than N-TiO₂. The photocatalytic activity of as-prepared Ag/N-TiO₂ was obviously enhanced due to the decreasing recombination of a photoexcited electron-hole pair by Ag. Li et al. (2008) obtained the higher conversion and mineralization of many VOCs over Pt, N-TiO₂ than those over N-TiO₂. The Au, N-TiO₂ samples prepared by Wu et al. (2009b) presented much higher photocatalytic activity than N-TiO₂ under visible light irradiation. However, the superior photocatalytic activity of metallic, non-metallic



co-doped TiO_2 to either metallic or non-metallic doped TiO_2 has not been confirmed, due to the relative small number of researches.

Many kinds of combination of metal and non-metal dopants were studied such as N-TiO₂ with Ag (Liu et al., 2007b), Cu (Morikawa et al., 2006 and 2008); Fe (Ohno, 2006; Ohno et al., 2006; Xing et al., 2009b), Pt (. Morikawa et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2007; Li et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2009), Au (Wu et al., 2009a), V (Higashimoto et al., 2008), Ni (Zhang and Liu, 2008), W (Li et al., 2008b; Shen et al., 2008), Ta (Obata et al., 2007), & Er & La (Ling et al., 2009), S-TiO₂ with Fe (Ohno, 2006; Ohno et al., 2006 and 2008), & La & Y (Gao et al., 2005) and I-TiO₂ with Ce (Song et al., 2008), & La (He et al., 2008b), Some controversial results were also obtained. Zhang and Liu (2008) observed an enhancement of 200% in photoactivity for the decomposition of formaldehyde under visible light for the N-Ni co-doped photocatalyst. However Morikawa et al. (2006) found no improvement of photocatalytic activity over N-TiO₂ by loading Ni.

Different metal ions may have different effects on different organic substrates. Morikawa et al. (2008) compared the visible-light-driven photo-degradation of several kinds of organic compounds over N-doped TiO₂ loaded with Fe, Cu or Pt. Although the loading of Fe, Cu or Pt resulted in similar rates of enhancement of acetaldehyde oxidation, and that Cu and Pt gave the highest rates of acetic acid and toluene oxidation, respectively.

Some of the researches showed a promising potential for using metallic, non-metallic co-doped TiO_2 in degradation of VOCs. Morikawa et al. (2006) found that the photodegradation of acetaldehyde into CO_2 over N-TiO₂ was markedly enhanced by Pt loading under visible light. Ohno (2006) and Ohno et al. (2006) found that the Fe³⁺ adsorbed on



the surfaces of S- or N-TiO₂ photocatalysts were highly efficient in degradation of 2propanol under visible light. Ohno et al. (2008) synthesized rutile S-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts loaded with Fe³⁺, which showed high level of photocatalytic activity in the oxidation of acetaldehyde in gas phase. Morikawa et al. (2008) found that the N-doped TiO₂ loaded with Pt gave high rates of acetaldehyde and toluene oxidation in gas phase. Li et al. (2008a) observed 46% conversion of ethylene over Pt/N-TiO₂ under visible light and the stabilized 100% mineralization after 4h test run. The conversion and mineralization of benzene were 18 and 80%, respectively. The photocatalytic conversions of toluene and ethylbenzene on Pt/N-TiO₂ were 20 and 23%, respectively, accompanied by a similar mineralization of 84%.

The disinfection of microbes using metallic, non-metallic co-doped TiO_2 in the indoor environment was also studied. Hamal et al. (2010) synthesized a photocatalyst based on TiO_2 codoped with Ag, S, and C. This photocatalyst even exhibited very strong antimicrobial properties without light activation against both *E. coli* (log kill > 8) and *Bacillus. subtilis* spores (log kill > 5) for 30 min exposures, compared with TiO₂ (P25).

2.6.5. Oxides, Sulfides, Bromides, and Chlorides Mixing

The bandgap of TiO₂ determines its most absorption of UV light. However, there are many other oxides (Cu₂O (Bessekhouad et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2007; Han et al., 2009), Bi₂O₃ (Bessekhouad et al., 2005), WO₃ (Bosc et al., 2006; Gomez et al., 2006; Georgieva et al., 2007; Keller et al., 2007), Sr₂CeO₄ (Zhong et al. 2007), SrO (Han et al., 2007), ZnO & CdO (Suarez-Parra et al., 2003), CeO₂ (Liu et al., 2005), Cr₂O₃ (Miyazaki et al., 2008), Fe₂O₃ (Liu and Gao, 2006; Nishijima et al., 2007b and 2008; Kuang et al., 2009),



FeO (Mazille et al., 2009a and 2009b), and SnO_x (Maeda and Hirota, 2006)), Sulfides (CdS (Srinivasan et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2008b; Banerjee et al., 2008; Li et al., 2009c) and MoS_2 (Pourabbas and Jamshidi, 2008)), Bromides (AgBr (Hu et al., 2006; Zang and Farnood, 2008)), and Metal chloride complexes (Na₂[PtCl₆], AuCl₃, $RuCl_3$, and $H_2[PtCl_6]$ (Macyk and kisch, 2001; Hashimoto et al., 2009), which can absorb visible light and generate photo-induced holes and electrons. Most of the oxides, sulfides, bromides, and metal chloride complexes (we will call them sensitizers) do not have good property in charge separation between visible-light-induced holes and electrons, though they can utilize visible light photons. In the mixture of those sensitizers and TiO₂, the sensitizers are responsible for the visible light absorption. Coupling with TiO_2 , those sensitizers can transfer the photo-induced electrons to TiO_2 for charge carrier separation, increasing the photocatalytic activity. However, those sensitizers are not very stable during the photocatalysis (Proudfoot, 1997; Wu et al., 2006). If the photogenerated holes cannot induce an oxidation process, the photocorrosion of the sensitizer is thought highly likely to occur (Bessekhouad et al., 2004; Serpone et al., 1995). So, when the organic substrates are hard to be oxidized by the holes or oxidative radicals generated by the holes, the sensitizer will lose its photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation and so will the mixture photocatalyst. This situation occurred when benzamide and 4hydroxybenzoic acid were used as pollutants (Bessekhouad et al., 2005). Also, the mechanism of the mixture photocatalysts is still under study and not clarified. Zhang et al. (2007) observed that TiO_2/Cu_2O composite film needed the assistance of FeSO₄ and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) for the degradation of MB under visible light irradiation. Without the presence of $FeSO_4$ and EDTA, there was no degradation for



methylene blue. They suggested that TiO_2/Cu_2O composite film generated H_2O_2 , and Fenton regent formed with Fe²⁺ and EDTA is responsible for the degradation of MB.

Generally speaking, the photocatalytic efficiency increases with increases of the sensitizer amount. However, either the photocatalytic activity reaches saturation at certain amount of sensitizer (Bessekhouad et al., 2005); or excessively loaded sensitizer can act as recombination centers for electron-hole pairs, decreasing the photocatalytic performance of the mixture photocatalysts (Bosc et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2006; Georgieva et al., 2007). There was a great difference on the ratio of components in Cu_2O/TiO_2 utilized in the degradation of organics. Han et al. (2009) reported that 5 mol% TiO₂ dispersed in Cu_2O displayed higher activity in the degradation of dodecylbenzenesulfonate (DBS) in visible light. Whereas, Bessekhouad et al. (2005) obtained the highest photocatalytic activity at 30 wt.% Cu_2O in Cu_2O/TiO_2 in the degradation of dye Orange II in visible light.

Some innovative thoughts came from the combination of non-metal doping and sensitizer addition. Gao et al. (2006) synthesized the WO₃/N-TiO₂ composite photocatalysts and studied the N doping coupling with WO₃ mixing. WO₃ coupling increases the active nitrogen species, which in turn coordinats with tungsten and disperses on TiO₂ surface to form N-W-O linkages, contributing to visible light responses. Thus, the visible light activity of the composite photocatalysts was enhanced. Nishijima et al. (2007b) found that S-TiO₂ loaded with Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles (1.0 wt%) had the strongest visible light response among the photocatalysts examined (S-doped TiO2 and N-TiO₂ with or without Fe₂O₃ loading). Wang et al. (2006c) observed the stronger visible light absorption of ZrO_2/N -TiO₂ samples compared to N-TiO₂ samples. The addition of



 ZrO_2 restrains undesirable crystal growth, preserving nitrogen species in the composite photocatalyst, which leads to the increase of visible light activity. Li et al. (2009d) found that PdO/N-TiO₂ had an enhanced photocatalytic activity under visible light illumination than nitrogen doped titanium oxide.

Some of the researches showed a promising potential for using the mixture of visible light sensitizers and TiO₂ in degradation of VOCs. Keller et al. (2007) observed that the promotion of TiO₂ with WO₃ strongly increased the toluene removal efficiency compared to the WO₃-free analogues. WO₃/rutile TiO₂ achieved a toluene removal of 98% under visible light irradiation. Zhong et al. (2007) found that the maximum 65% conversion rate of gaseous benzene on TiO₂/Sr₂CeO₄ under visible light irradiation in 4h. Nishijima et al. (2008) also found that Loading of Fe₂O₃ on S-TiO2 nanotube (TNT) remarkably improved the photocatalytic activity of S-doped TNT for oxidation of acetaldehyde under visible light irradiation.

The disinfection of microbes in the indoor environment using the mixture of visible light sensitizers and TiO₂ was also examined. Hu et al. (2006) prepared the catalyst Ag/AgBr/TiO₂ and confirmed the killing of *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) and *E. coli* under visible light irradiation. Wu et al. (2009c) reported that in 30 min of visible light irradiation, the *E. coli* survived $<10^{-7}$ on PdO/N-TiO₂, which was beyond detection limit. Disinfection data indicated that PdO/N-TiO₂ composite photocatalysts had a much better photocatalytic activity than either palladium-doped (PdO/TiO₂) or nitrogen-doped titanium oxide under visible-light illumination.

It is worth to point out SiO_2 which belongs to the oxide, though no absorption of visible light is found on it. Many researchers used SiO_2 as a support material for TiO_2 and



other metal dopants. The presence of a second phase with good adsorptive capabilities (like the SiO_2 support) led to better photocatalytic results. The increased oxidizing potential of the Ti cations are due to the formation of Ti-O-Si bonds (Neatu et al., 2009). The visible light response of TiO₂-SiO₂ is mainly attributed to the metal ions incorporated. TiO₂-SiO₂ is used as a matrix for the metal ions and interacts with those metal ions to improve the photocatalytic activity. There is a significant interaction between the incorporated transition metal ions and titania (Li et al., 2008c). Silica-titania based framework and MCM-41 & MCM-48 molecular sieves (Silica based with the loading of TiO₂) were usually adopted for the metal ion impregnation.

The metal ion Cr was intensively studied with $TiO_2/MCM-41$ or $TiO_2/MCM-48$ for the photocatalytic activity in visible light (Reddy et al., 2002 and 2004; Sun et al., 2006; Marques et al., 2008; Portela et al., 2008). The VOC degradation over those photocatalysts was also obtained. Marques et al. (2008) found that photocatalytic tests using visible light showed that 20% $TiO_2/Cr-MCM-41$ converted 40% of the thiophene in gas phase, whereas TiO_2 (P25) converted only 20%. Rodrigues et al. (2005) synthesized a highly active, titania-loaded, chromium-incorporated MCM-48 visible-light photocatalyst. The high photocatalytic degradation of acetaldehyde was confirmed on this photocatalyst.

The Co–TiO₂–SiO₂ system was also studied (Matsuoka et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2004a and 2004b; Zhang et al., 2005; Li et al., 2008c). It is even better than TiO₂/Co-MCM-41 catalyst (Matsuoka et al., 2003; Li et al., 2008c), Co-MCM-41(Li et al., 2008c), and Co–TiO₂ (Li et al., 2008c). The incorporations of Co into the SiO₂ and TiO₂/SiO₂ aerogels were found active for photodegradation of acetaldehyde under visible light irradiation (Wang et al., 2004a and 2004b).



Some other metal ions were also examined including Pt (doped in TiO_2-SiO_2) (Mohammed et al., 2009), Mn & V (doped in TiO_2-SiO_2) (Neatu et al., 2009), and Ce (doped in $TiO_2/MCM-41$) (Yang et al., 2009).

2.6.6. H_2O_2 Addition

The chemisorptions of H_2O_2 on the surface of TiO₂ can result in the formation of yellow complex "Titanium peroxide" (Boonstra and Mutsaers, 1975). Titanium peroxide complex formed on the TiO₂ surface could extend the photoresponse to the visible region. The excited surface complex injects an electron to the conduction band of TiO₂. The photoexcited electron-hole pairs on the catalyst surface will, then, further initiate the decomposition of H_2O_2 to produce hydroxyl radicals (Yu et al., 1997; Ohno et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001; Sioi et al., 2006; Rao and Chu, 2009). The stronger withdrawing effect of surface complex groups to electrons can increase the charge of Ti surface species, which can stabilize the photoexcited electron-hole pairs and hinder recombination of photogenerated electrons and holes (Tsai and Cheng, 1997; Barraud et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2005). The addition of hydrogen peroxide into the Ag–TiO₂ catalyst improves the photodegradation rate of Reactive Yellow-17 (RY-17) under visible light irradiation. However, quenching of the hydroxyl radicals was observed with high concentration of H_2O_2 , which, therefore, decrease in photodegradation of dyes (Rupa et al., 2007).

The previous research carried on in our lab developed a novel PCO gel with H_2O_2 added to achieve the maximum photocatalytic oxidation of VOCs emitted from the building materials in UV and visible light. More than 60% total VOC emission from tested pressure treated wood and oil based paint were reduced in both UV and visible



light. 35% H₂O₂ was found to be the most effective concentration for the novel PCO gel (James, 2005).

2.6.7. Dye Sensitizing

Under visible light irradiation, the exited dye molecule will inject an electron to the conduction band of TiO₂; meanwhile, the dye is converted to cationic dye radical. The injected electron can reduce surface chemisorbed oxygen molecule to form the oxidizing species that bring about photodegradation. (Dieckmann and Gray, 1996; Qu et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000; Liu and Zhao, 2000; Epling and Lin, 2002; Stylidi et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2006; Li et al., 2008d; Zhang et al., 2008b). The adsorption of the dye onto TiO₂ plays an important role in the photocatalytic activity of the dye sensitized TiO_2 under visible light irradiation. The additives were put into the dye/TiO_2 system to enhance the adsorption of dye onto TiO₂ such as Dodecylbenzene sulfonate surfactant (DBS) (Wu et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000), Cu^{2+} (Mahmood et al., 2009), and Zn^{2+} (Mahmood et al., 2009). Sonication increases the amount of reactive radical species, resulting in faster oxidation of the substrate and degradation of intermediates and also the disaggregation of the photocatalyst. The accelerated sonophotocatalytic degradation of Reactive Red (RR) 198 dye under visible light using dye sensitized TiO₂ activated by ultrasound was confirmed. Further, the photocatalytic activity of RR 198 dye sensitized TiO_2 was demonstrated by the degradation of phenol under visible light and ultrasound (Kaur and Singh, 2007). The drawbacks of the dye/ TiO₂ system were also reported. In most cases of dyes sensitization, dyes are easily escaped from the surface of TiO₂ due to the physical combination of dyes and TiO₂, which would result in the environmental pollution again.



Moreover, most photosensitizer dyes with low molecular weight are unstable under UV or solar light irradiation (Zhu et al., 2007b). The photocatalytic oxidation reaction will cease, when the solution is bleached and the dye sensitizer is degraded. No active oxidative species will be formed and the concentrations of the dye intermediates remain practically stable upon further exposure to visible light irradiation (Stylidi et al., 2004).

It is confirmed that visible-light-induced photocatalytic oxidation takes place on many kinds of organic dyes sensitized TiO₂: dye alizarin red (AR) (Liu et al., 2000), tetraethylated rhodamine (RhB) (Qu et al., 1998; Wu et al., 1998), Reactive Red (RR) 198 (Kaur and Singh, 2007), Chicago Sky Blue 6B and Benzopurpurin 4B (Mohammed and Mckenzie, 2005), crystal violet (CV) (Li et al., 1999; Li et al., 2008d), textile dye X3B (Xu and Langford, 2001), fuchsin basic (FB) (Li et al., 1999), Sulforhodamine B dye (SRB) (Liu and Zhao, 2000; Chen et al., 2002), methylene blue (MB) (Chen et al., 2003), acid orange 7 (AO7) (Stylidi et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004), acid chrome blue K (ACBK) (Mahmood et al., 2009), porphyrin (Li et al., 2008d; Chang et al., 2009), polyaniline (Wang et al., 2006d and 2007c; Feng et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2006; Sun and Xu, 2009), Mn(II)-terpy complexes (Abuabara et al., 2007; McNamara et al., 2008) and Ru(bpy)₃]²⁺ (Bossmann et al., 2001).

Some innovative methods combined dye/TiO₂ system with other technologies to improve the photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation. Bae and Choi (2003) developed a new photocatalyst-Pt/TiO₂/RullL₃, incorporating noble metal doping and dye sensitizer. Platinum nanoparticles on dyesensitized TiO₂ (Pt/TiO₂/RullL₃) drastically enhanced the degradation rate of TCA and CCl₄, which ascribed to the fast electron



trapping in Pt competing with the back electron transfer. Li et al. (2008d) synthesized a photostable 3D-ordered TiO_2 hybrid photocatalyst with the core/shell structure of dye-containing polymer/titania. The nanostructured TiO_2 hybrid photocatalyst exhibited efficient and stable photocatalytic activity for the photodegradation of crystal violet (CV) under visible light irradiation.

2.6.8. Others

There were a few modified TiO_2 systems that could not be sorted into the above five categories, but possessed a potential to be used under visible light irradiation.

The $InVO_4$ -TiO₂ based thin films with Ag (Ge et al., 2006) and Pd (Ge and Xu, 2006) dopings were developed. Metal/InVO₄-TiO₂ exhibited photo activity under visible light irradiation, which can ascribed to the simultaneous effects of doped noble metal by acting as electron traps and InVO₄ as a narrow band gap sensitizer (Ge et al., 2006 and Ge and Xu, 2006).

Rayalu et al. (2007) synthesized a zeolite-based composite photocatalysts with incorporation of Heteropolyacids (HPA), semiconductor TiO_2 and transition metal cobalt on zeolite. HPAs can be used as photocatalysts active in visible light. Zeolite plays the most significant role to provide a high surface area for incorporation of TiO_2 and HPA, and ion exchange properties for incorporation of Co^{2+} . The Co^{2+} ion present not only acts as an electron acceptor for separation of electron-hole pairs, but also acts as a chromophore, which absorbs visible light.

The upconversion luminescence agent can absorb visible light and then emit UV light. When the upconversion luminescence agent is doped into TiO₂, it can transform visible



light which cannot be used by TiO_2 into UV light which can activate the photocatalysis of TiO_2 (Wang et al., 2006f and 2007d; Feng et al., 2008).

2.7. Conclusion

With nearly 4 decades research on the photocatalysis of TiO₂, the mechanism of photocatalytic reaction, the influencing environmental factors, and the application of the photocatalysts were understood well, especially under UV light irradiation. The degradation of VOCs in air and the disinfection of microorganisms are two of the major application of the photocatlaysts. The commercial products in the market and the applications in the real project based on the photocatalytic technology predict a bright future for the photocatalysts. However, compared to some mature technologies, the photocatalysts are still undergoing a development phase. The photocatalytic efficiency and the limitation of using UV light are two big challenges for the photocatalysts.

Entering the 21^{st} century, more and more studies have been under developing the visible-light-driven photocatalysts for extending the use of photocatalysts and improving the photocatalytic efficiency under visible light irradiation. There are generally 6 methods to modify TiO₂, the most widely used photocatalyst, for obtaining the photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation (Table 2.2): a) non-metal doping; b) metal doping; c) both non-metal and metal doping; d) Oxides, Sulfides, Bromides, and Chlorides Mixing; e) H₂O₂ addition; f) dye sensitizing. Many of the visible-light-driven photocatalysts developed exhibited fairly good photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation of the substrate chemicals or the disinfection of



microorganisms in the specific experiments. However, some controversial results were reported. The drawbacks of the visible-light-driven photocatalysts were also stated such as the instability, the reduction of the UV light photocatalytic activity, and the low redox power which is not enough for oxidizing some chemicals. The mechanism of the photocatalysis under visible light irradiation is still not very clear. Many aspects of the visible-light-driven photocatalysts still needs future research such as the mechanism of the visible light photocatalysis, the preparation process of the visible-light-driven photocatalysts, and the substrate chemicals and target microorganisms.

From this review, the modified TiO₂ exhibits the photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation on the degradation of VOCs and the disinfection of microorganisms, which are the main purpose of this research. They have a potential to be applied to the reduction of VOC pollutants and the resistance of mold growth in the indoor environment. Among all the modified TiO₂, Ag doped TiO₂ (Ag ions are inserted into the crystal lattice of TiO₂ in chemical preparation) was found very effective on bacteria, yeast and Bacillus spore control under visible light irradiation (Hu et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2009b; Wu et al., 2010; Hamal et al., 2010) for Ag, itself, possesses a great biocide effect. Besides, H₂O₂ is a powerful disinfectant, which can even kill fungal spores and is widely used in water disinfection and mold/mildew remediation process. By adding Ag or/and H₂O₂, not only can the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ on VOC oxidation under visible light be improved, but also its biocide effects are expected to be enhanced. The modified TiO₂ potentially allows for the mold/mildew resistance and VOC oxidation in the indoor environment under interior lighting.



| Table 2.2 The Modified TiO2 in Degradation of VOCs and Disinfection of Microorganisms under Visible Light Irradiation | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Modifying Method | Mechanism | Modified TiO ₂ | Substrates | Significant Publication | | | | | |
| Withou | Non-metal impurities and oxygen vacancies induce visible light absorption | S-TiO ₂ | 2-propanol | Ohno, 2004; Ohno et al., 2004 | | | | | |
| | | F-TiO ₂ | acetaldehyde | Li et al., 2005a | | | | | |
| Non-metal Doping | | N,S-TiO ₂ | acetone, formaldehyde | Yu et al., 2006 | | | | | |
| | | S-TiO ₂ | acetaldehyde | Nishijima et al., 2007a | | | | | |
| | | N-TiO ₂ | ethyl benzene, o,m,p-xylenes | Jo and kim, 2009 | | | | | |
| | | C-TiO ₂ | toluene | Dong et al., 2009a | | | | | |
| | | N-TiO ₂ | E.coli | Cao et al., 2007; Vacaroiu et al., 2009 | | | | | |
| | | N,S-TiO ₂ | E.coli | Rengifo-Herrera et al., 2009 | | | | | |
| | | Cr-TiO ₂ | Methanol | Bae et al., 2007 | | | | | |
| | | Cr-TiO ₂ | formaldehyde | Lam et al., 2007 | | | | | |
| Metal Doping | Metal impurities induce visible light absorption and improve the seperation of photogenerated electrons and holes | Ce-TiO ₂ | toluene | Sidheswaran and Tavlarides, 2008 | | | | | |
| | | Au-TiO ₂ | 2-propanol | Kowalska et al., 2009 | | | | | |
| | | Fe-TiO ₂ | acetone | Yu et al., 2009 | | | | | |
| | | AgI/TiO ₂ | E. coli | Hu et al., 2007 | | | | | |
| | | Fe-TiO ₂ | E. coli | He et al., 2008a | | | | | |
| | | Ag-TiO ₂ /MMT | E. coli | Wu et al., 2010 | | | | | |
| Metal, Non- metal co-doping | Both benefits from metal and non-metal dopants | Pt,N-TiO ₂ | acetaldehyde | Morikawa et al., 2006 | | | | | |
| | | Fe,S or N-TiO ₂ | 2-propanol | Ohno, 2006; Ohno et al., 2006 | | | | | |
| | | Fe,S-TiO ₂ | acetaldehyde | Ohno et al., 2008 | | | | | |
| | | Pt,N-TiO ₂ | ethylene, benzene, ethylbenzene | Li et al., 2008a | | | | | |
| | | Ag,S,C-TiO ₂ | E. coli | Hamal et al., 2010 | | | | | |
| Oxides, sulfides, bromides, and chlorides mixing | Oxides, sulfides, bromides, and chlorides are used as a sensitizer to absorbe visible light and TiO ₂ acts as an electron scavenger | WO3/TiO2 | toluene | Keller et al., 2007 | | | | | |
| | | Sr ₂ CeO ₄ /TiO ₂ | benzene | Zhong et al., 2007 | | | | | |
| | | Fe ₂ O ₃ /S-TiO ₂ | acetaldehyde | Nishijima et al., 2008 | | | | | |
| | | Ag/AgBr/TiO ₂ | S. aureus, E. coli | Hu et al., 2006 | | | | | |
| | | PdO/N-TiO ₂ | E. coli | Wu et al., 2009c | | | | | |
| H ₂ O ₂ Addition | H ₂ O ₂ forms "Titanium peroxide" on the surface of TiO ₂ for visible light absorption | TIO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | Various VOCs | James, 2005 | | | | | |
| Dye Sensitizing | Dye molecules adsorbed on the surface of TiO ₂ can be activated by visible light | TiO ₂ /Dye | NA | NA | | | | | |



Chapter 3

PRELIMINARY MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH TEST ON TiO₂ AND H₂O₂

3.1. Background

Most of the research on the antimicrobial performance of TiO_2 was conducted on bacteria. There are not many papers regarding its antifungal performance (Sichel et al., 2007). Chen et al. (2009) found that TiO_2 coating could deactivate the fungal spores on wood surface under UV light irradiation, but there is no antifungal effect under visible light irradiation. Also, mold growth can be expected in unlit areas.

 H_2O_2 is widely used for microbial control, and it can kill fungal spores. When TiO₂ particles are used as a photocatalyst with the addition of H_2O_2 , the photocatalytic reaction occurs even under irradiation of visible light (Yu et al., 1997; Ohno et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001; Sioi et al., 2006; Rao and Chu, 2009). It is known that the chemisorptions of H_2O_2 on the surface of TiO₂ can result in the formation of the yellow complex "Titanium peroxide" (Boonstra and Mutsaers, 1975). The titanium peroxide complex formed on the TiO₂ surface could extend the photoresponse to the visible region and can be excited by visible light.

This study was conducted to investigate the possible synergy between TiO_2 and H_2O_2 for mold/mildew resistance, compared to TiO_2 or H_2O_2 alone. The effects of different light sources (no light, UV light, and visible light) and different H_2O_2 concentrations on the mixture of TiO_2 and H_2O_2 were also evaluated.



3.2. Materials and Preparation

The fungal species used in this experiment was *Aspergillus niger*, which is a common mold species in the indoor environment (Codina et al., 2008). The three kinds of test coating samples were H_2O_2 , TiO₂ gel and TiO₂/ H_2O_2 gel:

- a) H_2O_2 with 3% and 35% concentration was chosen in this experiment. The average volume of the H_2O_2 coating coated on the filter papers was 0.2 mg/cm².
- b) The TiO₂ gel was prepared by adding excessive TiO₂ (P25) powders in polyethylene glycol gels (PEG) water solution (the mixing ratio of PEG and H₂O is 1:2 weight ratio) under sonication. The average volume of the TiO₂ coating coated on the filter papers was 3.5 mg/cm^2 .
- c) The TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was prepared by vigorously mixing H₂O₂ (3% and 35%) with TiO₂ gel (the mixing ratio of the TiO₂ gel and H₂O₂ is 3:2 volume ratio). The average volume of the TiO₂/H₂O₂ coating coated on the filter papers was 1.7 mg/cm².

3.3. Experiment

The test procedure was mainly based on ASTM D5590-00-Determining the Resistance of Paint Films and Related Coatings to Fungal Defacement by Accelerated Four-Week Agar Plate Assay. Some modifications of this standard test method were done for the specific need of the experiment.



The fungal spores were purchased and cultured on the Petri dishes with Potato Dextrose Agar. After the full development of mold and maturation of spores, those Petri dishes were placed and stored in a refrigerator at approximately 3 to 10°C. Prior to each experiment, mold was subcultured onto agar plates and incubated until the maturation of spores. These subcultures were then used in preparing a spore suspension (SS).

The preparation of spore suspension began with a sterile 10-mL portion of water pipetted into one subculture with a sterile Pasteur pipette. After swirling and gently agitating the subculture plate to loosen the spores, the spore suspension was collected and carefully aspirated. The collected spore suspension was checked under the microscope for mycelial contamination, and a note of the relative populations of spores versus mycelial forms was made. Then, the spore suspension was diluted with sterile water so that the resultant spore suspension contained 0.8 to 1.2 by 10⁴ spores/mL as determined with a counting chamber.

The three kinds of coating samples to be tested were applied to glass fiber filter paper disks (Glass fiber, Grade 391, 9 cm supplied by VWR) by dipping the filter papers into coating samples for 2 min. The loadings of H_2O_2 , TiO₂ gel and TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel samples on the filter paper were approximately 0.4 mg/cm², 1.7 mg/cm², and 3.5 mg/cm², respectively. Then, the sample disks were suspended on drying racks and allowed to air dry for 48 hours at room temperature.

At the beginning of each experiment, these filter paper disks were placed onto agar plates. Next, a thin coat of spore suspension (0.5 mL) was applied to each specimen using a sterile pipette. The sterile plastic rods were used to evenly spread the inoculum over the surface of each test sample. The spore suspension (0.5 mL) was periodically reapplied to



the specimen every two days (it may take two days to show the trace of mold/mildew growth under the experiment condition) to investigate periodically antifungal effect of coating samples. All the plates were incubated at 28 °C and >90 % relative humidity for 4 weeks or until full coverage of mold growth on plate surface. Different kinds of lamps (UV light or visible light) were hung over the tested agar plates in case certain light irradiation was needed for the test. The general experiment setting is illustrated in Fig. 3.1.



Figure 3.1 Mold/mildew resistance experiment setting.

The mold growth experiment on the 3 kinds of prepared coating samples was conducted in three major conditions:

- a) Without light,
- b) With UV light irradiation (at 365 nm average 0.5 mw/cm²),



c) With visible light irradiation (average 1500 lux).

The responses of the coating samples to the different light sources were investigated. Each test had two negative controls, two positive controls and three test groups: filter papers coated with H_2O_2 alone, filter papers coated with the TiO₂ gel alone, and filter papers coated with the TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel. Each test group was repeated at least three times. Each time the spore suspension was reapplied, a positive control was added. The mold growth was rated every day during the four-week experiment.

After the exposure of UV or visible light irradiation, the inoculated Petri dishes with no mold growth were, then, be put without light. If there is mold growth during one-week dark treatment, the previously inoculated fungal spores are just inactivated by the photocatalytic process. If no mold growth showing, the fungal spores are killed (Chen et al., 2009).

3.4. Results and Discussion

3.4.1. Mold Growth without Light.

Without light, it took two days for mold to fully cover all the surface of the Petri dish. The coating samples with TiO_2 or H_2O_2 alone (both 3% and 35% concentration) did not show the resistant effect on mold growth. Without light, TiO_2 as a photocatalyst cannot be exited, generating highly oxidative radicals which are believed to destroy microorganisms. H_2O_2 alone is too unstable to adhere to the filter paper, and it evaporates and decomposes very fast. However, with $TiO_2/35\%$ H_2O_2 samples, the mold growth was not observed in the first four days. In other words, the mold growth started after the third



inoculation of mold spore suspension. TiO_2 with a porous surface can adsorb and stabilize H_2O_2 by forming "Titanium peroxide" (Boonstra and Mutsaers, 1975). So, the H_2O_2 can prevent the mold growth in the first four days. However, with time passing, $TiO_2/35\%$ H_2O_2 samples seemed lose their effect on prevention of mold growth, which were seen from the start of mold growth after the third inoculation. During this period, H_2O_2 is gradually used up in the destruction of mold spores and some also evaporates. After four days, the H_2O_2 left is not enough to prevent the mold growth. In addition, there was no mold resistance found in $TiO_2/3\%$ H_2O_2 samples, probably due to low oxidative power with low concentration of H_2O_2 (concentration would be even lower when mixing with TiO_2 gel).

Another test was performed to investigate if $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ samples delayed the growth of spores from the first two inoculations, or if they kill them but lose their effect on the third inoculation. The third inoculation was not conducted on some of Petri dishes that had no mold growth after two inoculations. No mold growth was, then, found on those Petri dishes for four weeks. Therefore, spores from the first two inoculations were killed by $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ samples because of the strong oxidative power of 35% H₂O₂.

3.4.2. Mold Growth under UV Light.

Under UV light irradiation at 365 nm peak, the time that took for mold to fully cover all the surface of the Petri dish remained similar to that without light. UV light irradiation at 365 nm peak has little effect on mold growth. The only difference was that under UV light, mold developed spores later than without light. H_2O_2 samples (both 3% and 35% concentration) still showed little delay effect on mold growth. However, both TiO₂ and



52

TiO₂/H₂O₂ (both 3% H₂O₂ and 35% H₂O₂) samples completely inhibited the mold growth under UV light irradiation for four weeks, even though the Petri dishes were periodically applied with mold spores every two days. The H₂O₂ and highly oxidative radicals produced by TiO₂ with UV light activation are considered to be responsible for the prevention of mold growth (Fujishima and Honda, 1972; Kikuchi et al., 1997; Cho et al., 2004). The damage of the membrane structure and membrane functions by highly oxidative radicals is the root cause of cell death when photocatalytic TiO₂ particles are outside the cell (Maness et al, 1999). The oxidative radicals can be produced continually on the surface of TiO₂ particles under UV light irradiation. So, the TiO₂ and TiO₂/H₂O₂ samples showed the long-term prevention of mold growth.

As Chen et al. (2009)'s study, the Petri dishes without any mold growth after four weeks incubation were placed in darkness. The mold growth was checked every day during one-week dark treatment. Unlike Chen et al. (2009)'s result, there was no mold growth found on any TiO₂ or TiO₂/H₂O₂ samples after the one-week dark treatment. Based on this result, the mold spores in our experiment were killed, not just deactivated, with TiO₂ or TiO₂/H₂O₂ samples under UV light irradiation. There are two possible reasons for the controversial results:

- a) The concentration of spore suspension used in Chen et al. (2009)'s experiment was 100 times larger than that in our experiment. It might be hard to completely kill all the spores, some of which might already germinate and just be suppressed by the photocatalysis.
- b) Not as Chen et al. (2009) only used the TiO_2 water suspension for coating the wood, PEG, as a matrix for the TiO_2 gel, was added. The large pore size resulted



from PEG improves the contact between substrates and photocatalysts, enhancing the photocatalytic efficiency (Guo et al., 2004). The possible promotion effect of PEG may cause the difference of these results.

3.4.3. Mold Growth under Visible Light.

Under visible light irradiation, the normal mold growth rate was the same as that without light. Visible light at 1500 lux has no effect on mold growth. H_2O_2 (both 3% and 35% concentration) and TiO₂ samples also did not show any delay effect on mold growth. So, visible light does not improve the unstable property of H_2O_2 ; either, TiO₂ cannot be activated by visible light. However, with $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ samples, the mold growth was observed to start on the seventh or eighth day from the first inoculation. In other words, it prevented mold growth from the first three inoculations. The longer period of mold prevention under visible light irradiation than that without light on TiO₂/35% H₂O₂ samples is considered to be attributed to the titanium peroxide complex produced by the chemisorptions of H_2O_2 on the surface of TiO₂, which responds to visible light (Yu et al., 1997; Ohno et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001; Sioi et al., 2006; Rao and Chu, 2009). In this way, like the photocatalytic reaction of TiO₂ under UV light, TiO₂/35% H₂O₂ samples can continually produce H_2O_2 and highly oxidative radicals under visible light, which is toxic to mold spores. However, H₂O₂ will also decompose gradually into hydroxyl radicals during the photocatalytic process (Li et al., 2001). Even though more H_2O_2 and oxidative radicals were produced on TiO₂/35% H_2O_2 samples, which could last for more days under visible light, the samples still lost the effect after six or seven days and after the forth inoculation with the loss of titanium peroxide complex. There was also no mold



resistance found in $TiO_2/3\%$ H₂O₂ samples under visible light, which suggests that less formation of titanium peroxide complex due to lower concentration of H₂O₂ leads to little photocatalytic efficiency in visible light.

The same dark treatment was performed on $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ samples before the forth inoculation when there was no mold growth. Still, no mold growth was observed after the one-week dark treatment, which indicated that mold spores from the first three inoculations were killed by $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ samples under visible light. The addition of H₂O₂ not only activates TiO_2 under visible light irradiation, but also increases the photocatalytic efficiency for killing the fungal spores.

The detailed result is contained in Table 3.1, and photo result is illustrated in Fig. 3.2.

3.5. Conclusion

Under UV light irradiation, it was observed that TiO_2 and $TiO_2/(3\%$ and 35%) H₂O₂ could both completely prevent mold/mildew growth during the experiment period (four weeks). Without light, $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ showed some delay effect on mold growth. Under visible light irradiation, $TiO_2/35\%$ H₂O₂ inhibited mold growth for longer time than that without light because of the visible light activity. 3% H₂O₂ had little effect on improving photocatalytic efficiency of TiO₂ under either visible light or without light. In addition, TiO_2/H_2O_2 samples were found to kill mold spores without light, under UV light.

The mold/mildew resistance of TiO_2 under UV light was verified by the periodical exposure of fungal spores. TiO_2 with UV light would be an effective way to prevent



mold/mildew growth. This study showed that the modified TiO_2 might be a promising material in resisting indoor mold/mildew growth under interior lighting. The delay effect on mold growth found with TiO_2/H_2O_2 without light or under visible light irradiation may contribute to the mold/mildew resistance in the indoor environment when the conventional methods for mold/mildew resistance temporarily fail such as the situations during a power failure, flood, or hurricane. Even though it was found that TiO_2/H_2O_2 has longer mold resistant time in visible light than expected, H_2O_2 is so unstable and may decompose quickly in the indoor environment. H_2O_2 may need to be periodically sprayed on the surface of the coating material for maintaining the photocatalytic activity under visible light (cleaning the surfaces every few days with H_2O_2). Further research is required to find a way to stabilize H_2O_2 in the coating material, or more stable substitutes for H_2O_2 need to be explored. The gel made in this research should be applied as a coating material on any surfaces in the indoor environment. Modification of the gel is necessary for the real application.



| Table 3.1 Mold Growth Test Results for TiO ₂ and H ₂ O ₂ | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------|-----------------|--------|--------|--------|--------|---------|--|--|
| Samples | Light Sources | Incubation Time | | | | | | | |
| | | 2 days | 4 days | 5 days | 6 days | 7 days | 28 days | | |
| Blank | Without Light | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| H ₂ O ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| (3% and 35%) | | | | | | | | | |
| TiO ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| TiO ₂ /3% H ₂ O ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| TiO ₂ /35% H ₂ O ₂ | | | | * | * | * | * | | |
| Blank | UV Light | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| H ₂ O ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| (3% and 35%) | | | | | | | | | |
| TiO ₂ | | | | | | | | | |
| TiO ₂ /3% H ₂ O ₂ | | | | | | | | | |
| TiO ₂ /35% H ₂ O ₂ | | | | | | | | | |
| Blank | Visible Light | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| H ₂ O ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| (3% and 35%) | | | | | | | | | |
| TiO ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| TiO ₂ /3% H ₂ O ₂ | | * | * | * | * | * | * | | |
| TiO ₂ /35% H ₂ O ₂ | | | | | | * | * | | |

*Showing Mold Growth


No Coating

TiO₂/35% H₂O₂ Visible Light

TiO2 UV Light



Figure 3.2 The picture result of mold growth test on TiO₂ and H₂O₂ at different incubation time

Chapter 4

MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH TEST ON PCO GELS

4.1. Background

A previous study performed in the Building Environmental System Laboratory (BESL) at the University of Miami developed a novel PCO gel for reducing VOC emission from building materials under UV or visible light irradiation (Fig. 4.1). This PCO gel is composed of polyethylene glycol gel (PEG) matrix (framework), semiconductor nanoparticles (TiO₂), a light sensitizing catalyst, and a supplemental oxide (H₂O₂). The excellent efficiency of VOC removal by this novel PCO gel was verified (James, 2005). However, the microbiological resistant property of the PCO gel has not been examined. Based on the preliminary result of mold growth experiment on TiO₂ with H₂O₂, it is promising that the modified TiO₂ has potential to be a mold/mildew resistant coating material.





Figure 4.1 The PCO gel and the prevention of pollution (James, 2005).

In this research, the formulation of the previously developed PCO gel was changed. Due to the high cost and toxicity of fluorocarbon used as a visible light sensitizer in the previous PCO gel, Ag was doped into TiO_2 (developed by Lifeline Technologies, India), instead, to increase the visible light photoactivity and the microbiological resistance. H₂O₂ was also mixed in PCO gels to check the synergy between Ag doping and H₂O₂ on mold/mildew resistance. The Ag only sample was not developed, because the main purpose of this research is not to evaluate Ag as a biocide.

Furthermore, Eco-paint samples (also developed by Lifeline Technologies, India) added with TiO_2 or Ag- TiO_2 with or without H_2O_2 were also tested for mold/mildew resistance. Compared to the PCO gel, the paint with additives may be more practical for real application.



4.2. Materials and Preparation

The fungal species used in the experiment was still *Aspergillus niger*. The three kinds of tested gel samples were TiO_2 gel, Ag- TiO_2 gel & Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel, and the three kinds of tested paint samples were TiO_2 paint, Ag- TiO_2 paint & Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 paint. These samples were prepared in the following methods:

- a) The TiO₂ gel was prepared by adding different amounts of TiO₂ (P25) powder in polyethylene glycol gel (PEG) water solution (the mixing ratio of PEG and H₂O is 1:2 weight ratio) under sonication. The average volume of the TiO₂ coating coated on the filter papers was 3.5 mg/cm².
- b) The Ag-TiO₂ gel was prepared by adding different amounts of Ag-TiO₂ paste in polyethylene glycol gel (PEG) water solution (the mixing ratio of PEG and H₂O is 1:2 weight ratio) under sonication. The average volume of the Ag-TiO₂ coating coated on the filter papers was 4.5 mg/cm².
- c) The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was prepared by vigorously mixing H₂O₂ (35%) with the Ag-TiO₂ gel at different ratios. The average volume of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ coating coated on the filter papers was 2.6 mg/cm².
- d) The TiO₂ paint was prepared by adding TiO₂ (P25) powder into Eco-paints (with biocide or without biocide) at certain percentage and then vigorously mixed. The average volume of the TiO₂ paint coating coated on the filter papers was 9.6 mg/cm².
- e) The Ag-TiO₂ paint was prepared by adding Ag-TiO₂ paste into Eco-paints (with biocide or without biocide) at certain percentage and then vigorously mixed. The



average volume of the Ag-TiO₂ paint coating coated on the filter papers was 10.3 mg/cm^2 .

f) The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ paint was prepared by vigorously mixing H₂O₂ (35%) with Ag-TiO₂ paint at certain ratios. The average volume of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ paint coating coated on the filter papers was 6.1 mg/cm^2 .

4.3. Experiment

The mold/mildew resistance experiment followed a similar procedure based on ASTM D5590-00 as the preliminary mold/mildew growth test. The paint samples were brushed on the filter papers instead of dipping the filter paper into the paint.

The mold growth experiment on the prepared coating samples, and paint samples were also conducted in three major conditions:

- a) Without light,
- b) With UV light irradiation,
- c) With visible light irradiation.

The whole experiment was divided into two major stages. In the first stage, all different kinds of samples made by different materials and combinations were screened to find the best materials and combinations for mold/mildew resistance, respectively, in these three major conditions: without light, with UV light irradiation (at 365nm average 0.5 mw/cm²), and with visible light irradiation (average 1500 lux). In the second stage, some factors,



which can influence the mold/mildew resistance of the best samples such as the loading percentage of photocatalysts, the H_2O_2 mixing ratio, the light intensity, and the light exposure time, were analyzed on the best materials and combinations found in the first stage.

4.4. The First Stage Result and Discussion

4.4.1. The First Stage Specification

The same amount of TiO₂ and Ag-TiO₂ was, respectively, added into the PCO gels for TiO₂ gel and Ag-TiO₂ gel samples (1g TiO₂ or Ag-TiO₂ was added into 25g PEG and 50g water). For Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel samples, the volume ratio of Ag-TiO₂ gel to H₂O₂ was fixed at 3:2. In the paint samples, the same amount of TiO₂ and Ag-TiO₂ was, respectively, added into the Eco-paint for TiO₂ paint and Ag-TiO₂ paint samples (1g TiO₂ or Ag-TiO₂ was added into 100g Eco-paint). For Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ paint samples, the volume ratio of Ag-TiO₂ paint to H₂O₂ was fixed at 6:1, which is the minimum ratio that does not affect the appearance of the paint application. All of those prepared samples were subjected to the mold growth test without light, under UV light, and under visible light, respectively.

4.4.2. Paint Samples

The paint sample result will be first presented and discussed, because of its irregularity. All the paint samples made from the paint with biocide showed no mold growth for 28 days (the whole period of the mold growth experiment), no matter what



kind of photocatalytic additives (TiO₂, Ag-TiO₂, or Ag-TiO₂/ H_2O_2) were put into the paint samples. The biocide completely disguised the effect of the photocatalytic additives on mold/mildew resistance that was of most interest.

Furthermore, the result obtained from the paint samples without biocide appeared inconsistent with the repeated experiments. In the condition of no light or visible light, a few test agar plates with paint samples, with or without photocatalytic additives and regardless of additive types, showed the first sign of mold growth after 12 days; whereas, most of others showed the mold growth after 15 days. For example, in the first set of experiment under visible light irradiation, one of the agar plates with the TiO₂ paint first exhibited the sign of mold on the 13^{th} day. Another agar plate with the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ paint displayed the mold growth on the 14th day. Others gradually developed the mold growth after 15 days. However, in the second set of experiment under visible light irradiation, one of agar plates with the Ag-TiO₂ paint was the first one showing the mold growth on the 14th day. All of others developed the mold growth after 15 days. In those two sets of experiments with paint samples, no regulation or conclusion related to the photocatalytic additives could be obtained from the results, because the result did not depend on what photocatalytic additives were added in the paint. Even without any photocatalytic additives or biocides, the paint-only samples exhibited a long delay of mold growth. Here, the paint barrier effect for mold growth seemed to take the most credit for influencing the mold growth on the paint samples. The eco-paint does not contain much organic substance, resulting in an unfavorable habitat for mold growth (D'Orazio et al., 2009). The variation of the paint thicknesses on the filter papers was relatively small, but the application of the paint on the filter papers might not be



completely homogeneous, leaving thin paint spots on the surface that might provide the very habitat for mold growth. As observed in the experiment, the mold growth on the paint samples always started with some spots on the surface of the plates. Generally, the paint samples without photocatalytic additives (the mold growth mostly started after 19 days) seemed to have a longer inhibition period than the paint samples with photocatalytic additives (the mold growth mostly started after 15 days) under visible light irradiation and without light. Similar result was found by Chen et al. (2009) when they used paint with TiO₂ coating under visible light or natural light for testing the mold growth on the paint. They observed more serious mold growth on the paint sample with TiO₂ coating than the paint-only samples. Chen et al. (2009) speculated that water adsorbed on the surface of TiO₂ due to its hydrophilicity would facilitate the mold growth if the photocatalyst cannot produce enough H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals to interfere with the mold growth process. Conservatively, the similar conclusion cannot be made from the result of our experiment for two reasons:

- a) The substrate used in our experiment was Potato Dextrose Agar, which contains abundant water. Instead, Chen et al. (2009) used wood which is not comparable to the agar even soaked with water. So, the hydrophilicity of TiO₂ may not be so important in our experiment.
- b) The paint barrier effect for mold growth could not be eliminated from the experiment. The mold inhibition period for the paint-only samples varied from sample to sample. It is hard to find the exact mold inhibition period attributed to the paint barrier effect. So, the different results between the paint samples with



and without photocatalytic additives may be caused by the variance of paint barrier effect with different samples, not by the photocatalytic additives.

Under UV light irradiation, all the paint samples with TiO_2 (P25) showed no mold growth for 28 days. However, the result from other samples exhibited the similar irregularity as with visible light or without light. Some of them developed mold within 28 days; others did not show any mold sign for 28 days. In general, under UV light irradiation, the resistance of all the paint samples for mold growth seemed better than that under visible light irradiation or without light. It is not safe to make any conclusion due to the paint barrier effect. It is only recommended that TiO_2 (P25) may be the effective additive for the paint to resist mold/mildew growth under UV light irradiation.

The irregularity results from the paint samples indicate strong interfere from other factors than the photocatalytic additives such as the biocide, the paint barrier effect, and the heterogeneous application of paint samples on the filter papers. Therefore, the result obtained from the paint samples can not be used to examine the mold/mildew resistant effect of the photocatalytic additives, even though it is a practical way for the application of the photocatalysts with paint.

4.4.3. Gel Samples

Much more consistency and regularity was observed on the result of the gel samples. Some of the gel samples tested in the preliminary mold experiment were retested. The loading of the photocatalytic additives and the mixing ratio of H_2O_2 were kept consistent in those samples too (the TiO₂ gel prepared using 1 g TiO₂ was mixed with 35% H_2O_2 at 3:2 volume ratio of the TiO₂ gel to H_2O_2). The summary of the result is shown in Table



4.1. The repeated experiments had at most 1 or 2 days difference. The shortest time with the first sign of mold growth is chosen for conservativeness.

| Table 4.1 The First Stage Mold Experiment Result for the Gel Samples | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------|---------------------------------------------------------------|
| Gel Samples | Light Source | The Shortest Time with the First Sign of Mold Growth (Day) |
| Blank | | 2 |
| H ₂ O ₂ | | 2 |
| TiO ₂ | with out Light | 2 |
| TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | without Light | 5 |
| Ag-TiO ₂ | | 5 |
| Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | | 11 |
| Blank | | 2 |
| H_2O_2 | | 2 |
| TiO ₂ | UV Light | Complete Mold Inhibition |
| TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | UV Light | Complete Mold Inhibition |
| Ag-TiO ₂ | | 3 |
| Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | | 7 |
| Blank | | 2 |
| H ₂ O ₂ | | 2 |
| TiO ₂ | Visible Light | 2 |
| TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | v isioie Light | 7 |
| Ag-TiO ₂ | | 3 |
| Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | | 9 |

4.4.3.1. Without Light

Without Light, the Ag-TiO₂ gel exhibited the similar mold resistance as the TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel. Ag ions were considered to be the cause of the delay of the mold growth, which could interfere with the metabolisms by combining with thiol groups (Morato et al., 2003). However, Ag ions in the Ag-TiO₂ gel were not enough to have complete prevention of mold growth; also, the main purpose of the research was not to use Ag as a biocide. When combining the Ag-TiO₂ with H₂O₂, the mold inhibition period was the



longest (11 days) among all the gel samples in the condition of no light. Besides the individual mold resistant effects of Ag ions and the adsorbed H_2O_2 , the Fenton-type reaction can take place between metal and H_2O_2 to produce OH* (Fujihira et al., 1981; Sclafani et al., 1992) which is a stronger oxidizer and more toxic to the fungal spores than H_2O_2 (Eq. 4.1).

$$Ag + H_2O_2 + H^+ \rightarrow Ag^+ + OH^* + H_2O$$
4.1

Therefore, as the most effective sample without light, the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel would be taken into the second stage of the mold experiment.

Some of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel samples without light were not inoculated with spores after 9 days of the mold experiment for checking whether the previously inoculated spores were killed or deactivated. No mold growth was observed for the following 19 days of the mold experiment, which confirmed the killing effect of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel on the mold spores, the same effect found in the preliminary mold experiment for TiO₂/H₂O₂ without light. The killing effect on the spores was also found in the Ag-TiO₂ gel.

4.4.3.2. UV Light

Under UV light irradiation, TiO₂ with or without H₂O₂ could completely prevent the mold growth for 28 days. It confirmed the result obtained from the preliminary mold experiment. Because of the continuous production of highly oxidative radicals, TiO₂ (P25) is very effective for the prevention of mold/mildew growth under UV light irradiation. However, Ag-TiO₂ did not show good photocatalytic activity under UV light irradiation. The decrease of the photocatalytic activity of the visible-light-driven photocatalysts was



reported by Yates et al. (2006) and Balcerski et al. (2007). Even, the result of Ag-TiO₂ without light was better than that under UV light irradiation. The possible reason would be the chemical change of Ag-TiO₂ under UV light irradiation, leading to the reduction of the photocatalytic activity of Ag-TiO₂ and even worsening the discharge of Ag ions. The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel showed the same deterioration under UV light irradiation compared to the result obtained from the condition of no light. The color of the samples with Ag-TiO₂ or Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ was changed from white (after preparation) to brown (after 2 days UV light irradiation), which indicates the instability of Ag-TiO₂ under UV light irradiation (Fig. 4.2). Therefore, TiO₂ (P25) would be taken into the second stage of the mold experiment under UV light irradiation.



Figure 4.2 The color change of Ag-TiO₂ after UV light irradiation or visible light irradiation: (a) before light irradiation; (b) after light irradiation.

The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel samples under UV light irradiation was placed into the dark after 5 days of the mold experiment for checking whether the previously inoculated spores were killed or deactivated. No mold growth was observed during the one-week



dark test, confirming the killing effect of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel on the mold spores, the same effect found in the preliminary mold experiment for TiO_2 or TiO_2/H_2O_2 . No dark test was performed on the Ag-TiO₂ gel samples due to the shortness of its mold inhibition period under UV light irradiation.

4.4.3.3. Visible Light

Under visible light irradiation, TiO_2 (P25) showed no photocatalytic activity as expected. Though the result of the Ag-TiO₂ gel (2 days mold inhibition period) was better than that of the TiO₂ gel and the result of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel (8 days) was better than that of the TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel (6 days), both the results of the Ag- TiO_2 and Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel under visible light irradiation were worse than that without light. Whereas, the TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel showed a better result under visible light irradiation than that without light. With the addition of H₂O₂, TiO₂ develops the photocatalytic activity under visible light irradiation, resulting in a longer mold inhibition period than that without light. However, both Ag- TiO_2 and Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 exhibited worse mold resistance under visible light irradiation than that without light. Visible light deteriorates the mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂, instead of activating it as the visible-light-driven photocatalyst as observed on the TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel. The same deterioration effect of Ag-TiO_2 found under UV light was also found under visible light with the same color change of Ag-TiO₂ from white to brown (Fig. 4.2). Even though the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was found to be the most effective sample under visible light irradiation with an 8-day mold inhibition period, the mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ was worsened under visible light irradiation by comparing the result of the Ag-TiO₂/ H_2O_2 gel obtained in the condition of no light. The deterioration



of Ag-TiO₂ under visible light irradiation is considered to be the major reason. Therefore, in the second stage of the mold experiment, no experiment would be performed on any samples under visible light irradiation. More stable visible-light-driven photocatalysts would be needed for future research.



The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel samples under visible light irradiation also underwent the oneweek dark test after 7 days of the mold experiment. It was confirmed that the previously inoculated mold spores were killed by the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel under visible light irradiation. No dark test was performed on the Ag-TiO₂ gel samples due to the shortness of its mold inhibition period under visible light irradiation.

4.5. The Second Stage Result and Discussion

4.5.1. The Second Stage Specification

The paint samples were not suitable for the research on the effect of the photocatalytic additives. So, no paint samples participated in the second stage. Even though the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel showed the best mold/mildew resistance among all of the gel samples, the delay effect on the mold growth over the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was even worse under visible light irradiation than that without light. From the visible light experiment result, the visible light photo-activity of Ag-TiO₂ on mold/mildew resistance was deteriorated under visible light irradiation, which unqualified it for the second stage experiment. Therefore, no samples would be subjected to the factory analysis under visible light irradiation in the second stage. Due to the instability of the visible light photocatalyst (Ag-TiO₂) under visible light irradiation in the mold growth test condition, more stable Ag-TiO₂ or other visible-light-driven photocatalysts are needed in future mold/mildew resistance research. The second stage experiment was only performed in the condition of no light or UV light.



4.5.2.1. Result

Without light, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel had the longest delay time for mold growth. Two factors were analyzed for Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels: the loading of Ag-TiO₂ in the gel and the ratio of H₂O₂ to the Ag-TiO₂ gel. The Ag/TiO₂ gel was prepared by adding 0.125g, 0.5g, 1g, and 2g Ag-TiO₂, respectively into 25g PEG and 50g water. Then, the prepared Ag/TiO₂ gel was mixed with 35% H₂O₂ at different volume ratios of H₂O₂ to the Ag-TiO₂ gel: 1:12, 1:3, 2:3, and 1:1. The total 16 kinds of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels were developed. The first sign of mold growth on those samples was recorded. The mold growth test result without light is shown in Table 4.2.

| Table 4.2 The Mold Growth Result on Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ without Light | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|
| The Weight of Ag-TiO ₂ Added in the PCO Gel (g) | The Ratio of H ₂ O ₂ to Ag-TiO ₂ Gel in the PCO Gel (Volume Ratio) | Average Time with the First Sign of Mold Growth (days) | | |
| | 1:12 | 4 | | |
| 0.125 | 1:3 | 4 | | |
| 0.125 | 2:3 | 3 | | |
| | Did Growth Result on Ag-TiO ₂ /Hg The Ratio of H ₂ O ₂ to Ag-TiO ₂ Gel in the PCO Gel (Volume Ratio) 1:12 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:1 1:12 1:12 1:13 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:13 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:13 | 2.3 | | |
| | 1:12 | 5.7 | | |
| 0.5 | 1:3 | 6 | | |
| 0.5 | 2:3 | 5.3 | | |
| | Id Growth Result on Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ The Ratio of H ₂ O ₂ to Ag-TiO ₂ Gel in the PCO Gel (Volume Ratio) 1:12 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:2 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:2 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:12 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:2 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:2 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:2 1:3 2:3 1:1 1:2 1:3 2:3 1:1 | 4 | | |
| | 1:12 | 7.7 | | |
| 1 | 1:3 | 9.7 | | |
| 1 | 2:3 | 10.3 | | |
| | 1:1 | 9.7 | | |
| | 1:12 | 11.7 | | |
| 2 | 1:3 | 11.3 | | |
| 2 | 2:3 | 13 | | |
| | 1.1 | 13.3 | | |



Combining this result with the result of only Ag-TiO₂ and only H_2O_2 , the significance was obtained for Ag-TiO₂, H_2O_2 and interaction between them from a two-way ANOVA test (Table 4.3).

| Table 4.3 Two-Way ANOVA Test on the Mold Growth Result without Light | | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------|----|-------------|-------------|-------------|-----------------------|
| Source | df | SS | MS | F | Significance (P=0.05) |
| TiO ₂ | 4 | 833.2533333 | 208.3133333 | 679.2826087 | 6.3882 |
| H_2O_2 | 4 | 109.7866667 | 27.44666667 | 89.5 | |
| Interaction | 16 | 111.0133333 | 6.938333333 | 22.625 | |
| Within Error | 50 | 15.33333333 | 0.306666667 | | |
| Total Error | 74 | 1069.386667 | | | |





Figure 4.4 The effect of Ag-TiO₂ in the Ag-TiO₂/ H_2O_2 gel sample on mold/mildew resistance without light.



From the ANOVA test, Ag-TiO₂ is the most important influencing factors for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel. With the increase of the amount of Ag-TiO₂ added in the preparation process, the mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ enhanced dramatically, no matter at what H₂O₂ level (Fig. 4.4). More Ag-TiO₂ generally means more Ag ions present, which act as biocide for resisting mold growth. Furthermore, with the addition of H_2O_2 , more Ag-TiO₂ means more H₂O₂ adsorption on the surface of Ag-TiO₂, which can be preserved after the drying period of the filter papers and is effective to prevent the sporulation. In all the tested Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels, the delay effect of mold growth rose approximately linearly with the increase of Ag-TiO₂ at any tested levels of H_2O_2 . However, without H_2O_2 , the delay effect of mold growth on Ag-TiO₂ alone quickly reached the stable with the increase of Ag-TiO₂ addition to the gel. Also, the relatively low delay effect was observed with the Ag-TiO₂ only gels compared to the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels. No addition of H₂O₂ would greatly reduce the mold/mildew resistance. In general, the promotion effect on Ag-TiO₂ from H_2O_2 was confirmed from the logistical increase to the linear increase of the mold/mildew resistance with the increase of Ag-TiO₂. This promotion effect can be attributed from the antifungal property of H_2O_2 itself and the Fenton-type reaction between Ag and H₂O₂. Expectedly, the mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels will intensify with the further increase of Ag-TiO₂ in the gel. Then, it will either reach the constant because of the saturation of the promotion effect or drop because of the relative lack of H_2O_2 . Besides, the PEG used in the preparation of the gel samples has its maximum holding capability for Ag-TiO₂. 2 g Ag-TiO₂ seemed to nearly reach the maximum holding capability of the PEG with a small amount of precipitation. The improvement of the preparation method for the gel samples



would be needed to further increase the mold/mildew resistance of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels.



4.5.2.3. The Effect of H_2O_2

Figure 4.5 The effect of H_2O_2 and the interaction between Ag-TiO₂ & H_2O_2 in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel sample on mold/mildew resistance without light.

 H_2O_2 has less effect on mold/mildew resistance than Ag-TiO₂ in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel. A large difference of the mold/mildew resistance is observed between the different levels of Ag-TiO₂, illustrated in Fig. 4.5. Within the same level of Ag-TiO₂, the influence of H_2O_2 on the mold/mildew resistance of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel is relatively small



compared to the big difference found with Ag-TiO₂. H₂O₂, itself, can kill fungal spores, which easily results in an incorrect expectation that the more H₂O₂, the higher mold/mildew resistance of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel in our case. If the antifungal effect of Ag ions is excluded, the mold/mildew resistance of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel mainly depends on the adsorbed H₂O₂, which can be preserved through the drying period of filter papers (most of unadsorbed H₂O₂ evaporated during the drying period). The evaporation of H₂O₂ is largely restricted by Ag-TiO₂ in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel. Therefore, Ag-TiO₂ not only directly contributes to the mold/mildew resistance by Ag ions, but also affects the performance of H₂O₂. That's why H₂O₂ showed relatively small influence than Ag-TiO₂ in the mold/mildew resistance of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel.

Comparing the result of Ag-TiO₂ only gels and the result of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels with 1:12 of H₂O₂ to the Ag-TiO₂ gel, the enhance of the delay effect on mold growth was observed by adding H₂O₂ to the Ag-TiO₂ gel. However, H₂O₂ does not always have a positive effect on mold/mildew resistance in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels. Excluding the promotion effect by adding H₂O₂, at the low levels of Ag-TiO₂ (0.125 g and 0.5 g), more H₂O₂ resulted in the decrease of the delay effect on mold growth over the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels; whereas, at the high level of Ag-TiO₂ (1 g and 2 g), more H₂O₂ led to a small increase of the delay effect on mold growth over the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels. The mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂ gels depends on the amount of Ag-TiO₂, the amount of H₂O₂ left after the drying process of the filter papers and the optimal mixing ratio between them. When the amount of Ag-TiO₂ is relatively small in the gel, more H₂O₂ adsorbed on the surface of Ag-TiO₂, which can survive during the drying process, also



declines with the decrease of Ag-TiO₂. Most of H₂O₂ evaporates after the drying period of the filter papers, resulting in the low mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel samples. The extreme example of this dilution effect was the H_2O_2 only sample in which no mold/mildew resistance was found. However, not like at the low level of Ag-TiO₂ in which the dilution effect from H_2O_2 dominates, at the high level of Ag-TiO₂, more H_2O_2 means more promotion effect on the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels. Instead, less H₂O₂ does not provide enough promotion effect on mold/mildew resistance. A small increase of the delay effect on mold growth over Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels was found with the volume ratio of H_2O_2 to the Ag-TiO₂ gel from 1:12 to 1:1 at the levels of 1 g and 2 g Ag-TiO₂. It is estimated that with more H_2O_2 added, the mold/mildew resistance of Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels would decline eventually when the dilution effect regains the control. In fact, a slight drop of the mold/mildew resistance from 2:3 to 1:1 volume ratio of H_2O_2 to the Ag-TiO₂ gel, though not significant, was observed on the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels with 1 g Ag-TiO₂ added. Also, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels with 2 g Ag-TiO₂ almost reached the constant for the delay effect on mold growth, because there was a very small difference of the delay effect on mold growth for the gels with 2:3 and 1:1 volume ratio of H_2O_2 to the Ag-TiO₂ gel.

4.5.2.4. The Recommended Gel Sample without Light

Among all kinds of PCO gels tested in the first stage of the mold experiment, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was the most effective sample for delaying the mold growth without light. Among all kinds of the combination of Ag-TiO₂ and H₂O₂ in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gels, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel with 2 g Ag-TiO₂ and 2:3 or 1:1 volume ratio of H₂O₂ to the Ag-TiO₂ gel had the longest delay time for mold growth. Due to the very slight difference (no



significance found between those two samples) of the 2:3 and 1:1 samples and the optimum ratio-2:3 found in the previous study on the reduction of VOC emission from the building materials, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel with 2 g Ag-TiO₂ and 2:3 volume ratio of H₂O₂ to the Ag-TiO₂ gel is recommended to be the ideal gel sample for resisting mold/mildew growth without light in the scope of this research.

4.5.3. UV Light

4.5.3.1. Result

Under UV light irradiation, TiO₂ gels can completely prevent mold growth for 28 days with 0.5 mW/cm² light intensity and 24 hours exposure time per day in the first stage experiment. The three influencing factors were analyzed for the TiO₂ gel samples: the loading of TiO₂ in the gel (Li et al., 2008e), the light intensity (Benabbou et al., 2007), and the exposure time (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2003). The TiO₂ gels were prepared by adding 0.125g, 0.5g, 1g, and 2g TiO₂, respectively into 25g PEG and 50g water. Then, the prepared TiO₂ gels were subjected to UV light irradiation at 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, and 0.6 mW/cm² light intensity and 4 hours, 8 hours, 12 hours and 24 hours exposure time per day. The total 64 kinds of tests on the TiO₂ gels were developed. The TiO₂ gel was found to completely prevent the mold growth for the whole period of the experiment under UV light irradiation in the first stage of the mold experiment. Thus, the complete inhibition of mold growth test result showed mold growth or no mold growth. The mold growth test result under UV light irradiation is shown in Table 4.4.



| Table 4 | Table 4.4 The Mold Growth Result on TiO ₂ (P25) Gel under UV Light Irradiation | | | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|--|--|
| $TiO_2(g)$ | UV Intensity (mW/cm ²) | UV Exposure Time (h/day) | Mold Growth | | |
| 0.125 | 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 | 4, 8, 12, 24 | * | | |
| | 0.3 | 4, 8, 12, 24 | * | | |
| 1 <u>TiO₂ (g)</u> 0.125 0.5 1 | 0.4 | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | * | | |
| | 0.4 | 12 | * | | |
| | | on TiO ₂ (P25) Gel under UV L UV Exposure Time (h/day) 4, 8, 12, 24 4, 8, 12, 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4, 8, 12, 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 4 8 12 24 24 4 8 12 24 24 8 12 24 24 8 12 24 24 8 12 24 24 8 12 24 24 8 12 24 24 8 12 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 2 | | | |
| | | 4 | * | | |
| 0.5 | Table 4.4 The Mold Growth Result on TiO2 (P. TiO2 (g) UV Intensity (mW/cm²) UV Exp 0.125 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 0.3 0.125 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 0.3 0.125 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 0.4 0.125 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 0.4 0.125 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.4 1 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 1 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.6 | 8 | * | | |
| | | 12 | | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| | | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | * | | |
| | 0.6 | 12 | | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| | 03 | 4 8 12 24 | * | | |
| Table 4 TiO2 (g) 0.125 0.5 1 1 2 | 0.0 | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | * | | |
| 1 | 0.4 | 12 | * | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| | | 4 | * | | |
| 1 | | 8 | | | |
| 0.5 | 0.5 | 12 | | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| | | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | | | |
| | 0.6 | 12 | | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| | 03 | 4 8 12 24 | * | | |
| | | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | * | | |
| | 0.4 | 12 | * | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| 2 | | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | | | |
| _ | 0.5 | 12 | | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| | | 4 | * | | |
| | | 8 | | | |
| | 0.6 | 12 | | | |
| | | 24 | | | |
| L | 1 | | 1 | | |

*Showing mold growth



In the scope of this experiment, all the TiO_2 gels with 0.125 g loading of TiO_2 showed mold growth, no matter at what light intensity and light exposure time. The concentration of the H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2003; Cho et al., 2004) generated by the photocatalysis of TiO_2 under UV light irradiation is directly related to the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel. Insufficient H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals, toxic to the fungal spores, were produced due to the low loading of TiO₂ in the TiO₂ gel (with the loading of 0.125 g TiO₂). With the increase of TiO₂ loading (Li et al., 2008e) in the TiO_2 gels, the TiO_2 gels started to show mold growth inhibition in some experiment condition. More TiO_2 in the TiO_2 gel generally means more active sites on the surfaces to absorbe more UV light and to produce more contacts between the substrates & TiO₂, leading to the enhancement of photocatalytic activity. With the loading of 0.5 g TiO₂, the TiO₂ gel was able to generate a sufficient concentration of H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals by photocatalysis when other conditions were also satisfied such as sufficient UV light intensity and exposure time. From the Fig. 4.6, the TiO_2 gels with 1 g or 2 g TiO_2 loading has larger "no mold" area than that with 0.5 TiO_2 loading, which means that the TiO₂ gels with 1 g or 2 g TiO₂ loading can prevent the mold growth in more unfavorable condition than that with 0.5 TiO₂ loading. The increase of TiO₂ loading benefits the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel. No difference was observed between 1 g and 2 g TiO₂ loading. The effect of TiO₂ loading on the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel reached the constant. The excessive loading of TiO_2 , more than 1 g, does not gain any credit for the inhibition of mold growth in the scope of this experiment. The excessive TiO₂ overlaping in the TiO_2 gel exhibits no improvement in the active sites on the surface.





Figure 4.6 The critical line for mold growth influenced by TiO₂ added in TiO₂ gels.

4.5.3.3. The UV Light Intensity

All the TiO₂ gels under 0.3 mW/cm² UV light irradiation showed mold growth, regardless of what loading of TiO₂ and light exposure time. The low UV light intensity can not fully activate TiO₂ for resisting mold growth. The energy for the photocatalysis is originated from the photons. Low intensity of UV light results in the low energy input for the photocatalytic reaction. So, not all the active sites on the surface of TiO₂ are excited. The photoproduced electron-holes pairs are not sufficient to maintain a high concentration of H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals for mold/mildew resistance. Higher UV light intensity (Benabbou et al., 2007) than 0.3 mW/cm² is required to activate the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel by producing more H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals. The critical UV light intensity found in this research was 0.4 mW/cm² for the TiO₂ gel, at



which UV light intensity the TiO₂ gel with 0.5 g, 1 g, and 2 g TiO₂ loading could completely inhibit the mold growth with 24 hours per day UV light exposure. The higher UV light (0.5 and 0.6 mW/cm²) intensity also possesses the larger "no mold" area, illustrated in Fig. 4.7. UV light at 0.5 and 0.6 mW/cm² was more favorable to the photocatalysis of the TiO₂ gel. No difference was observed between 0.5 and 0.6 mW/cm² UV light intensity for resisting mold growth, which implies that 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity achieves the maximum effect on mold/mildew resistance. Further increase of UV light intensity would have no benefit on mold/mildew resistance, only leading to an energy waste by the lighting. With certain UV light intensity, all the active sites on the surface of TiO₂ are fully excited and adsorbed with highly oxidative radicals, achieving the highest photocatalytic efficiency. Extra UV light photons will not be absorbed by TiO₂, except that extra active sites are introduced.



The Critical Line for Mold Growth Inhibition

Figure 4.7 The critical line for mold growth influenced by UV light intensity.



All the TiO₂ gels with 4 hours per day UV light exposure time showed mold growth, no matter with what loading of TiO_2 and UV light intensity. Even though the TiO_2 gel can be fully activated and is able to generate a sufficient concentration of H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals for resisting mold growth, the sufficient H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals would not last long enough to kill the mold spores. The concentration of H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals decreases when the UV light is turned off. Longer UV light exposure time (Rincon and Pulgarin, 2003) definitely benefits on the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel, corresponding with the larger "no mold" area illustrated in Fig. 4.8. In this research, 8 hours per day was the minimum UV light exposure time enough for some TiO_2 gel samples to completely prevent mold growth. Different concentrations of H_2O_2 and oxidative radicals were generated by different combination of the TiO_2 gel samples and UV light intensity, judged from the result. For instance, the TiO_2 gel with 1 g TiO_2 loading at 0.4 mW/cm² UV light intensity demanded 24 hours per day UV light exposure time to completely prevent mold growth; whereas, under 0.5 mW/cm² UV light irradiation, 8 hours per day were only required on the same TiO₂ gel. The high concentration of H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals created by the TiO₂ gel with 1 g TiO₂ loading under 0.5 mW/cm² UV light irradiation can kill the mold spores after 8 hours. The H₂O₂ and oxidative radicals would diminish without UV light. However, it can still maintain a certain level, when dropping from the high concentration, keeping certain mold/mildew resistance. Also, the rest of the day is not enough for the development of mold. Then, the high concentration of H_2O_2 and oxidative radicals will be resumed by UV light irradiation on the next day. The continuous UV light exposure for 24 hours per



day would be favorable for mold/mildew inhibition, which, however, may not be practical or economical. 8 hours exposure time per day may be more practical for the real application of the TiO_2 gel in the indoor environment. When there is no resident in the building, UV light can be turned on for mold/mildew growth inhibition on the TiO_2 gel.



The Critical Line for Mold Growth Inhibition

Figure 4.8 The critical line for mold growth influenced by UV light exposure time.

4.5.3.5. The Recommended Gel Sample and UV Light Condition

Among all the combinations of the TiO₂ gels, UV light intensities and exposure time which can completely inhibit mold growth, 0.4 mW/cm² UV light intensity seems a little weak, for all the TiO₂ gels working at this UV light intensity needs 24 hours UV light exposure per day. Furthermore, 0.6 mW/cm² UV light intensity does not improve the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel from 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and consumes extra lighting energy. 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity would be chosen for the



application of the TiO₂ gel. Under 0.5 mW/cm² UV light irradiation, 2 g TiO₂ loading does not increase the mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂ gel compared to 1 g TiO₂ loading; meanwhile, 0.5 g TiO₂ loading requires at least 12 hour UV light exposure per day for mold growth inhibition, which is less practical than 8 hours exposure per day demanded by 1 g TiO₂ loading. Therefore, the TiO₂ gel with 1 g TiO₂ loading is recommended for the complete prevention of mold growth, operating under 0.5 mW/cm² UV light irradiation with at least 8 hours UV light exposure per day.

4.6. Conclusion

To find and optimize the most effective PCO gel for resisting mold/mildew, the mold experiment was divided into two stages.

First, the mold growth tests were conducted on all kinds of PCO gel and paint samples in three major conditions: without light, under UV light irradiation, and under visible light irradiation. The result of paint samples appeared to be irregular because of the interfering factors, which is not suitable for the study of the photocatalytic effect on mold/mildew resistance. Further investigation should be performed on the paint samples, since it is thought to be a practical way in real application. The TiO₂ gel could completely prevent mold growth for the whole period of the experiment-28 days under UV light irradiation. The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was found with the longest delay period of mold growth without light or with visible light. However, visible light worsened the mold/mildew resistance of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel due to the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ under light irradiation. In the experiment of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel, the shorter mold



growth inhibition period was observed under visible light than that without light. Thus, there was no PCO gel entering the second optimization stage under visible light irradiation, even though the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was found to be the most effective under visible light irradiation for resisting mold/mildew (even better than the TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel).

Second, the TiO₂ gel and the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel were optimized under UV light irradiation and without light, respectively. The factors considered in the TiO₂ gel included the loading of TiO₂, UV light intensity and UV light exposure time. The loading of Ag-TiO₂ and the addition of 35% H₂O₂ were analyzed for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light. The influence of temperature and humidity to mold/mildew was eliminated by offering the most mold-favored temperature and humidity. The optimum components in the gel and the optimum operating conditions (light condition) are summarized in Table 4.5.

The TiO₂ gel is able to completely inhibit mold growth under UV light irradiation even in the most favorable temperature and humidity for mold growth. The low UV light intensity-0.5 mW/cm² (lower than regular sunlight 1 or 2 mW/cm²) with 8 hours per day exposure time is needed for the complete prevention of mold growth. 365 nm UV light instead of 264 nm (affecting DNA in the cell) was used for the TiO₂ gel at low light intensity, which reduces the biohazard for human health. So, the TiO₂ gel would have a potential to be used in the indoor environment for preventing mold growth in warm, humid climates. When the TiO₂ gel is coated on the indoor surfaces, the UV light bulb can be installed and turned on for the total 8 hours per day if there are no people in the room such as during the night of office buildings, during the day of residential buildings, and anytime of non-occupancy.



| Table 4.5 The PCO Gels with Optimized Components and Operating Condition | | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| PCO Gal | Optimized | Optimized Operating | The First Sign of |
| 100 001 | Components | Conditions | Mold Growth |
| | 1 g TiO ₂ (P25) added | 0.5 mW/cm ² UV light | |
| TiO ₂ Gel | into the solution of 25 | irradiation | No Mold Growth |
| | σ PFG and 50 σ water | 8 hours UV light | |
| | | exposure per day | |
| Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ Gel | $2 \text{ g Ag-TiO}_2 \text{ added}$ | | |
| | into the solution of 25 | | |
| | g PEG and 50 g water | | |
| | for Ag-TiO ₂ gel; 35% | Without Light | 13 days |
| | H ₂ O ₂ mixed with Ag- | White a Light | 15 (11)5 |
| | TiO_2 gel at 2:3 volume | | |
| | ratio of H ₂ O ₂ to Ag- | | |
| | TiO ₂ gel | | |

The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel in this mold experiment had longer mold inhibition time than the TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel found in the preliminary experiment without light or under visible light. Thus, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel may be a better choice for resisting mold/mildew. The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel is also a promising solution for resisting mold growth during some emergency situations such as a power failure, flood or hurricane. The longer mold inhibition time will give people more time to clean and dry out their houses and belongings without mold growth. The periodic spraying 35% H₂O₂ on the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ every 12 days may sustain the mold/mildew resistance property. H₂O₂ in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel still needs to be stabilized, or more stable substitute for H₂O₂ can be found.



The deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ under light irradiation leads to the short-term mold/mildew resistance. More stable Ag-TiO₂ or other visible-light-driven photocatalysts are demanded for future research under visible light irradiation. It is worth investigating the solution of the deterioration under visible light irradiation for long-term mold/mildew resistance of visible-light-driven photocatalysts since visible light is more practical than UV light in the indoor environment.



Chapter 5

VOC TEST ON PCO GEL COATED BUILDING MATERIALS

5.1. Background

UV or visible light, themselves, can not destroy VOCs. However, when they work with photocatalysts, the PCO reaction can reduce VOCs in the indoor air. The two kinds of PCO gels, TiO₂ gel with 1 g TiO₂ loading and AgTiO₂/H₂O₂ gel with 2 g Ag-TiO₂ loading & 35% H₂O₂ added at 2:3 volume ratio of H₂O₂ to Ag-TiO₂ gel, obtained from the mold growth experiment are most effective for resisting mold/mildew growth, respectively, under UV light and without light. The followed-up VOC emission experiment was performed to examine the reduction efficiency of VOC emission on those PCO gel coated building materials.

The building materials chosen for this study were pressure treated wood and oil-based paint, representing dry material and wet material, respectively. The pressure treated wood is widely used in residential, commercial and industrial building structures. It is treated by chemical preservatives to be protected from decay, fungi, insects and marine borers; however, the treating process will contribute to more VOC emission from the pressure treated wood than that from untreated wood. Oil-based paint is also commonly used in building construction and found to emit high rates and large concentrations of VOCs, even much more than pressure treated wood.



5.2. Experiment

The PCO gel was coated on the surface of pressure treated wood or oil-based paint as a coating material. The PCO gel coated building materials were subjected to VOC emission test under UV light or visible light irradiation. The results were then compared with the blank raw materials.

For "dry" material samples, 1.5 inches thick pressure treated wood was cut into 5.5×4 inches. For "wet" material samples, 0.75 inches thick red oak with very low VOC emission was cut into 3.5×4 inches and used as a substrate for oil-based paint. 3 ± 0.5 g paint was coated on the surface of red oak at the beginning of the test (average 33.2 mg/cm²). The whole VOC emission experiment can be divided into the following tests:

- a) Pressure treated wood without any treatment and oil-based paint without any treatment.
- b) Pressure treated wood and oil-based paint with the TiO₂ gel under UV light and visible light irradiation, respectively.
- c) Pressure treated wood and oil-based paint with the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel under UV light and visible light irradiation, respectively.

VOC emission experiment was mainly based on ASTM D 5116-06 Standard Guide for Small-Scale Environmental Chamber Determinations of Organic Emissions from Indoor Materials/Products. The procedure of VOC emission experiment will be briefly addressed. More detailed procedure can be found in James (2005).

The small-scale chamber experiment system was set up as illustrated in Fig. 5.1. The chamber was ventilated with clean and conditioned air. The air conditioning process



included particle removal, VOC oxidization, and temperature & humidity control. The ventilation rate was adjusted as 1 ACH (air change per hour). Data monitoring and analysis equipment (Campbell R23 datalogger) was also attached to the small chambers for temperature and humidity monitoring.



Figure 5.1 The small chamber experiment system.

Before each small chamber test, the chamber needed to be cleaned with laboratory detergent and deionized water. Then, the chamber was flushed with conditioned air to obtain the required and stabilized environment inside the chamber. The temperature and humidity were 23 ± 0.5 °C and $50\pm5\%$, respectively. The chamber background VOC concentration was measured, ensuring it less than 0.02 mg/m³ (Zhu et al., 1999) before



the real test. The maximum background concentrations detected in both pressure treated wood and oil-based paint are illustrated in Fig. 5.2.



Figure 5.2 The chamber background VOC concentration

At the beginning of each test, the fresh material with or without the PCO gel coating were placed into a specimen holder and then put into the chamber. 5 ± 0.5 g PCO gel, either TiO₂ gel or AgTiO₂/H₂O₂ gel, was coated on pressure treated wood (average 34.5 mg/cm²), and 1 ± 0.2 g was coated over oil-based paint (average 11.1 mg/cm²). The chamber was set up as seen in Fig. 5.3. During the test under UV light or visible light irradiation, an 8W black-light lamp or an 8W florescent lamp was hung over the material, respectively. Both of them were kept at the same distance from the materials, and light intensity of UV light and visible light was measured to ensure the consistency. The UV light intensity was average 0.5 mW/cm² at 365 nm peak wavelength, and the visible light intensity was average 1500 lux. The air samples were taken at the air exhaust of the


chamber, assuming air inside the chamber was completely mixed and the VOC concentration in the exhaust air represented the VOC concentration inside the chamber. Generally, the VOC concentration for the wet materials is much higher than the dry materials and the wet materials have their faster decaying emission rate of VOC concentration than that of the dry materials. The experiment for dry material lasted for 5 days; whereas the experiment for wet material lasted for 4 days. The air samples were taken at certain time intervals during the whole period of the experiment. The dry materials were treated differently to the wet materials in the sampling process. The dry material air samples were taken at the following intervals; t = 0.25h, 0.5h, 1h, 1.5h, 2h, 3h, 4h, 5h, 6h, 7h, 8h, 9h, 10h, 12h, 16h, 20h, 24h, 28h, 36h, 48h, 72h, 96h and 120h. For the wet materials, the air samples were taken at t = 0.1 h, 0.3 h, 0.6 h, 1h, 1.5h, 2 h, 2.5h 3 h, 3.5h, 4 h, 5h, 6h, 7h, 8h, 10h, 12h, 24h, 4h, 72h and 96 h. With the sampling flow rate of 200 mL/min, for the dry materials, the volume of air samples taken were 3 min within 1 hour, 5 min from 1 to 12 hours, 10 min from 12 to 24 hours, and 15 min after 1 day; whereas, for the wet materials, the volume of air samples taken were 2 min within 8 hours, 5 min from 8 to 12 hours, 15 min from 12 to 48 hours, and 30 min from 48 to 96 hours.





Figure 5.3 Illustration of setup inside the small scale chamber (James, 2005).

The air samples taken from the chamber were then analyzed by Automatic Thermal Desorber (ATD) and Gas Chromatographer/Mass Spectrometer (GC/MS) system (Fig. 5.4), and the TVOC concentration in the small-scale environmental chamber was quantified. The TVOC concentrations in the small chamber at different time intervals were obtained for calculating the emission data from the building materials with or without the PCO gels. The photocatalytic efficiency of the PCO gels was evaluated by the reduction of VOC emission from the building materials by comparing the PCO gel coated materials with the blank materials.





Figure 5.4 The VOC analysis system

5.3. Result and Discussion

5.3.1. General Description

From all the results of the different gel samples, VOC emission from the building materials (pressure treated wood and oil-based paint) was reduced by the PCO reaction and/or H_2O_2 oxidation (Fig. 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, 5.9, 5.10, 5.11, 5.12). UV in the figures means under UV light irradiation; meanwhile, VI means under visible light irradiation. VOCs were diffused from the materials into the gel layer. In the gel, the photocatalysts adsorbed the reactants on the surface and degraded them with the oxidative radicals



generated under light irradiation. Meanwhile, H_2O_2 , if present, also oxidized VOCs inside the gel. The products of those reactions (CO₂ and H₂O) and the unreacted VOCs were then emitted from the gel layer into the air.

The previous study (James, 2005) in our lab showed that H_2O_2 was greatly effective within the first 6 hours in the destruction of VOCs, after which H_2O_2 would lose its effect. H_2O_2 is either evaporated or consumed by VOC degradation. In the case of oil-based paint, H_2O_2 inside the PCO gel will degrade even faster due to the high VOC emission. The PCO reaction would continue being effective on the degradation of VOCs with hydroxyl radicals and super-oxide ions formed after the initial production of highly reactive electron and hole pairs or by the chain reaction of hydrogen peroxide for the whole period of the experiment; whereas, at the beginning of the experiment, the PCO reaction will be overwhelmed by the high concentration of VOCs, especially in the case of oil-based paint. With high VOC concentration, the VOC molecules occupy a large number of active sites on the surface of photocatalysts, blocking the adsorption of other important reactants such as oxygen and water, which decreases the photocatalytic activity of photocatalysts.

5.3.2. Pressure Treated Wood

Pressure treated wood has a relatively small VOC emission and emission rate at the beginning. The TVOC concentration in the chamber increased after the pressure treated wood placed in and reached the highest after 7 or 8 hours experiment. Then, the concentration decreased gradually with time, and the emission was relatively low after 5 days. Under UV light irradiation, both the TiO₂ gel and Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel managed to



degrade the VOCs significantly, with the reduction of TVOC emission-33.2% and 54.4%, respectively (Fig 5.5). With the aid of H_2O_2 , the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel showed better efficiency in the degradation of VOCs under UV light irradiation. The benefit from H_2O_2 not only showed on greater reduction of VOC emission, but also exhibited the lowering of the peak concentration $(H_2O_2 \text{ targeted on the beginning period when the VOC})$ emission rate was relatively high). However, the previous study found that H₂O₂ alone can have almost 30% reduction of VOC emission from pressure treated wood under UV light irradiation (James, 2005). If the H_2O_2 effect is taken off from the result of the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel (the benefit of the peak concentration reduction is neglected), Ag-TiO_2 may have lower photocatalystic efficiency than TiO₂ under UV light irradiation. This was also found in the mold experiment where in the same condition the TiO₂ gel could completely prevent mold growth but the Ag-TiO₂ gel could not due to the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ under light irradiation. Even the deteriorated Ag-TiO₂ showed the photocatalytic activity under UV light in VOC degradation, it was not sufficient to prevent mold growth. With the addition of H_2O_2 , the Ag-TiO₂/ H_2O_2 maintained a high photocatalytic efficiency of VOC degradation in the period of the small chamber experiment (5 days). The difference of photocatalytic efficiency between Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ and TiO₂ gradually diminished with the evaporation and consumption of H₂O₂ in the gel as well as the deterioaration of Ag-TiO₂. The Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel lost its mold inhibition property on the 7th day under UV light irradiation, beyond the whole period of the small chamber experiment. So, the severe deterioration effect of Ag-TiO₂ was not seen in VOC emission test.





Figure 5.5 VOC emission from pressure treated wood under UV light irradiation

Under visible light irradiation (Fig. 5.6), TiO₂ barely had photocatalytic activity (10.9% reduction of VOC emission). There was a big difference between the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ under UV and visible light irradiation for pressure treated wood (Fig. 5.8). Whereas, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel kept the similar photocatalytic efficiency (52.3% reduction of VOC emission) under visible light irradiation (Fig. 5.7) as under UV light irradiation. The Ag-doping seemed to increase the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ under visible light irradiation in spite of the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂. On the other hand, H₂O₂ could also cause the visible light response, and, itself, oxidize VOCs. In mold growth tests, neither Ag-doping nor H₂O₂ was enough to impove the visible light activity for the complete mold inhibition, which would be even worsened by the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂. The VOC degradation over the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel under visible light irradiation



may be attributed to the H_2O_2 oxidation, the H_2O_2 induced photocatalytic reaction, and remaining visible light activity of Ag-TiO₂.



Figure 5.6 VOC emission from pressure treated wood under visible light irradiation



Figure 5.7 Comparison of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel coated pressure treated wood under UV

and visible light irradiation





Figure 5.8 Comparison of the TiO_2 gel coated pressure treated wood under UV and visible light irradiation

5.3.3. Oil-based Paint

Oil-based paint has a higher VOC emission and emission rate at the beginning than pressure treated wood. After oil-based paint samples were placed in the chamber, the TVOC concentration increased dramatically and reached the highest at 2 or 2.5 hours after the experiment began. Then, the concentration decreased remarkably and became relatively low after 24 hours. To better show the change of TVOC concentration of oil-based paint samples, the whole process is divided into several sections with different time frames illustrated in Fig. 5.9 and 5.10. Under UV light irradiation, the similar reduction of VOC emission of oil-based paint was achieved as in the case of pressure treated wood-33.9% with the TiO₂ gel and 55.7% with the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂. Compared to the TiO₂ gel,



the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel still had better photocatalytic efficiency under UV light irradiation for reducing VOC emission from oil-based paint. H₂O₂ also contributed a lot to the reduction of VOC emission at the beginning of the experiment; however, the peak concentration was not lowered as much as in the case of pressure treated wood due to the concentrated emission from oil-based paint, even though H₂O₂ was very active at the beginning phase. H₂O₂ was consumed fast by the high concentration of VOCs. The difference of VOC chamber concentration between the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel and the TiO₂ gel coated oil based paint under UV light irradiation decreased very fast, and the chamber concentrations became very similar after 24 hours. Similar to the case of pressure treated wood, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel maintained UV light activity, though it may not be enough or long enough to completely prevent mold growth with the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂. Or, the severe deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ did not take place within the short period of VOC



(a)









Figure 5.9 VOC emission from oil-based paint under UV light irradiation: (a) the whole period of the experiment; (b) 0-25 hours; (c) 25-60 hours; (d) 60-96 hours.

Under visible light irradiation, the TiO₂ gel, which can not be fully activated by visible light, had little photocatalytic efficiency with 12.5 % reduction of VOC emission from oil-based paint, compared to the efficiency under UV light irradiation (Fig. 5.12). Whereas, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel maintained high photocatalytic efficiency with 50.3% reduction of VOC emission from oil-based paint under visible light irradiation similar to under UV light irradiation (Fig. 5.11). Under UV light irradiation or visible light irradiation, the similar photocatalytic activity between the cases of pressure treated wood and oil-based paint was also found on the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel. With the aid of H₂O₂, better VOC degradation efficiency was also achieved under visible light irradiation. All the results obtained from the oil-based paint experiment confirmed the same trend that was found in the pressure treated wood experiment.







(b)





Figure 5.10 VOC emission from oil-based paint under visible light irradiation: (a) the whole period of the experiment; (b) 0-25 hours; (c) 25-60 hours; (d) 60-96 hours.





Figure 5.11 Comparison of the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel coated oil-based paint under UV and visible light irradiation



Figure 5.12 Comparison of the TiO₂ gel coated oil-based paint under UV and visible light

irradiation



5.4. Conclusion

| Table 5.1 The Reduction of TVOC Emission from Building Materials by the PCO Gel | | | |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|--------------|--------------------|
| Building Materials | PCO Gel | Light Source | TVOC Reduction (%) |
| Pressure Treated Wood | TiO ₂ | UV | 33.2 |
| | | Visible | 10.9 |
| | Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | UV | 54.4 |
| | | Visible | 52.3 |
| Oil-based Piant | TiO ₂ | UV | 33.9 |
| | | Visible | 12.5 |
| | Ag-TiO ₂ /H ₂ O ₂ | UV | 55.7 |
| | | Visible | 50.3 |

The two kinds of PCO gels-the TiO₂ gel and Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel were studied for their reduction of VOC emission from building materials under UV or visible light irradiation. The TiO₂ gel was found to be only effective under UV light irradiation with above 30% reduction of VOC emission from both pressure treated wood and oil-based paint. With the aid of H₂O₂, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was more efficient for the reduction of VOC emission with above 50% reduction on both pressure treated wood and oil-based paint than the TiO₂ gel (Table 5.1). Even though the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ observed in the mold experiment under light irradiation could still happen in the VOC emission experiment, Ag-TiO₂ still maintained some photocatalytic activity on VOC degradation under either UV or visible light irradiation. In the mold experiment, the addition of 35% H₂O₂ into Ag-TiO₂ extended the mold inhibition period to more than 7 days. Also, H₂O₂ benefited the reduction of VOC emission from building materials by aiming at the oxidation of VOCs at the beginning phase of VOC emission from building materials, in



which the highest emission rate and chamber concentration were observed. The most effective PCO gel obtained for the reduction of VOC emission from building materials was the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel, which, due to the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂, was not so efficient as the PCO gel studied in the previous research (James, 2005) with above 60% reduction of VOC emission. However, the use of fluorocarbon in the previous one is considered not economical or environment-friendly because of the extremely high price and toxicity. Therefore, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel applied as a coating material in this research is a potential solution for the reduction of VOC emission from building materials even under visible light irradiation. More stable Ag-TiO₂ or other visible-light-driven photocatalysts under light irradiation are recommended in future research. The addition of 35% H₂O₂ is also recommended for the application for reducing material based on the PCO technology for both mold/mildew resistance and VOC emission reduction from building materials is feasible and promising.





Chapter 6

MOLD/MILDEW GROWTH MODEL

6.1. Background

For the evaluation of the response of humidity, temperature, and exposure time for mold growth on wood materials, several mold growth models (Viitanen 1997; Hukka and Viitanen 1999; Viitanen et al. 2000) have been developed, based on the comprehensive laboratory studies with Northern wood species (Viitanen and Ritschkoff 1991). Viitanen (1997) created three groups of models based on the regression analysis of the critical time required for the growth of mold on pine and spruce sapwood. These models mainly addressed the effect of critical humidity and temperature for mold growth.

In this study, the mold growth model was developed based on the regression analysis of the critical time required for the growth of mold on the agar plates with the PCO gel coated filter papers (the results of mold growth experiment). The resistant effect of the PCO gel on mold growth was included in the models. The effects of humidity and temperature for mold growth were eliminated by providing the most mold-favored humidity and temperature in the mold growth experiment.

There are two mold growth models for two kinds of PCO gels, the Ag- TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel without light and the TiO_2 gel under UV light irradiation.



6.2. "Without Light" Model

In the "without light" model, the loading of Ag-TiO₂ in the Ag-TiO₂ gel and the volume ratio of 35% H_2O_2 to Ag-TiO₂ gel were considered to be two major factors for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel to influence the delay of the mold growth on the agar plates with the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel coated filter papers. The linear regression model was obtained for the "without light" model with consideration of the interaction between those two factors.

In statistics, linear regression is the first type of regression analysis, being rigorously studied and widely used in research and practices. Linear regression is an approach to study the relationship between the dependent variable Y and one or many independent variables X. Data is modeled using the linear function and parameters are calculated in the linear model, which can be written in the following form (Eq. 6.1):

$$Y_i = \beta_1 x_{i1} + \dots + \beta_p x_{ip} + \varepsilon_i = x'_i \beta + \varepsilon_i, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n, \qquad 6.1$$

Where, Y_i is dependent variables;

 β_i are regression coefficients for each x_i ;

ε_i is error term.

Particular to our case, two major factors are the loading of Ag-TiO₂ in the Ag-TiO₂ gel and the ratio of 35% H₂O₂ to Ag-TiO₂ gel, represented by x_{Ag} (g) and x_h (mL/mL) in Eq. 6.2, respectively. The interaction term between the loading of Ag-TiO₂ and the addition of 35% H₂O₂ is also introduced in the form of $x_{Ag}x_h$ due to the significance found in ANOVA test for the interaction effect. The independent variable Y is the mold



x_i are independent variables;

inhibition days for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel. The linear regression model for the mold inhibition days of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light is described in Eq. 6.2.

$$Y = 3.565 x_{Ag} - 2.164 x_h + 2.489 x_{Ag} x_h + 4.284$$
 6.2

The R square test indicates that the linear regression model fits 93% of the experimental data, which means the linear model would be enough to interpret the experimental data and predict the trend. The comparison of the modeling result and the experimental data is shown in Fig. 6.1.



(a)





(b)

Figure 6.1 Model result vs experimental data-the time of the first sign of mold growth on the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light: (a) result with Ag-TiO₂ increase; (b) result with H_2O_2 increase.

In general, the linear regression model accurately fits for the experimental data of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light, especially when addressing the effect of the increase of Ag-TiO₂ on the mold/mildew resistance. The biggest error is found when the model tryed to simulate the effect of the increase of H₂O₂ on the mold/mildew resistance in the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel with 1 g loading of Ag-TiO₂. The reason for this error probably comes from the intension to catch the transition of the slope from negative to positive with the increase of Ag-TiO₂. This error is still acceptable, because the influence of H₂O₂ is



relatively small causing a small change of the mold/mildew resistance when compared to the influence of Ag-TiO₂.

6.3. "UV Light" Model

In the "UV light" model, the loading of TiO_2 in the TiO_2 gel, the UV light intensity and the UV light exposure time are considered to be three major factors to decide whether or not the TiO_2 gel can completely inhibit the mold growth on the agar plates with the TiO_2 gel coated filter papers. The logistic regression is adopted for the "UV light" model, for the result of the experiment on the TiO_2 gel is either the mold growth would appear or not, which is not quantitative but qualitative result.

In statistics, logistic regression is usually used to predict the occurrence probability of an event from the influence of one or many independent (predictor) variables by fitting data to a logit function. The most interesting feature of the logistic regression is the predictor variables which can be either numerical or categorical. In the logistic regression, The 100% occurrence is represented as f(z) = 1, and 100% non-occurrence is represented as f(z) = 0, complying with the function of the logistic curve (Fig. 6.2):

$$f(z) = \frac{e^z}{e^z + 1} = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-z}}$$
6.3

Where, z represents the total exposure to all the independent variables.

Here, the linear regression is usually used for binomial regression:

$$z = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_3 x_3 + \dots + \beta_k x_k, \qquad 6.4$$

Where, x_i are independent variables;

 β_0 is called "intercept" and other β_i are regression coefficients.





Figure 6.2 The logistic curve.

Before the logistic model is applied to estimate the probability of mold growth on the TiO_2 gel coated filter papers, the step function can be used for the situation obtained from the mold experiment in which the mold growth will definitely show. When the addition of TiO_2 in the TiO_2 gel was equal or less than 0.125g, the UV light intensity was equal or less than 0.3 mW/cm², or the UV light exposure time per day was equal or less than 4 hours, the mold grew normally on all the test agar plates (Eq. 6.5).,

$$f(x) = 1,$$
 $x_{Ti} \le 0.125, \text{ or } x_I \le 0.3, \text{ or } x_t \le 4$ 6.5

Where, x_{Ti} is the weight of TiO₂ added in the TiO₂ gel, g;

 x_1 is the UV light intensity coated on the TiO₂ gel, mW/cm²;

 x_t is the UV light exposure time for the TiO₂ gel per day, hour.

f(z) = 1 is specified as the showing of mold growth and f(z) = 0 means no sing of mold growth in the model.



Furthermore, the logistical model is utilized to estimate the occurrence probability of mold growth from 0.125 g to 2 g TiO₂ addition, from 0.3 to 0.6 mW/cm² UV light intensity, and from 4 to 24 hours UV light exposure time per day. The logistical regression was obtained from the mold experimental data on the TiO₂ gel under UV light irradiation (Eq. 6.6).

$$f(z) = \frac{1}{1+e^{z}} \qquad 0.125 \le x_{\text{Ti}} \le 2, \, 0.3 \le x_{\text{I}} \le 0.6, \, 4 \le x_{\text{t}} \le 24 \qquad 6.6$$

Where, $z = 6.3577 - 23.7848 x_{Ti} - 13.473 x_I - 0.5931 x_t + 13.5902 x_{Ti} x_{^2I} x_t$

The interaction of those three factors is found in the form of $x_{Ti} x_1^2 x_t$, which has the best precision. The good agreement of the logistic regression is found by Hosmer–Lemeshow test (Hosmer and Lemeshow, 2000) in which the significance is observed for this model. When assuming above 60% predicted probability of mold growth means mold growth and below 40% means no mold growth, the accuracy percentage of prediction by this model is 96.9% in the 64 cases tested in the mold experiment. Only 2 cases of all, locating in the transition zone of logistic model from 1 to 0, indicate error prediction by this model (Fig. 6.3). The overall correctness of this logistic model is highly acceptable. The whole model can be written as Eq. 6.7.

$$f(z) = \begin{cases} 1 & x_{Ti} \le 0.125, \text{ or } x_I \le 0.3, \text{ or } x_t \le 4\\ \frac{1}{1+e^z} & 0.125 \le x_{Ti} \le 2, \ 0.3 \le x_I \le 0.6, \ 4 \le x_t \le 24 \\ z = 6.3577 - 23.7848x_{Ti} - 13.473x_I - 0.5931x_t + 13.5902x_{Ti}x_I^2x_t \end{cases}$$
6.7





Figure 6.3 The prediction of the logistic model in the experiment cases

Some examples for the comparison between experimental data and logistic model simulation are illustrated in Fig. 6.4.





(b)





(d)





(f)



Figure 6.4 The examples of the comparison between experimental data and logistic model: (a) The effect of UV light exposure time at 1 g TiO₂ addition and 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity; (b) The effect of UV light exposure time at 1 g TiO₂ addition and 0.6 mW/cm² UV light intensity; (c) The effect of UV light intensity at 1 g TiO₂ addition and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (d) The effect of UV light intensity at 1 g TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 24 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time; (f) The effect of TiO₂ addition at 0.5 mW/cm² UV light intensity and 12 hours per day UV light exposure time.

Generally, the logistic model for the TiO₂ gel under UV light irradiation achieves good accuracy with the analysis of the effects of 3 major factors considered in the model. From the Fig. 6.4, some prediction errors appear in Fig. 6.4 (b) and (d). Through the examination of the experimental data, there is no change in the mold experiment result from 1 g to 2 g TiO₂ addition and from 0.5 to 0.6 mW/cm² UV light intensity. However, the model tries to predict the difference, according to the trend obtained in other data, which probably causes the prediction error. The insufficient of data sets may be another reason of this biased prediction. More experiments can be performed in future to refine this model.



6.4. Conclusion

Two statistic models are created for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light and the TiO₂ gel under UV light irradiation, respectively. The factors analyzed in the mold growth experiment and the interactions between were considered. In the linear regression model for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel and the logistic regression model for the TiO₂ gel, factors are useful for predicting gel performance with the resultant model showing a good agreement with the experimental data. Those two mold growth models can be used to interpret the experiment result and predict, in the scope of the experiment, the time required for the initial sign of mold growth in the application of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light and whether or not the TiO₂ gel can completely prevent the mold growth under UV light irradiation.

Thus, the critical time for the initial sign of mold growth in the application of the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light will be used to predict the critical time for recovering the mold-unfavored temperature and humidity without showing any mold growth when temperature and humidity is very suitable for the mold growth (such as the situations during a power failure, flood, and hurricane). Furthermore, the model for the TiO₂ gel under UV light irradiation can be used to plan the application of the TiO₂ gel, the installation of UV light bulb and the lighting schedule, or predict the showing of mold growth on the TiO₂ gel. More experiments may be performed to obtain more data for improving the regression models.



Chapter 7

VOC EMISSION MODEL

7.1. Background

The VOC emission data of different building materials can be obtained through the experiment described in Chapter 5, which, however, is expensive and cannot be performed in all situations. Therefore, the VOC emission model is developed for estimating and predicting the VOC emission from building materials.

VOC emission models can be divided into two classes: empirical models and physical models. Empirical models are usually based on the regression of experimental data. There were first order decay models, second order decay models, power law equation models, constant emission models, and instant emission models (Dunn et al., 1987; Tichenor et al., 1991; Chang and Guo, 1992; Clausen et al., 1993; Guo, 2002). Generally, empirical models possessed a good agreement with the experiment result, but they are not correlative with the physical process. Physical models were developed to specify and evaluate the different physical steps in the emission process. In 1993, Tichenor et al (1993) proposed a VOC emission model for wet material called Vapor Pressure and Boundary Layer (VB) model, considering emission as a pure evaporation process and neglecting the diffusion process in the materials. VB model is usually accurate for the beginning few hours of the emission process, because the evaporation dominates during this period. Little et al. (1994) developed a VOC emission model for a dry material-new carpet, simulating diffusion process inside the material and mass transfer process on the



surface of material. The method to find the diffusion parameters was also presented. Yang et al. (1999) created a model based on VOC diffusion within the materials including both dry and wet materials. The diffusion coefficient is associated with the VOC concentration in the wet materials. Computed Fluid Dynamics (CFD) was also applied to obtain the parameters for mass transfer process between material and chamber air.

This study is to develop a new VOC emission model with a PCO reaction term for PCO gel coated building materials, based on the small chamber experimental data obtained by James (2005). The new PCO reaction model is introduced to acchieve better accuracy than the previous VOC emission model.

7.2. Model Development and Equations

The previous research made efforts to add the photocatalytic reaction component to the existing emission models for the PCO gel coated building materials (James, 2005). The experimental data used for the development of this model was from the small chamber test for VOC emission on the PCO gel coated building materials conducted by James (2005). This PCO gel is composed of polyethylene glycol gel (PEG) matrix (framework), semiconductor nanoparticles (TiO₂), a light sensitizing catalyst, and a supplemental oxide (35% H₂O₂). The total VOC concentrations in the small chamber at different time intervals on both pressure treated wood and oil-based paint with or without PCO gel under UV or visible light irradiation were all evaluated by Gas



Chromatographer and Flame Ionization Detector (GC/FID). This experimental data is used to build the new VOC emission model.

As illustrated in Fig. 7.1, the whole emission process in the model can be divided into three steps (detailed description can be found in (James, 2005)):

- a) VOC diffusion within the materials.
- b) VOC decomposing in the PCO gel.
- c) VOC transferring into the chamber.



Figure 7.1 The schematic of the building materials coated with the PCO gel.

The step (a) is governed by the second Fick's law; and the step (c) is governed by the mass transfer coefficient (Little, et al 1994, X. Yang 1999, Hongyu Huang 2002). The step (b) is the most difficult part among the whole modeling process, because the VOC photocatalytic reaction model has not been developed well. For the previous research, the pseudo-first-order reaction model was chosen for describing the VOC photocatalytic



$$M_{re} = -K_{re}AC_{m0}$$
7.1

Where, M_{re}: VOC reaction amount (g)

```
K<sub>re</sub>: Reaction coefficient (1/s)
```

A: Emssion area (m^2)

 C_{m0} : VOC concentration at the interface (g/m³)

The model developed previously for dry materials has an acceptable agreement with the experiment result. However, the modeling result for the PCO gel coated oil-based paint predicts greater reduction of VOC emission than the experiment result, which suggests that the model for wet materials still needs modification for achieving better accuracy (Fig. 7.2 and 7.3).





Figure 7.2 Comparison of measure and simulated TVOC emission concentrations from oil-based paint and PCO gel with UV light (James, 2005)



Figure 7.3 Comparison of measure and simulated TVOC emission concentrations from oil-based paint and PCO gel with visible light (James, 2005)

There are two reactions in the previously developed PCO gel: the heterogeneous photocatalytic oxidation reaction by semiconductors and the homogeneous oxidation reaction by hydrogen peroxide. Due to the promotion effect between H_2O_2 and semiconductors, it is difficult to assign different types of reactions (homogeneous and heterogeneous) to both processes. The hydrogen peroxide reaction is dominant at the early stage and diminishes quickly with the consumption of H_2O_2 ; whereas, the photocatalytic reaction takes place for the whole period of the experiment, which governs the reaction in the late period. Between the early stage and the late stage, there is a



transition stage in which both reactions have a similar contribution to VOC reduction. When assuming that the dosage of H_2O_2 is sufficient to maintain a constant concentration and the reactant is more strongly adsorbed on semiconductors than products, the pseudo-first-order reaction model stands for both the hydrogen peroxide reaction and the photocatalytic reaction. However, the pseudo-first-order reaction model is not very accurate for photocatalytic reaction, due to the influencing factors such as pollutant concentration, humidity and temperature. Because the reactions always involve adsorption steps before electron exchange, the adsorption isotherms are expected to play an important role in the kinetic models (Mo et al., 2009). There are many other models for PCO reaction available. The most popular PCO reaction model is Langmuir-Hinshelwood (L-H) model (Eq. 7.2) which considers the equilibrium of adsorption for reactants. The accuracy of this model for the photocatalytic reaction was proved by Peral and Ollis (1992), Sauer and Ollis (1994), Biard et al. (2007), Shiraishi et al. (2007).

$$R = K_{re} \frac{K_a C_{m0}}{1 + K_a C_{m0}}$$
 7.2

Where, R: reaction rate, (g/m^2s)

 K_{re} : reaction constant (g/m²s)

 K_a : Langmuir adsorption constant (m³/g)

 C_{m0} : VOC concentration of the air adjacent to the reaction surface (g/m³)

In the early stage, when the hydrogen peroxide reaction is dominant, the whole reaction follows the pseudo-first-order reaction. In the late stage, when the photocatalytic reaction is dominant, the whole reaction fits for the L-H model. In the transition stage, two reaction models are combined with an assumed linear decrease of thr pseudo-first-



order reaction constant and an assumed linear increase of the L-H reaction constant. The transition stage is determined by iterations of fitting the experimental data and is found between 0.5 to 3 hours. So, the PCO reaction for the new VOC emission model is shown in Eq. 7.4.

The following assumptions were made in development of this model:

- a) The transient VOC diffusion in material can be described by one-dimensional Fick's law equation. VOC gradients are considered the only driving force for mass transfer, and there is no chemical reaction inside the material.
- b) The material is homogeneous, and the VOCs in the material are distributed evenly.
- c) The parameters of main VOC species are used to represent the parameters of TVOC.
- d) Steady state air stream flows over the surface of material in the chamber.
- e) The VOC diffusion in the gel layer is neglected.
- f) The VOCs at the material-gel interface are in thermodynamic equilibrium.
- g) A completely mixing model is assumed in the chamber.
- h) At the early stage of VOC emission, a pseudo-first-order equation is used to represent the degradation of VOC in the PCO gel; at the late stage of VOC emission, a L-H model represents the photocatalytic reaction; at the transition stage, a linear correlation is assumed to describe the transition from the pseudofirst-order equation to the L-H model.

Therefore, the governing equations (Eq. 7.3 and Eq. 7.4) for the whole model were developed as follows:


$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial C_m}{\partial \tau} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(D_m \frac{\partial C_m}{\partial x} \right) & Materials\\ C_{m0} = K_{ma} C_{air0} & Surface\\ \frac{\partial C_{air}}{\partial \tau} V = N \left(C_{in} - C_{out} \right) + M_{re} + h_x A \left(C_{air0} - C_{air} \right) Chamber \end{cases}$$
7.3

$$M_{re} = \begin{cases} -K_1 A C_{m0} & 0 \le t \le 0.5 \\ -K_{re1} A C_{m0} & -K_{re2} A \frac{K_a C_{m0}}{1 + K_a C_{m0}} & 0.5 < t < 3 \\ -K_2 A \frac{K_a C_{m0}}{1 + K_a C_{m0}} & t \ge 3 & Reaction \\ K_{re1} = (-5.76 \times 10^{-8} t + 1.73 \times 10^{-7}) K_1 \\ K_{re2} = (1.1904t - 0.5952) K_2 \end{cases}$$

Where, C_m : VOC concentration in the materials (g/m³)

- D_m : VOC diffusion coefficient in the materials (m²/s)
- M_{re}: VOC reaction amount (g)
- K_1 : Reaction coefficient in the early stage (1/s)
- K_2 : Reaction coefficient in the late stage (g/m²s)

K_{rel}: Reaction coefficient in the transition stage for pseudo-first-order reaction (1/s)

 K_{re2} : Reaction coefficient in the transition stage for L-H model (g/m²s)

 K_a : Langmuir adsorption constant (m³/g)

A: Emssion area (m^2)

 C_{m0} : Initial VOC concentration in the materials (g/m³) or VOC concentration in the gel at the interface (g/m³)

K_{ma}: Henry law constant

 C_{air0} : VOC concentration in the air at the interface (mg/m³)

 C_{air} : VOC concentration in the air (mg/m³)

- V: Volume of the chamber (m^3)
- N: Air flow rate (m^3/s)



 C_{in} : VOC concentration of inlet (mg/m³)

 C_{out} : VOC concentration of outlet (mg/m³)

h_x: Mass transfer coefficient (m)

x: Thickness of material (m)

For dry materials, D_m is a constant, but for wet materials, D_m is a function of Cm. The equation for calculating D_m for wet materials is developed by He (2003) in Eq. 7.5.

$$D_m = D_{m0} \left(\frac{C_m}{C_{m0}}\right)^3 + D_s e^{-C_m/C_{m0}}$$
7.5

 D_{m0} : Initial diffusion coefficient in the material (m²/s)

 D_s : VOC diffusion coefficient in the dry film of material (m²/s)

The following relation (Eq. 7.6) can be used for accounting the effect of temperature (Yang et al., 2001):

$$D_{m0} = D_0 \exp(-\frac{E_d}{RT})$$
7.6

Where, E_d is the activation energy (J/mol)

R is universal gas constant (=8.3145J/mol K).

To determine the coefficient D_{m0} , a diffusion coefficient D_0 at a reference temperature T_0 needs to be known.

In the equations, there are many parameters either determined by experimental data or by model simulation. P-xylene, the largest amount of VOC species present in the oilbased paint, is used to calculate the material properties for TVOC emission. K_{ma} is assumed to be the partition coefficient for pure liquid P-xylene. D_{m0} is obtained using a modified version of J.C. Little's model (Little et al., 1994). The initial concentration C_{m0} is determined by VB model. The mass transfer coefficient is estimated from the CFD



simulation (Yang, 1999; Yang et al., 2001). The detailed method to calculate those parameters can be found in James (2005). The reaction constant and Langmuir adsorption constant are obtained by fitting the reaction curve. The curve is generated by the experimental data after 2 hours since the data before that is not stable. The chamber needs 1.5 hours or 2 hours to achieve completely mixing. All the parameters used in the model are displayed in Table 7.1.

| Table 7.1 Parameters Used in Developing New VOC Emission Model | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|
| Parameters | Values |
| Initial concentration in the material, C _{m0} | $3.613 \times 10^5 \text{ g/m}^3$ |
| Partition coefficient at the material-air interface, K _{ma} | 6250 |
| Initial diffusion coefficent in the material, D_{m0} | $1.0 \times 10^{-7} \text{ m}^2/\text{s}$ |
| Diffusion coefficient in dried material, D _s | $2.5 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2/\text{s}$ |
| Mass transfer coefficient, h _x | $1.172 \times 10^{-3} \text{ m/s}$ |
| Air exchange rate, N | 1 hr ⁻¹ |
| Material area, A | 0.0056 m^2 |
| Material thickness, x | 0.000924 m |
| Chamber volume, V | 0.053 m^3 |
| Pseudo-first-order reaction constant, K ₁ | $1.44 \times 10^{-7} \text{ m/s UV}$ |
| | 1.37×10^{-7} m/s VI |
| Langmuir reaction constant, K ₂ | 2.98 g/m ² s UV |
| | 2.74 g/m ² s VI |
| Langmuir adsorption constant, K _a | $2.49 \times 10^{-8} \text{ m}^{3}/\text{g UV}$ |
| | $2.12 \times 10^{-8} \text{ m}^{3}/\text{g VI}$ |

The initial chamber VOC concentration is assumed to be 0 and the initial material VOC concentration is homogenous in the material and equal to C_{m0} . The initial condition of the model is described in Eq. 7.7.

| $\int C_m(x,0) = C_{m0}$ | 77 |
|--------------------------|-----|
| $C_{air}(0) = 0$ | 1.1 |

7.3. Model Result and Discussion



Figure 7.4 Comparison of TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under UV light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model.



Figure 7.5 Comparison of Log TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under UV light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model.





Figure 7.6 Comparison of TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under visible light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model.



Figure 7.7 Comparison of Log TVOC emission concentration from oil-based paint with PCO gel under visible light irradiation: experiment, old model and new model.



From Fig. 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, and 7.7, the new model has a better agreement with the experimental data than the pseudo-first-order reaction model, especially in long-term prediction. The total root-mean square (RMS) error for the new model is 14.2% with UV light and 11.5% with visible light, which are both smaller than the previous model-21.4% with UV light and 19.3% with visible light. Furthermore, the new model is more suitable for long-term prediction-7.6% with UV light and 4.5% with visible light RMS error after 22 hours, compared to the previous model-35.4% with UV light and 31.9% with visible light. The log value of VOC concentration is used to enlarge the error in small concentrations. There is a big error for the pseudo-first-order reaction model after 6 hours and greater reduction of VOC emission is predicted as shown in Fig. 7.5 and 7.7. In the new model, the L-H model is added for long-term prediction of VOC emission, which is more suitable for the photocatalytic reaction dominated stage. In the early stage of VOC emission, the pseudo-first-order reaction assumes the constant reaction of hydrogen peroxide without decrease. However, H_2O_2 is consumed rapidly by the large amount of VOC emitted from oil-based paint at the beginning. That is why the pseudo-first-order reaction model predicts greater reduction of VOC emission. The transition stage is proposed for the reaction transition from hydrogen peroxide reaction to photocatalytic reaction because of the decrease of H₂O₂ in the PCO gel. Since H₂O₂ has better reaction efficiency than the photocatalytic reaction when VOC concentration is high at the early stage, the new model predicts less reduction of VOC emission and is more suitable for the experimental data at the early and transition stages of VOC emission. Though, there is still a small error for the new model between 4 and 22 hours. The error may be caused by the unstable chamber concentration at the beginning, the unknown hydrogen peroxide



diminishing rate, the unverified time for reaction transition process, the assumed linear correlation of reaction constant and time in the transition stage, and/or the deactivation of the photocatalyst under the high VOC concentration.

7.4. Conclusion

In the previously developed VOC emission model for wet materials, the reaction model for the PCO gel used was the pseudo-first-order reaction equation, which did not match the experimental data well, predicting greater reduction of VOC emission from oilbased paint with the PCO gel under either UV or visible light irradiation. The assumption that the hydrogen peroxide oxidation reaction is a constant reaction might not be appropriate due to the rapid decrease of H₂O₂ in the PCO gel, because the high VOC concentration is generated from oil-based paint. Also, the photocatalytic reaction is dominant in the late stage of VOC emission, which is more suitable for the L-H reaction model than the pseudo-first-order reaction model, when considering the adsorption of VOCs on the surface of semiconductors. In the new VOC emission model, the VOC diffusion in wet materials and the VOC mass transfer in the chamber remain the same as the previous one. However, the new reaction model for the PCO gel is introduced including three reaction stages: the hydrogen peroxide reaction stage (the early stage), the transition stage, and the photocatalytic reaction stage (the late stage). In the hydrogen peroxide reaction stage, the pseudo-first-order reaction is assumed. The new model simulates the reduction of H₂O₂ and the reaction transition from hydrogen peroxide dominated reaction to photocatalytic dominated reaction by adding a transition stage with



the linear decrease of pseudo-first-order reaction constant and the linear increase of L-H reaction constant. In photocatalytic reaction stage, L-H model is found to be more suitable. Therefore, the new VOC emission model fits better for the experimental data than the old model, even though there is still a small error for the simulated VOC concentration between 4 and 22 hours.

A comprehensive numerical model was developed for VOC emission from building materials with a PCO gel coating. The VOC oxidation reaction was considered in the PCO gel. With physical properties of building materials (initial material VOC concentration, diffusion coefficient, partition coefficient and mass transfer coefficient), reaction parameters of PCO gels and small chamber experimental data, this model can be used to predict VOC emission reduction from different building materials coated with different PCO gels in different indoor environment conditions. The new VOC emission model also provides a way to solve the complicated oxidation process (combining regular oxidation reaction and photocatalytic oxidation reaction) for the PCO gel coated building materials.



Chapter 8

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

8.1. Conclusion

This research was conducted on the evaluation of PCO technology for mold/mildew resistance and VOC emission reduction from building materials. Many kinds of PCO gels were developed and tested. The potential to create a multifunctional material based on PCO technology for resisting mold/mildew growth and preventing VOC emission was verified. Several conclusions are made.

a) The delay effect on mold growth found with the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel without light or under visible light irradiation may contribute to the mold/mildew resistance in the indoor environment when the conventional methods for mold/mildew resistance temporarily fail such as the situations during a power failure, flood, and hurricane. The delay of mold growth will give people more time to clean and dry out their houses and belongings without mold growth. Without light, a 12-day delay of mold growth was obtained using the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel with 2g Ag-TiO₂ added and 35% H₂O₂ mixed at 2:3 volume ratio of H₂O₂ to Ag-TiO₂ gel in preparation. Under visible light irradiation, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel was also the most effective PCO gel with a 8-day delay of mold growth, which, however, was shorter than the same Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel in the condition of no light with a 10-day delay due to the light-induced deterioration of Ag-TiO₂, unlike the enhancement of mold/mildew resistance of the TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel by visible light.



- b) The TiO₂ gel would have a potential to be used in the indoor environment for preventing mold growth in warm, humid climates. Under UV light irradiation, the TiO₂ gel achieved complete mold/mildew inhibition. The optimized condition for the complete prevention of mold growth was the TiO₂ gel with 1g TiO₂ (P25) added in preparation and 8 hours per day UV light exposure at 0.5 mW/cm² intensity. When the TiO₂ gel is applied to the indoor surfaces, the UV light bulb can be installed and turned on for the total 8 hours per day if there are no people in the room such as during the night of office buildings, during the day of residential buildings, and anytime of non-occupancy.
- c) H₂O₂ alone and/or the light irradiation used in the experiment can not resist mold/mildew growth. Without the application of PCO gel and paint samples, no mold/mildew resistance was observed from UV (365 nm) or visible light. H₂O₂ alone could not be preserved on the filter papers after the drying period, also exhibiting no mold/mildew resistance.
- d) The addition of 3% H₂O₂ made no difference to the mold/mildew resistance of PCO gels. Whereas, 35% H₂O₂ promoted the mold/mildew resistance of many kinds of PCO gels in the condition of no light or visible light. With the addition of 35% H₂O₂ in PCO gels, the adsorbed H₂O₂ on the surface of semiconductors (TiO₂ or Ag-TiO₂) survived through the drying period of filter papers, resulting in the antifungal effect by H₂O₂ itself and the activation of semiconductors for visible light activity. In the experiment, the addition of 35% H₂O₂ in PCO gels extended the mold/mildew inhibition period. Meanwhile, the longer delay period on mold growth was found with the TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel under visible light than that



without light, which can be attributed to the visible light response of the TiO_2/H_2O_2 gel induced by the addition of 35% H_2O_2 .

- e) The PCO gels, found effective on mold/mildew resistance, can also be used to reduce the VOC emission from building materials under UV or visible light irradiation. The addition of 35% H₂O₂ that could not only increase the photocatalytic efficiency but also lower the peak VOC concentration is recommended for the reduction of VOC emission from building materials. In the VOC emission test, the reduction of VOC emission from PCO gel (TiO₂ gel an Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel) coated building materials under UV or visible light irradiation was confirmed. With the aid of H₂O₂, the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel exhibited better photocatalytic efficiency on VOC degradation-above 50% reduction of the total VOC emission from both "dry" and "wet" building materials than the TiO₂ gel. Even though the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ observed in the mold experiment under light irradiation could still happen in the VOC emission experiment, Ag-TiO₂ still maintained some photocatalytic activity on VOC degradation under either UV or visible light irradiation.
- f) Two mold/mildew growth models were created based on the regression analysis of the mold experimental data. In the linear regression model for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel and the logistic regression model for the TiO₂ gel, factors are useful for predicting gel performance with the resultant model showing a good agreement with the experimental data. The mold/mildew growth model for the Ag-TiO₂/H₂O₂ gel can predict the critical time for mold growth to show on building materials in mold-favored conditions during emergency situations (such



as a power failure, flood, and hurricane). Also, the mold/mildew growth model for the TiO_2 gel can be used to plan the application of the TiO_2 gel, the installation of UV light bulb and the lighting schedule in the indoor environment. The new VOC model can predict VOC emission reduction from different building materials coated with different PCO gels in different indoor environment conditions.

g) The new VOC emission model was built based on an existing model, considering the PCO gel on the surface of building materials. The new reaction model in the PCO gel is incorporated to obtain better accuracy than the previous VOC emission model in the case of oil-based paint. Langmuir-Hinshelwood model is introduced to describe the PCO reaction in the PCO gel, leading to a better prediction for the long-term VOC emission. The whole reaction period for the PCO gel is divided into three stages: the hydrogen peroxide reaction stage (the early stage), the transition stage, and the photocatalytic reaction stage (the late stage). It provides a way to solve the complicated oxidation process (combining regular oxidation reaction and photocatalytic oxidation reaction) for the PCO gel coated building materials.

8.2. Recommendations

This research proved the potential for PCO technology to solve both the indoor mold/mildew and VOC problems. Since the PCO gel developed as a coating material can be energy-efficient and sustainable, finding a more applicable and realistic solution to those indoor environmental problems involving PCO technology is important and



therefore requires more time and effort. It is highly worth conducting further research for improving PCO gels in resisting mold/mildew growth and preventing VOC emission from building materials.

The following are recommendations for future study.

- a) More stable Ag-TiO₂ or other visible-light-driven photocatalysts are needed, since the deterioration of Ag-TiO₂ was observed in the mold/mildew growth tests along with the decline of photocatalytic efficiency under light irradiation. Visible light is more practical than UV light in the indoor environment. It is worth further investigating deterioration of visible-light-driven photocatalysts.
- b) Further research is required to find a way to stabilize H_2O_2 in the coating material, or more stable substitutes for H_2O_2 need to be explored. The addition of H_2O_2 into photocatalysts was found effective in resisting mold/mildew growth and preventing VOC emission from building materials. However, H_2O_2 is not very stable, leading to the mold/mildew inhibition loss of the PCO gels, eventually.
- c) Modification of the PCO gels is necessary for real applications. Enhancing the holding capacity of the gel for photocatalysts is a way to further increase the mold/mildew resistance. The physical properties of the PCO gels are also required to be improved for better coating and adherance to building materials.
- d) More mold/mildew growth experiments should be performed to obtain more experimental data for improving the mold/mildew growth models. More experimental data means better precision and accuracy for regression analysis. The present errors in the mold/mildew growth models may be reduced.



e) The error in the VOC emission model between 4 and 22 hours of the VOC emission tests demands further investigation, even though the total accuracy of the new VOC emission model is much better than the previous one. The possible reasons for this error include the unstable chamber concentration at the beginning, the unknown hydrogen peroxide diminishing rate, the unverified time for reaction transition process, the assumed linear correlation of the reaction constant and time in the transition stage, and/or the deactivation of the photocatalyst under the high VOC concentration.



Reference

- Abramovic B.F., Sojic D.V., Anderluh V.B., Abazovic N.D., and Comor M.I., Nitrogendoped TiO₂ suspensions in photocatalytic degradation of mecoprop and (4-chloro-2methylphenoxy) acetic acid herbicides using various light sources, *Desalination*, 244, 293–302, 2009.
- Abuabara S.G., Cady C.W., Baxter J.B., Schmuttenmaer C.A., Crabtree R.H., Brudvig G.W., and Batista V.S., Ultrafast photooxidation of Mn(II)-Terpyridine complexes covalently attached to TiO₂ nanoparticles, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 111, 11982–11990, 2007.
- Al-Sayyed G., D'Oliveira J.C., and Pichat P., Semiconductor-sensitized photodegradation of 4-chlorophenol in water, J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem., 58, 99-114, 1991.
- Alberici R.M. and Jardim W.E., Photocatalytic destruction of VOCs in the gas-phase using titanium dioxide, *Applied Catalysis B-Environmental*, 14, 55-68, 1997.
- Alfano O.M., Bahnemann D., Cassano A.E., Dillert R., and Goslich R., Photocatalysis in water environments using artificial and solar light, *Catalysis Today*, 58, 199-230, 2000.
- Albert M., Gao Y.M., Toft D., Dwight K., and Wold A., Photoassisted gold deposition on titanium dioxide, *Mater.Res. Bull.*, 27, 961, 1992.
- Amadelli R., Argazzi R., Bignozzi C. A., and Scandola F., Design of antenna-sensitizer polynuclear complexes. Sensitization of titanium dioxide with [Ru(bpy)₂(CN)₂] ₂RU(bPY(COO)₂) 2²⁻, J. Am. Chem. Soc, 112, 7099-7103, 1990.
- Ananpattarachai J., Kajitvichyanukul P., and Seraphin S., Visible light absorption ability and photocatalytic oxidation activity of various interstitial N-doped TiO₂ prepared from different nitrogen dopants, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 168, 253–261, 2009.
- Andersson M.A., Nikulin M., Koljalg U., Andersson M.C., Rainey F., Reijula K., Hintikka E.L., and Salkinoja-Salonen M., Bacteria, molds, and toxins in waterdamaged building materials, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 63(2), 387-393, 1997.
- Anpo M., Photocatalysis on titanium oxide catalysts: Approaches in achieving highly efficient reactions and realizing the use of visible light, *Catal. Surv. Jpn.*, 1, 169, 1997.
- Anpo M., Ichihashi Y., Takeuchi M., and Yamashita H., Design of unique titanium oxide photocatalysts by an advanced metal ion-implantation method and photocatalytic reactions under visible light irradiation, *Res. Chem. Intermed.*, 24 (2), 143-149, 1998.
- Aoki K., Morikawa T., Ohwaki T., and Taga Y., Photocatalytic degradation of formaldehyde and toluene mixtures in air with a nitrogen-doped TiO₂ photocatalyst, *Chemistry Letters*, 35(6), 616-617, 2006.



145

- Aringoli E.E., de la Luz M., Basilico Z., Altahus R.L., and Basilico J.C., Multivariate analysis of fungal associations in the indoor air of Argentinean houses, *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 62, 281-286, 2008.
- Asahi R., Morikawa T., and Ohwaki T., Visible-light photocatalysis in nitrogen-doped titanium oxides, *Science*, 293, 269–271, 2001.
- ASTM, Standard guide for small-scale environmental chamber determinations of organic emissions from indoor materials/products, American Society for Testing and Materials International, (ASTM D 5116-06), *Philadelphia*, *PA*. 2006.
- ASTM, Standard test method for determining the resistance of paint films and related coatings to fungal defacement by accelerated four-week agar plate assay, American Society for Testing and Materials International, (ASTM D 5590-00), Philadelphia, PA. 2005.
- Augugliaro V., Coluccia S., Loddo V., Marchese L., Martra G., Palmisano L., and Schiavello M., Photocatalytic oxidation of gaseous toluene on anatase TiO₂ catalyst: mechanistic aspects and FT-IR investigation, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 20, 15-27, 1999.
- Augugliaro V., Palmisano L., Schiavello M., Sclafani A., Marchese L., Martra G., and Miano F., Photocatalytic degradation of nitrophenols in aqueous titanium dioxide dispersion, *Applied Catalysis*, 69, 323-340, 1991.
- Augugliaro V., Davi E., Palmisano L., Schiavello M., and Sclafani A., Influence of hydrogen peroxide on the kinetics of phenol photodegradation in aqueous titanium dioxide dispersion, *Applied Catalysis*, 65, 101-116, 1990.
- Augugliaro V., Davi E., Palmisano L., Schiavello M., and Sclafani A., in (Orio A.A. Eds), *Environmental Contamination*, CEP Consultants, Edinburgh, 206, 1988a.
- Augugliaro V., Palmisano L., Sclafani A., Minero C., and Pelizzetti E. Photocatalytic degradation of phenol in aqueous titanium dioxide dispersions. *Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry*, 16, 89-109, 1988b.
- Bacsa R., Kiwi J., Ohno T., Albers P., and Nadtochenko V., Preparation, testing and characterization of doped TiO₂ active in the peroxidation of biomolecules under visible light, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 109, 5994-6003, 2005.
- Bae E., and Choi W., Highly enhanced photoreductive degradation of perchlorinated compounds on dye-sensitized metal/TiO₂ under visible light, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 37(1), 147-152, 2003.
- Bae E., Choi W., Park J., Shin H.S., Kim S.B., and Lee J.S., Effects of surface Anchoring groups (carboxylate vs phosphonate) in ruthenium-complex-sensitized TiO₂ on visible light reactivity in aqueous suspensions, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 108, 14093-14101, 2004.



- Bae S.W., Borse P.H., Hong S.J., Jang J.S., and Lee J.S., Photophysical properties of nanosized metal-doped TiO₂ photocatalyst working under visible light, *J. of the Korean Physical Society*, 51, 922-926, 2007.
- Bahnemann D., Bockelmann D., and Goslich R., Mechanistic studies of water detoxification in illuminated TiO₂ suspensions, *Solar Energy Materials*, 24, 564-583, 1991.
- Balcerski W., Ryu S.Y., and Hoffmann M.R., Visible-light photoactivity of nitrogendoped TiO₂: Photo-oxidation of HCO₂H to CO₂ and H₂O, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 111, 15357-15362, 2007.
- Banerjee S., Mohapatra S.K., Das P.P., and Misra M. Synthesis of coupled semiconductor by filling 1D TiO₂ nanotubes with CdS, *Chem. Mater.*, 20, 6784–6791, 2008.
- Barbeni M., Pramauro E., and Pelizzetti E. Photodegradation of 4-chlorophenol catalyzed by titanium dioxide particles, *Nouveau Journal de Chimie*, 8, 547-550, 1984.
- Barraud E., Bosc F., Edwards D., and Keller N., Gas phase photocatalytic removal of toluene effluents on sulfated Titania, *J. Catal.*, 235, 318–326, 2005.
- Batzill M., Morales E. H., and Diebold U., Influence of nitrogen doping on the defect formation and surface properties of TiO₂ rutile and anatase, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 96(2), 026103, 2006.
- Benabbou A.K., Derriche Z., Felix C., Lejeune P., and Guillard C., Photocatalytic inactivation of *Escherischia coli*: Effect of concentration of TiO₂ and microorganism, nature, and intensity of UV irradiation, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 76(3-4), 257-263, 2007.
- Bengtsson N., Castellote M., Lopez-Munoz M.J., and Cerro L., Preparation of co-doped TiO₂ for photocatalytic degradation of NO_x in air under visible light, *J. Adv. Oxid Technol.*, 12(1), 55-64, 2009.
- Bessekhouad Y., Robert D., and Weber J.V., Photocatalytic activity of Cu₂O/TiO₂, Bi₂O₃/TiO₂ and ZnMn₂O₄/TiO₂ heterojunctions, *Catalysis Today*, 101, 315–321, 2005.
- Bessekhouad Y., Robert D., and Weber J.V., Bi₂S₃/TiO₂ and CdS/TiO₂ heterojunctions as an available configuration for photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutant, *Photochem. J. Photobiol. A: Chem.*, 163(3), 569-580, 2004.
- Biard, P.F., Bouzaza, A., Wolbert, D., Photocatalytic degradation of two volatile fatty acids in an annular plug-flow reactor kinetic modeling and contribution of mass transfer rate. *Environmental Science & Technology* 41, 2908–2914, 2007.
- Bickley R.I., Munuera G., and Stone F.S., Photoadsorption and photocatalysis at rutile surfaces II. Photocatalytic oxidation of isopropanol, *J. Catal.*, 31, 398, 1973.



- Bickley, R. I. and Stone, F. S., Photoadsorption and photocatalysis at rutile surfaces I. Photoadsorption of oxygen. *J. Catal.*, 31, 389, 1973.
- Blake D.M., Maness P, Huang Z, Wolfrum E.J., and Huang J, Application of the photocatalytic chemistry of titanium dioxide to disinfection and the killing of cancer cells, *Separation and purification methods*, 28 (1), 1-50, 1999.
- Bogomolova E. and Kirtsideli I., Airborne fungi in four stations of the St. Petersburg Underground railway system, *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 63, 156-160, 2009.
- Boonstra A.H. and Mutsaers C., Adsorption of hydrogen-peroxide on surface of titanium dioxide, J. Phys. Chem., 79 (18), 1940-1943, 1975.
- Borgarello E., Kiwi J., Gratzel M., Pelizzetti E., and Visca M., Visible light induced water cleavage in colloidal solutions of chromium-doped titanium dioxide particles, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 104 (11), 2997, 1982.
- Bosc F., Edwards D., Keller N., Keller V., and Ayral A., Mesoporous TiO₂-based photocatalysts for UV and visible light gas-phase toluene degradation, *Thin Solid Films*, 495, 272 279, 2006.
- Bossmann S.H., Turro C., Schnabel C., Pokhrel M.R., JR Payawan L.M., Baumeister B., and Worner M., Ru(bpy)₃²⁺/TiO₂-codoped zeolites: synthesis, characterization, and the role of TiO₂ in electron transfer photocatalysis, *J. Phys. Chem.*, 105, 5374–5382, 2001.
- Buzby S., Barakat M.A., Lin H., Ni C., Rykov S.A., Chen J.G., and Ismat S., Visible light photocatalysis with nitrogen-doped titanium dioxide nanoparticles prepared by plasma assisted chemical vapor deposition, *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B*, 24(3), 1210-1214, 2006.
- Cao L., Gao Z., Suib S.L., Obee T.N., Hay S.O., and Freihaut J.D., Photocatalytic oxidation of toluene on nanoscale TiO₂ catalysts: studies of deactivation and regeneration, *Journal of Catalysis*, 196, 253–261, 2000.
- Cao W.B., Wei Y., Li Y.H. and Zhang X.N., Visible-light activity of N-doped TiO₂ powders and their applications, *Materials Science Forum*, 544-545, 167-170, 2007.
- Carneiro J.O., Teixeira V., Portinha A., Dupak L., Magalhaes A. and Coutinho P., Study of the deposition parameters and Fe-dopant effect in the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ films prepared by dc reactive magnetron sputtering, *Vacuum*, 78, 37–46, 2005.
- CDC, Public health response to Hurricanes Katrina and Rita-United States, 2005, Cent. Dis. Control Prev., MMWR, 55, 229-231, 2006.
- CDC, Current trends acute pulmonary hemorrhage among infants-Chicago, April 1992-November 1994. *MMWR*, 44(4), 67-73, 1995.



- Chang J.C.S. and Guo Z.S., Modeling of the fast organic emissions from a woodfinishing product-floor wax, *Atmospheric Environment Part A: General Topics*, 26(13), 2365-2370, 1992.
- Chang M.Y., Hsieh Y.H., Cheng T.C., Yao K.S., Wei M.C., and Chang C.Y., Photocatalytic degradation of 2,4-dichlorophenol wastewater using porphyrin/TiO₂ complexes activated by visible light, *Thin Solid Films*, 517, 3888–3891, 2009.
- Chen C.C., Zhao W., Li J.Y., and Zhao J.C., Formation and Identification of Intermediates in the visible-light-assisted photodegradation of sulforhodamine-B dye in aqueous TiO₂ dispersion, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 36, 3604-3611, 2002.
- Chen D., and Ray A.K., Photocatalytic kinetics of phenol and its derivatives over UV irradiated TiO₂, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 23, 143–157, 1999.
- Chen D.M., Jiang Z.Y., Geng J.Q., Wang Q., and Yang D., Carbon and nitrogen codoped TiO₂ with enhanced visible-light photocatalytic activity, *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 46(9), 2741-2746, 2007d.
- Chen F., Deng Z.G., Li X.P., Zhang J.L., and Zhao J.C., Visible light detoxification by 2,9,16,23-tetracarboxyl phthalocyanine copper modified amorphous Titania, *Chemical Physics Letters*, 415, 85-88, 2005.
- Chen F., Yang X., and Wu Q., Antifungal capability of TiO₂ coated film on moist wood, *Building and Environment*, 44(5), 1088-1093, 2009.
- Chen F., Zhao J.C., and Hidaka H., Adsorption factor and photocatalytic degradation of dye-constituent aromatics on the surface of TiO₂ in the presence of phosphate anions, *Res. Chem. Intermed.*, 29(7-9), 733-748, 2003.
- Chen H.W., Ku Y., and Kuo Y.L., Effect of Pt/TiO₂ characteristics on temporal behavior of o-cresol decomposition by visible light-induced photocatalysis, *Water research*, 41, 2069-2078, 2007a.
- Chen H.W., Ku Y., and Kuo Y.L., Photodegradation of o-cresol with Ag deposited on TiO₂ under visible and uv light irradiation, *Chem. Eng. Technol.*, 30(9), 1242-1247, 2007b.
- Chen J. and Poon C., Photocatalytic construction and building materials: From fundamentals to applications. *Building and Environment*, 44, 1899-1906, 2009.
- Chen S.F., Liu X.Q., Liu Y.Z., and Gao Z.Y., The preparation of nitrogen-doped TiO_{2-x}N_x photocatalyst coated on hollow glass microbeads, *Applied Surface Science* 253, 3077–3082, 2007c.
- Chen X.F., Wang X.C., Hou Y.D., Huang J.H., Wu L., and Fu X.Z., The effect of postnitridation annealing on the surface property and photocatalytic performance of N-doped TiO₂ under visible light irradiation, *Journal of Catalysis*, 255, 59-67, 2008.



- Chiou C.H. and Juang R.S., Photocatalytic degradation of phenol in aqueous solutions by Pr-doped TiO₂ nanoparticles, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 149, 1-7, 2007.
- Cho M., Chung H., Choi W., and Yoon J., Linear correlation between inactivation of *E*coli and OH radical concentration in TiO₂ photocatalytic disinfection, *Water Research*, 38(4), 1069-1077, 2004.
- Choi H., Antoniou M.G., Pelaez M., De La Cruz A.A, Shoemaker J.A., and Dionysiou D.D., Mesoporous nitrogen-doped TiO₂ for the photocatalytic destruction of the cyanobacterial toxin microcystin-lr under visible light irradiation, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41, 7530-7535, 2007.
- Choi J.W., Lee S.E., Lee B.G., Jeong Y.S., Oh H.J., and Chi C.S., Purifying behavior of photocatalytic TiO₂ anodized in nitrate ion containing solution, *Trans. Nonferrous Met. Soc. China*, 19, 1027-1030, 2009.
- Clausen P.A., Laursen B., Wolkoff P., Rasmusen E., and Nielsen P.A., Emission of volatile organic compounds from a vinyl floor covering. In: Nagda, N.L. (Ed.), *Modeling of Indoor Air Quality and Exposure*, ASTM STP 1205. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA, 3–13, 1993.
- Codina R., Fox R.W., Lockey R.F., DeMarco P., and Bagg A., Typical levels of airborne fungal spores in houses without obvious moisture problems during a rainy season in Florida, USA, *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol*, 18(3), 156-162, 2008.
- Cojocaru B., Neatu S., Parvulescu V.I., Somoghi V., Petrea N., Epure G., Alvaro M. and Garcia H., Synergism of activated carbon and undoped and nitrogen-doped TiO₂ in the photocatalytic degradation of the chemical warfare agents soman, vx, and yperite, *Chem. SusChem.*, 2, 427-436, 2009.
- Cui R.H., Jiang Z.H., and Yao Z.P., Influence of Cu²⁺ doping on the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ film, *Key Engineering Materials*, 368-372 (1483-1485), 2008.
- D'Hennezel O., Pichat P., and Ollis D. F., Benzene and toluene gas-phase photocatalytic degradation over H₂O and HCL pretreated TiO₂: by-products and mechanisms, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 118, 197-204, 1998.
- D'Orazio M., Palladini M., Aquilanti L., and Clementi F., Experimental evaluation of the growth rate of mould on finishes for indoor housing environments: Effects of the 2002/91/EC directive, *Building and Environment*, 44, 1668–1674, 2009.
- Dassonville C., Demattei C., Detaint B., Barral S., Bex-Capelle V., and Momas I., Assessment and predictors determination of indoor airborne fungal concentrations in Paris newborn babies' homes, *Environmental Research*, 108, 80-85, 2008.
- Davidson R.S. and Pratt J.E., The titanium dioxide sensitized photo-oxidation of sulphides, *Tetrahedron Letters*, 24, 52, 5903-5906, 1983.



- Davis R.J., Gainer J.L., O'Neal G., and Wu I., Photocatalytic decolorization of wastewater dyes, *Water Environment Research*, 66(1), 50-53, 1994.
- Deng P.C., Wang H.Z., Sun B.W., Fan L.X., and Li L., Hydrothermal preparation and photocatalytic performance of (I₂)_n sensitized and I (v) doped TiO₂ supported on SiO₂, *J. Adv. Oxid. Technol.* 12(2), 226, 2009.
- Desilvestro, J., Graetzel, M., Kavan, L., and Moser, J., Highly efficient sensitization of titanium dioxide, *J. Am. Chem. Soc,* 107, 2988, 1985.
- Devi L.G., Murthy B.N., and Kumar S.G., Photocatalytic activity of V⁵⁺, Mo⁶⁺ and Th⁴⁺ doped polycrystalline TiO₂ for the degradation of chlorpyrifos under UV/solar light, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 308, 174-181, 2009a.
- Devi L.G., Murhty B.N., and Kumar S.G., Photocatalytic degradation of imidachloprid under solar light using metal ion doped TiO₂ nano particles: influence of oxidation state and electronic configuration of dopants, *Catal. Lett.*, 130, 496–503, 2009b.
- Dibble L.A., and Raupp G.B., Kinetics of the gas-solid heterogeneous photocatalytic oxidation of trichloroethylene by near UV illuminated titanium dioxide, *Catalysis Letters*, 4, 345-354,1990.
- Dieckmann M.S. and Gray K.A., A comparison of the degradation of 4-nitrophenol via direct and sensitized photocatalysis in TiO₂ slurries, *Wat. Res.*, 30(5), 1169-1183, 1996.
- Do Y.R., Lee W., Dwight K., and Wold A. The effect of WO₃ on the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂, *Journal of Solid State Chemistry*, 108, 198-201, 1994.
- Dong F., Wang H.Q., and Wu Z.B., One-step "green" synthetic approach for mesoporous C-doped titanium dioxide with efficient visible light photocatalytic activity, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 113, 16717–16723, 2009a.
- Dong F., Zhao W.R., Wu Z.B., and Guo S., Band structure and visible light photocatalytic activity of multi-type nitrogen doped TiO₂ nanoparticles prepared by thermal decomposition, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 162, 763–770, 2009b.
- Dozzi M.V., Prati L., Canton P., and Selli E., Effects of gold nanoparticles deposition on the photocatalytic activity of titanium dioxide under visible light. Chem. Phys., 11, 7171–7180, 2009.
- Draper R.B. and Fox M.A., Titanium dioxde photooxidation of thiocyanate. (SCN)⁻ studied by diffuse reflectance flash photolysis, J. Phys. Chem., 94, 4628-4634, 1990a.
- Draper R.B. and Fox M.A., Titanium dioxide photosensitized reactions studied by diffuse reflectance flash photolysis in aqueous suspensions of TiO₂ powder, *Langmuir*, 6, 1396-1402, 1990b.



- Dunn L.E., Models and statistical methods for gaseous emission testing of finite sources in well-mixed chambers. *Atmospheric Environment*, 21, 425-430, 1987.
- Egerton T.A., and Mattinson J.A., The influence of platinum on UV and "visible" photocatalysis by rutile and Degussa P25, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 194, 283–289, 2008.
- Emeline A.V., Sheremetyeva N.V., Khomchenko N.V., Ryabchuk V.K., and Serphone N., Photoinduced formation of defects and nitrogen stabilization of color centers in ndoped titanium dioxide, J. Phys. Chem. C, 111, 11456, 2007.
- Enea O., Moser J., and Grstzel M., Achievement of incident photon to electric current conversion yields exceeding 80% in the spectral sensitization of titanium dioxide by coumarin, *J. Eleciroanal. Chem.*, 259, 59-65, 1989.
- Epling G.A. and Lin C., Photoassisted bleaching of dyes utilizing TiO₂ and visible light, *Chemosphere*, 46, 561–570, 2002.
- Etzel R.A., Montana E., Sorenson W.G., Kullman G.J., Allan T.M., and Dearborn D.G., Acute pulmonary hemorrhage in infants associated with exposure to *Stachybotrys atra* and other fungi, *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 152, 757, 1998.
- Feng G.J., Liu S.W., Xiu Z.L., Zhang Y., Yu J.X., Chen Y.G., Wang P., and Yu X.J., Visible light photocatalytic activities of TiO₂ nanocrystals doped with upconversion luminescence agent, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 13692–13699, 2008.
- Formenti M., Juillet F., Meriaudeau P., and Teichner S. J., Heterogenous photocatalysis for partial oxidation of paraffins, *Chem. Technol.*, 1, 680, 1971.
- Frank S. N. and Bard A. J., Heterogeneous photocatalytic oxidation of cyanide ion in aqueous solutions at TiO₂ powder, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 99, 303, 1977.
- Fu H.B., Zhang L.W., Zhang S.C., Zhu Y.F., and Zhao J.C., Electron spin resonance spin-trapping detection of radical intermediates in N-doped TiO₂-assisted photodegradation of 4-chlorophenol, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 3061-3065, 2006.
- Fujihira M., Satoh Y., and Osa T., Heterogeneous photocatalytic oxidation of aromatic compounds on semiconductor materials: The photo-Fenton type reaction, *Chem. Lett.* (*Chem. Soc. Jpn.*), 1053, 1981.
- Fujishima A., Hashimoto K., and Watanabe T., *TiO*₂ photocatalysis: fundamentals and applications. BKC Inc., Japan, 1999.
- Fujishima A., and Honda K., Electrochemical photolysis of water at a semiconductor electrode. *Nature*, 238, 37-38, 1972.
- Fujishima A. and Zhang X.T., Titanium dioxide photocatalysis: present situation and future approaches, C. R. Chimie, 9, 750–760, 2006.



- Furlong, D.N., Wells, D., and Sasse, W.H.F., colloidal semiconductors in systems for the sacrificial photolysis of water - sensitization of TiO₂ by adsorption of ruthenium complexes, *J. Phys. Chem*, 90, 1107, 1986.
- Gao B.F., Ma Y., Cao Y., Yang W.S., and Yao J.N., Great enhancement of photocatalytic activity of nitrogen-doped Titania by coupling with tungsten oxide, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 14391-14397, 2006.
- Gao L., Liu H.Y., and Sun J., The preparation of rutile TiO₂ doped with rare earth metal ions, sulfur and their photocatalytic properties, *Materials Science Forum*, 486-487, 53-56, 2005.
- Gao Y.M., Shen H.S., Dwight K., and Wold A., Preparation and photocatalytic properties of titanium(IV) oxide-films, *Muter. Res. Bull.*, 27, 1023, 1992.
- Ge L. and Xu M.X., Influences of the Pd doping on the visible light photocatalytic activities of InVO₄–TiO₂ thin films, *Materials Science and Engineering B*, 131, 222–229, 2006.
- Ge L., Xu M.X., and Fang H.B., Preparation and characterization of silver and indium vanadate co-doped TiO₂ thin films as visible-light-activated photocatalyst, *J. Sol-Gel. Sc.i Techn.*, 40, 65–73, 2006.
- Georgieva J., Armyanov S., Valova E., Poulios I., and Sotiropoulos S., Enhanced photocatalytic activity of electrosynthesised tungsten trioxide-titanium dioxide bilayer coatings under ultraviolet and visible light illumination, *Electrochemistry Communications*, 9, 365–370, 2007.
- Ghorai T.K., Pramanik S., and Pramanik P., Synthesis and photocatalytic oxidation of different organic dyes by using Mn₂O₃/TiO₂ solid solution and visible light, *Applied Surface Science* 255, 9026–9031, 2009.
- Ghosh, A.K. and Maruska, H.P., Photoelectrolysis of water in sunlight with sensitized semiconductor electrodes, *J. Electrochem. soc.* 124, 1516, 1977.
- Girman, J.R., Volatile organic compounds and building bake-out, in *occupational medicine-state of the art reviews-problem buildings*, In (Cone J.E. and Hodgson M.J., eds), Hanley and Belfus, Philadelphia, 4(4), 695-712, 1989.
- Gombac V., De Rogatis L. Gasparotto A., Vicario G., Montini T., Barreca D., Balducci G., Fornasiero P., Tondello E., and Graziani M., TiO₂ nanopowders doped with boron and nitrogen for photocatalytic applications, *Chemical Physics*, 339(1-3), 111-123, 2007.
- Gomez H., Orellana F., Lizama H., Mansilla H.D., and Dalchiele E.A., Study of phenol photodegradation with TiO₂/-WO₃ coupled semiconductors activated by visible light, *J. Chil. Chem. Soc.* 51(4), 2006.



- Gouvea C.A.K., Wypych F., Moraes S.G., Duran N., Nagata N., and Zamora P.P., Semiconductor-assisted photocatalytic degradation of reactive dyes in aqueous solution, *Chemosphere*, 40, 433-440, 2000.
- Graciani J., Alvarez L.J., Rodriguez J.A., and Sanz J.F., N doping of rutile TiO₂ (110) surface. a theoretical DFT study, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 2624-2631, 2008.
- Grandcolas M., Du M.K., Bosc F., Louvet A., Keller N., and Keller V., Porogen template assisted TiO₂ rutile coupled nanomaterials for improved visible and solar light photocatalytic applications, *Catal. Lett.*, 123, 65-71, 2008.
- Gravesen S., Nielsen P.A., Iversen R., and Nielsen K.F., Microfungal contamination of damp buildings-examples of risk constructions and risk materials, *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107(Supplement 3), 505-508, 1999.
- Gu D.E., Lu Y., Yang B.C., and Hu Y.D., Facile preparation of micro-mesoporous carbon-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts with anatase crystalline walls under template-free condition, *Chemical Communications*, 21, 2453-2455, 2008.
- Guo B., Liu Z., Hong L., Jiang H., and Lee J.Y., Photocatalytic effect of the sol-gel derived nanoporous TiO₂ transparent thin films, *Thin Solid Films*, 479, (1-2), 310-315, 2005.
- Guo Y., Zhang X.W., and Han G.R., Investigation of structure and properties of N-doped TiO₂ thin films grown by APCVD, *Materials Science and Engineering B*, 135, 83–87, 2006.
- Guo Z.H., Review of indoor emission source models. Part 1. Overview, *Environmental Pollution*, 120(3), 533-549, 2002.
- Ha M.G., Jeong E.D., Won M.S., Kim H.G., Pak H.K., Jung J.H., Shon B.H., Bae S.W., and Lee J.S., Electronic band structure and photocatalytic activity of M-doped TiO₂ (M = Co and Fe), *Journal of the Korean Physical Society*, 49, 9675-9679, 2006.
- Haas D., Habib J., Galler H., Buzina W., Schlacher R., Marth E., and Reinthaler F.F., Assessment of indoor air in Austrian apartments with and without visible mold growth, *Atmospheric Environment*, 41, 5192-5201, 2007.
- Hagfeldt A. and Gratzel M., Light-induced redox reactions in nanocrystalline systems, *Chem. Rev.*, 95, 49-68, 1995.
- Hamal D.B., Haggstrom J.A., Marchin G.L., Ikenberry M.A., Hohn K., and Klabunde K.J., A multifunctional biocide/sporocide and photocatalyst based on titanium dioxide (TiO₂) codoped with silver, carbon, and sulfur, *Langmuir*, 26(4), 2805–2810, 2010.
- Han C.H., Li Z.Y., and Shen J.Y., Photocatalytic degradation of dodecylbenzenesulfonate over TiO₂-Cu₂O under visible irradiation, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 168, 215–219, 2009.



- Han J.K., Choi S.M. and Lee G.H., Synthesis and photocatalytic activity of nanocrystalline TiO₂–SrO composite powders under visible light irradiation, *Materials Letters*, 61, 3798–3801, 2007.
- Haruta, M., Size- and support-dependency in the catalysis of gold, *Catal. Today.*, 36, 153-166, 1997.
- Harvey P.R., Rudham R., and Ward S., Photocatalytic oxidation of liquid propan-2-ol by titanium dioxide, *J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans.* 1(79), 1381-1390, 1983.
- Hashimoto K., Sumida K., Kitano S., Yamamoto K., Kondo N., Kera Y., and Kominami H., Photo-oxidation of nitrogen oxide over titanium(IV) oxide modified with platinum or rhodium chlorides under irradiation of visible light or UV light, *Catalysis Today*, 144, 37–41, 2009.
- Hauffe K. and Bode U., photosensitization of charge-transfer across ZnO interfaces by binary dye mixtures, *Faraday Discuss. Chem. Soc.*, 58, 281, 1974.
- He G.Q., Modeling indoor pollutant exposures under different ventilation schemes, Ph.D. thesis, University of Miami, 2003.
- He R.L., Wei Y., and Cao W.B., Sterilization of *E. coli* by Fe-doped TiO₂ modified photocatalytic paint under visible light irradiation, *Key Engineering Materials*, 368-372, 1493-1496, 2008a.
- He Z.Q., Xu X., Song S., Xie L., Tu J.J., Chen J.M., and Yan B., A visible light-driven titanium dioxide photocatalyst codoped with lanthanum and iodine: an application in the degradation of oxalic acid, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 16431-16437, 2008b.
- Heller A, Chemistry and application s of photocatalytic oxidation of thin organic films, *Acc. Chem. Res.*, 28, 503-508, 1995.
- Hidaka H., Ihara K., Fujita Y., Yamada S., Pelizzetti E., and Serpone N., photodegradation of surfactants IV: photodegradation of non-ionic surfactants in aqueous titanium dioxide suspensions, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology*, *A: Chemistry*, 42, 375-381, 1988a.
- Hidaka H., Kubota H., Gratzel M., Pelizzetti E., and Serpone N., Photodegradation of surfactants II: degradation of sodium dodecylbenzene sulphonate catalysed by titanium dioxide particles, *Journal of photochemistry*, 35, 219-230, 1988b.
- Higashimoto S., Tanihata W., Nakagawa Y., Azuma M., Ohue H., and Sakata Y., Effective photocatalytic decomposition of VOC under visible-light irradiation on N-doped TiO₂ modified by vanadium species, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 340, 98-104, 2008.



- Hirakawa T. and Nosaka Y., Selective production of superoxide ions and hydrogen peroxide over nitrogen- and sulfur-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts with visible light in aqueous suspension systems, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 15818-15823, 2008.
- Hodak J., Quinteros C., Litterb M.I. and Roman E.S., Sensitization of TiO₂ with phthalocyanines Part1: Photo-oxidations using hydroxoaluminium tricarboxymonoamidephthalocyanine adsorbed on TiO₂, *J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans.*, 92(24), 5081-5088, 1996.
- Hoffmann M.R., Martin S.T., Choi W.Y., and Bahneman D.W., Environmental applications of semiconductor photocatalysis, *Chem. Rev.*, 95, 69-96, 1995.
- Hong X.T., Wang Z.P.G, Cai W.M., Lu F., Zhang J., Yang Y.Z., Ma N., and Liu Y.J., Visible-light-activated nanoparticle photocatalyst of iodine-doped titanium dioxide, *Chem. Mater.*, 17, 1548-1552, 2005.
- Hosmer D.W. and Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression, Wiley, New York, 2000.
- Hou X.G., Huang M.D., Wu X.L., and Liu A.D., Preparation and studies of photocatalytic silver-loaded TiO₂ films by hybrid sol–gel method, *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 146, 42-48, 2009.
- Hou X.G. and Liu A.D., Modification of photocatalytic TiO₂ thin films by electron beam irradiation, *Radiation Physics and Chemistry* 77, 345-351, 2008.
- Houlihan, J.F., Armitage, D.B., Hoovler, T., Bonaquist, D., Madacsi, D.P., and Mulay, L.N., Doped polycrystalline TiO₂ electrodes for the photo-assisted electrolysis of water, *Mater. Res. Bull*, 13, 1205, 1978.
- Houskova V., Stengl V., Bakardjieva S., Murafa N., and Tyrpekl V., Efficient gas phase photodecomposition of acetone by Ru-doped Titania, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 89, 613–619, 2009.
- Hu C., Guo J., Qu J.H., and Hu X.X., Photocatalytic Degradation of pathogenic bacteria with AgI/TiO₂ under visible light irradiation, *Langmuir*, 23, 4982-4987, 2007.
- Hu C., Lan Y.Q., Qu J.H., Hu X.X., and Wang A.M., Ag/AgBr/TiO₂ Visible light photocatalyst for destruction of azodyes and bacteria, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 4066-4072, 2006.
- Huang H.Y., Model of volatile organic compounds emission from dry building materials, *Building and Environment*, 37,1349-1360, 2002.
- Hukka A. and Viitanen H., A mathematical model of mold growth on wooden material, *Wood Science and Technology*, 33(6), 475-85, 1999.
- Hunter A., Grant C., Flannigan B., and Bravery A.F., Mold in buildings: the air spora of domestic dwellings. *International Biodeterioration*, 24 (2), 81-101, 1988.



- Hupka J., Zaleska A., Janczarek M., Kowalska E., Gorska P., and Aranowski R., UV/vis light-enhanced photocatalysis for water treatment and protection, viable methods of soil and water pollution monitoring, *Protection and remediation*, 69, 351-367, 2006.
- Ibusuki T. and Takeuchi K., Removal of low concentration nitrogen oxides through photoassisted heterogeneous catalysis, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis*, 88, 93-102, 1994.
- Ibusuki T. and Takeuchi K. Toluene oxidation on U.V. irradiated titanium dioxide with and without O₂, NO₂ or H₂O at ambient temperature, *Atmospheric Environment*, 20(9), 1711-1715, 1986.
- Ihara T., Miyoshi M., Ando M., Sugihara S., and Iriyama Y., Preparation of a visiblelight-active TiO₂ photocatalyst by RF plasma treatment, *Journal Of Materials Science*, 36, 4201-4207, 2001.
- Institute of Medicine, *Damp indoor spaces and health*. National Academies Press, Washington, D.C., 2004.
- Iliev V., Phthalocyanine-modified Titania—catalyst for photooxidation of phenols by irradiation with visible light, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 151, 195-199, 2002.
- Iliev V. and Tomova D., Photocatalytic oxidation of sulfide ion catalyzed by phthalocyanine modified Titania, *Catalysis Communications*, 3, 287-292, 2002.
- Iliev V., Tomova D., Bilyarska L., Prahov L., and Petrov L., Phthalocyanine modified TiO₂ or WO₃ catalysts for photooxidation of sulfide and thiosulfate ions upon irradiation with visible light, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 159, 281–287, 2003.
- Ireland J.C., Klostermann P., Rice E.W., and Clark R.M., Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* by titanium dioxide photocatalytic oxidation, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59(5), 1668-1670, 1993.
- Irie H., Washizuka S., and Hashimoto K., Hydrophilicity on carbon-doped TiO₂ thin films under visible light, *Thin Solid Films*, 510, 21-25, 2006.
- Irie H., Watanabe Y. and Hashimoto K., Nitrogen-concentration dependence on photocatalytic activity of TiO_{2-x}N_x powders, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 107, 5483, 2003.
- Irokawa Y., Morikawa T., Aoki K., Kosaka S., Ohwaki T., and Taga Y., Photodegradation of toluene over TiO_{2-x}N_x under visible light irradiation, *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.*, 8, 1116–1121, 2006.
- Ishibai Y., Sato J., Akita S., Nishikawa T., and Miyagishi S., Photocatalytic oxidation of NO_x by Pt-modified TiO₂ under visible light irradiation, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 188, 106–111, 2007.



- Izumi Y., Konishi K., Obaid D. M., Miyajima T., and Yoshitake H., X-ray absorption fine structure combined with X-ray fluorescence spectroscopy: monitoring of vanadium sites in mesoporous titania, excited under visible light by selective detection of vanadium K beta(5,2) fluorescence, *Anal. Chem.*, 79, 6933-6940, 2007.
- Jacoby W.A., Blake D.M., Noble R.D., and Koval C.A., Kinetics of the oxidation of trichloroethylene in air via heterogeneous photocatalysis, *Journal of Catalysis* 157, 87-96, 1995.
- Jakob M., Levanon H., and Kamat P.V., Charge distribution between UV-irradiated TiO₂ and gold nanoparticles: determination of shift in fermi level, *Nano. Lett.*, 3(3), 353-358, 2003.
- James J.P., VOC emission reduction using a novel photocatalytic polyethylene glycol gel, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Miami, 2005.
- Janus M., Inagaki M., Tryba B., Toyoda M., and Morawski A.W., Carbon-modified TiO₂ photocatalyst by ethanol carbonization, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 63, 272-276, 2006.
- Jo W.K. and Kim J.T., Application of visible-light photocatalysis with nitrogen-doped or unmodified titanium dioxide for control of indoor-level volatile organic compounds, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 164, 360-366, 2009.
- Kafizas A., Kellici S., Darr J. A., and Parkin I. P., Titanium dioxide and composite metal/metal oxide Titania thin films on glass: A comparative study of photocatalytic activity, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 204, 183-190, 2009.
- Kang I.C., Zhang Q.W., Kano J.Y., Yin S., Sato T., and Saito F., Synthesis of nitrogen doped TiO₂ by grinding in gaseous NH₃, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 189, 232-238, 2007.
- Kang I.C., Zhang Q.W., Yin S., Sato T., and Saito F., Improvement in photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ under visible irradiation through addition of N-TiO₂, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42, 3622-3626, 2008.
- Kaur S. and Singh V., Visible light induced sonophotocatalytic degradation of Reactive Red dye 198 using dye sensitized TiO₂, *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 14, 531-537, 2007.
- Keller N., Barraud E., Bosc F., Edwards D., and Keller V., On the modification of photocatalysts for improving visible light and UV degradation of gas-phase toluene over TiO₂, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 70, 423-430, 2007.



- Kikuchi Y., Sunada K., Iyoda T., Hashimoto K., Fujishima A., Photocatalytic bactericidal effect of TiO₂ thin films: dynamic view of the active oxygen species responsible for the effect, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 106, 51–56, 1997.
- Kim S., Hwang S. J., and Choi W., Visible light active platinum-ion-doped TiO₂ photocatalyst, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 109, 24260-24267, 2005.
- Kitano M., Funatsu K., Matsuoka M., Ueshima M. and Anpo M., Preparation of nitrogensubstituted TiO₂ thin film photocatalysts by the radio frequency magnetron sputtering deposition method and their photocatalytic reactivity under visible light irradiation, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 25266-25272, 2006.
- Klauson D., Portjanskaja E., and Preis S., Visible light-assisted photocatalytic oxidation of organic pollutants using nitrogen-doped Titania, *Environ Chem Lett*, 6, 35–39, 2008.
- Knabb R.D., Rhome J.R., Brown D.P. Natl. Hurric. Cent, Tropical cyclone report: Hurricane Katrina, Natl. Ocean. Atmos. Adm., Natl. Weather Serv., Natl. Hurric. Cent., Miami, FL, 23–30, August 2005.
- Kormann C., Bahnemann D.W., and Hoffmann M.R., Photolysis of chloroform and other organic molecules in aqueous TiO₂ suspensions, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 25, 494-500, 1991.
- Kosowska B., Mozia S., Morawski A. W., Grzmil B., Janus M., and Kaucki K., The preparation of TiO₂ nitrogen doped by calcination of TiO_{2-x}H₂O under ammonia atmosphere for visible light photocatalysis, *Solar Energy Materials & Solar Cells*, 88, 269–280, 2005.
- Kowalska E., Abe R., and Ohtani B., Visible light-induced photocatalytic reaction of gold-modified titanium(IV) oxide particles: action spectrum analysis, *Chem. Commun.*, 241–243, 2009.
- Kozlova E.A., Smirniotis P.G., and Vorontsov A.V., Comparative study on photocatalytic oxidation of four organophosphorus simulants of chemical warfare agents in aqueous suspension of titanium dioxide, *J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem.*, 162, 503–511, 2004.
- Kuang S.Y., Yang L.X., Luo S.L., and Cai Q.Y., Fabrication, characterization and photoelectrochemical properties of Fe₂O₃ modified TiO₂ nanotube arrays, *Applied Surface Science*, 255, 7385-7388, 2009.
- Kumar S., Fedorov A.G., and Gole J.L., Photodegradation of ethylene using visible light responsive surfaces prepared from Titania nanoparticle slurries, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 57, 93-107, 2005.



- Kuo C.S., Tseng Y.H., Huang C.H., and Li Y.Y., Carbon-containing nano-Titania prepared by chemical vapor deposition and its visible-light-responsive photocatalytic activity, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 270, 93-100, 2007.
- Kwon Y.T., Song K.Y., Lee W.I., Choi G.J., and Do Y.R., Photocatalytic behavior of WO₃-loaded TiO₂ in an oxidation reaction, *Journal of Catalysis*, 191, 192-199, 2000.
- Lakshmi S., Renganathan R., Fujita S, Study on TiO₂-mediated photocatalytic degradation of methylene blue, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 88, 163-167, 1995.
- Lam R.C.W., Leung M.K.H., Leung D.Y.C., Vrijmoed L. L.P., Yam W.C., and Ng S.P., Visible-light-assisted photocatalytic degradation of gaseous formaldehyde by parallel-plate reactor coated with Cr ion-implanted TiO₂ thin film, *Solar Energy Materials & Solar Cells*, 91, 54-61, 2007.
- Lee S., Yun C.Y., Hahn M.S., Lee J., and Yi J., Synthesis and characterization of carbondoped Titania as a visible-light-sensitive photocatalyst, *Korean J. Chem. Eng.*, 25(4), 892-896, 2008.
- Lee S.Y., Dancer G.I., Chang S.S., Rhee M.S., and Kang D.H., Efficacy of chlorine dioxide gas against alicyclobacillus acidoterrestris spores on apple surfaces, *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, 10, 364-368, 2006.
- Lee W., Gao Y.M., Dwight K., and Wold A., Preparation and characterization of titanium(IV) oxide photocatalysts, *Mater. Res. Bull.*, 27, 685-692, 1992.
- Leech J.A., Nelson W.C., Burnett R.T., Aaron S., and Raizenne M.E., It's about time: a comparison of Canadian and American time- activity patterns. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, 12, 427-432, 2002.
- Lei E., Xu M.X., Ge L., Tian Y.M., Li Y., and Xu T.T., Preparation and Properties of Titanium Oxide Photocatalyst with visible light activity, *Key Engineering Materials*, 280-283 (377-380), 2005.
- Li D., Chen Z.X., Chen Y.L., Li W.J., Huang H.J., He Y.H., and Fu X.Z., A new route for degradation of volatile organic compounds under visible light: Using the bifunctional photocatalyst Pt/TiO_{2-x}N_x in H₂O₂ atmosphere, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 42, 2130-2135, 2008a.
- Li D., Haneda H., Hishita S., Ohashi N., and Labhsetwar N. K., Fluorine-doped TiO₂ powders prepared by spray pyrolysis and their improved photocatalytic activity for decomposition of gas-phase acetaldehyde, *Journal of Fluorine Chemistry*, 126, 69-77, 2005a.



- Li D., Ohashi N., Hishita S., Kolodiazhnyi T., and Haneda H., Origin of visible-lightdriven photocatalysis: A comparative study on N/F-doped and N-F-codoped TiO₂ powders by means of experimental characterizations and theoretical calculations, *Journal of Solid State Chemistry*, 178(11), 3293-3302, 2005b.
- Li F.B. and Li X.Z., The enhancement of photodegradation efficiency using Pt–TiO₂ catalyst, *Chemosphere*, 48, 1103-1111, 2002.
- Li F.B., Li X.Z., and Hou M.F., Photocatalytic degradation of 2-mercaptobenzothiazole in aqueous La³⁺–TiO₂ suspension for odor control. *Appl. Catal. B*, 48, 185–194, 2004.
- Li G.S., Yu J.C., Zhang D.Q., Hu X.L., and Lau W. M., A mesoporous TiO_{2-x}N_x photocatalyst prepared by sonication pretreatment and in situ pyrolysis, *Separation and Purification Technology*, 67, 152–157, 2009a.
- Li G.S., Zhang D.Q., and Yu J., A new visible-light photocatalyst: CdS quantum dots embedded mesoporous TiO₂, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 43, 7079-7085, 2009c.
- Li J.G., Yang X.J., and Ishigaki T., Urea coordinated titanium trichloride Ti_{III}[OC(NH)₂]₆Cl₃: a single molecular precursor yielding highly visible light responsive TiO₂ nanocrystallites, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 14611-14618, 2006.
- Li J.J., Liu S.Q., He Y.Y., and Wang J.Q., Adsorption and degradation of the cationic dyes over Co doped amorphous mesoporous Titania–silica catalyst under UV and visible light irradiation, *Microporous and Mesoporous Materials*, 115, 416–425, 2008c.
- Li J.X., Xu J.H., Dai W.L., and Fan K.N., Dependence of Ag deposition methods on the photocatalytic activity and surface state of TiO₂ with twistlike helix structure, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 113, 8343–8349, 2009b.
- Li J.X., Xu J.H., Dai W.L., Li H.X and Fan K.N., One-pot synthesis of twist-like helix tungsten–nitrogen-codoped Titania photocatalysts with highly improved visible light activity in the abatement of phenol, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 82, 233–243, 2008b.
- Li Q., Easter N.J., and Shang J.K., As(III) removal by palladium-modified nitrogendoped titanium oxide nanoparticle photocatalyst, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 43, 1534– 1539, 2009d.
- Li Q. and Shang J.K., Heavily nitrogen-doped dual-phase titanium oxide thin films by reactive sputtering and rapid thermal annealing, *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.*, 91(10), 3167-3172, 2008.
- Li Q., Xie R., Mintz E.A., and Shang J. K., Enhanced visible-light photocatalytic degradation of humic acid by palladium-modified nitrogen-doped titanium oxide, *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.*, 90(12), 3863-3868, 2007.



- Li X.Z., Chen C.C., and Zhao, J.C., Mechanism of photodecomposition of H₂O₂ on TiO₂ surfaces under visible light irradiation, *Langmuir*, 17(13), 4118-4122, 2001.
- Li X.Z., Liu G.M., and Zhao J.C., Two competitive primary processes in the photodegradation of cationic triarylmethane dyes under visible irradiation in TiO₂ dispersions, *New J. Chem.*, 23, 1193-1196, 1999.
- Li Y., Ma M.Y., Wang X.H., and Wang X.H., Inactivated properties of activated carbonsupported TiO₂ nanoparticles for bacteria and kinetic study, *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 20(12), 1527-1533, 2008e.
- Li Y.Z., Zhang H., Hu X.L., Zhao X.J., and Han M., Efficient visible-light-induced photocatalytic activity of a 3D-ordered titania hybrid photocatalyst with a core/shell structure of dye-containing polymer/titania, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 14973–14979, 2008d.
- Lin J. and Yu J.C., An inversigation on photocatalytic activities of mixed TiO₂-rare earth oxides for the oxidation of acetone in air, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry* 116, 63-67, 1998.
- Lin L., Lin W., Xie J.L., Zhu Y.X., Zhao B.Y., and Xie Y.C., Photocatalytic properties of phosphor-doped Titania nanoparticles, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 75, 52– 58, 2007.
- Ling Q.C., Sun J.Z., and Zhou Q.Y., Preparation and characterization of visible-lightdriven titania photocatalyst co-doped with boron and nitrogen, Applied Surface Science, 254(10), 3236-3241, 2008.
- Ling Y.H., Jiang W.F., Wu X.M., and Bai X.D., Preparation and visible light photocatalytic properties of (Er, La, N)-codoped TiO₂ nanotube array films, *J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol.*, 9(2), 714-717. 2009.
- Litter M.I., Heterogeneous photocatalysis Transition metal ions in photocatalytic systems, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 23, 89-114, 1999.
- Little J.C., Hodgson A.T., and Gadgil A.J., Modeling emissions of volatile organic compounds from new carpets, *Atmospheric Environment*, 28(2), 227-234, 1994.
- Liu B., Yin S., Li R.X., Wang Y.H., and Sato T., Promotion of photocatalytic activity of Titania by the combination with nitrogen-doped Titania, *Journal of the Ceramic Society of Japan*, 115 (11), 692-696, 2007a.
- Liu B.S., Zhao X.J., Zhang N.Z., Zhao Q.N., He X., and Feng J.Y., Photocatalytic mechanism of TiO₂–CeO₂ films prepared by magnetron sputtering under UV and visible light, *Surface Science*, 595, 203-211, 2005.



- Liu G., Sun C.H., Yan X.X., Cheng L., Chen Z.G., Wang X.W., Wang L.Z., Smith S. C., Lu G. Q., and Cheng H.M., Iodine doped anatase TiO₂ photocatalyst with ultra-long visible light response: correlation between geometric/electronic structures and mechanisms, *J. Mater. Chem.*, 19, 2822–2829, 2009a.
- Liu G.M., Li X.Z., Zhao J.C., Horikoshi S., and Hidaka H., Photooxidation mechanism of dye alizarin red in TiO₂ dispersions under visible illumination: an experimental and theoretical examination, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 153, 221-229, 2000.
- Liu G.M. and Zhao J.C., Photocatalytic degradation of dye sulforhodamine B: a comparative study of photocatalysis with photosensitization, *New J. Chem.*, 24, 411-417, 2000.
- Liu H.Y. and Gao L., Preparation and properties of nanocrystalline a-Fe₂O₃-sensitized TiO₂ nanosheets as a visible light photocatalyst, *J. Am. Ceram. Soc.*, 89(1), 370-373, 2006.
- Liu H.Y. and Gao L., Codoped rutile TiO₂ as a new photocatalyst for visible light irradiation, *Chemistry Letters*, 33(6), 730, 2004.
- Liu L.F., Barford J., and Yeung K.L., Non-UV germicidal activity of fresh TiO₂ and Ag/TiO₂, *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 21, 700-706, 2009b.
- Liu Z.Q., Li Z.H., Zhou Y.P., and Ge C.C., Preparation and characterization of Ag/TiO₂. _xN_x nanoparticles, *Materials Science Forum*, 534-536, 105-108, 2007b.
- Livraghi S., Chierotti M.R., Giamello E., Magnacca G., Paganini M.C., Cappelletti G., and Bianchi C.L., Nitrogen-doped titanium dioxide active in photocatalytic reactions with visible light: a multi-technique characterization of differently prepared materials, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 17244-17252, 2008.
- Livraghi S., Paganini M.C., Giamello E., Selloni A., Di Valentin C., and Pacchioni G., Origin of photoactivity of nitrogen-doped titanium dioxide under visible light, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 128, 15666-15671, 2006.
- Long M., Cai W.M., Wang Z.P., and Liu G.Z., Correlation of electronic structures and crystal structures with photocatalytic properties of undoped, N-doped and I-doped TiO₂, *Chemical Physics Letters*, 420, 71-76, 2006.
- Lu A.H., Guo Y.J., Liu J., Liu F., Wang C.Q., Li N., and Li Q.R., Photocatalytic effect of nature and modified V-bearing rutile, *Chinese Science Bulletin*, 49(21), 2284-2287, 2004.
- Lu A.H., Li Y., Lu M., Wang C.Q., Yang L., Liu J., Wang Y.H., Wong K.H., and Wong P.K., Photocatalytic oxidation of methyl orange by natural V-bearing rutile under visible light, *Solar Energy Materials & Solar Cells*, 91, 1849-1855, 2007.



- Luo Y and Ollis D.F., Heterogeneous photocatalytic oxidation of trichloroethylene and toluene mixtures in air: kinetic promotion and inhibition, time-dependent catalyst activity, *Journal of Catalysis*, 163, 1-11, 1996.
- Ma T.Y., Cao J.L., Shao G.S., Zhang X.J., and Yuan Z.Y., Hierarchically structured squama-like cerium-doped titania: synthesis, photoactivity, and catalytic CO oxidation, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 113, 16658-16667, 2009.
- Macyk W. and Kisch H., Photosensitization of crystalline and amorphous titanium dioxide by platinum (IV) chloride surface complexes, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 7(9),1862-1867, 2001.
- Maeda M. and Hirota K., Characterization of titanium-tin composite oxide films and their visible-light photocatalytic properties, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 302, 305-308, 2006.
- Maeda M. and Yamada T., Photocatalytic activity of metal-doped titanium oxide films prepared by sol-gel process, *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 61, 755-759, 2007.
- Mahmood T., Chen C.C., Liu L.L., Zhao D., Ma W.H., Lin J., and Zhao J.C., Effect of dye-metal complexation on photocatalytic decomposition of the dyes on TiO₂ under visible irradiation, *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 21, 263-267, 2009.
- Maness P.C., Smolinski S., Blake D.M., Huang Z., Wolfrum E.J., and Jacob W.A., Bactericidal activity of photocatalytic TiO₂ reaction: toward an understanding of it's killing mechanism, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(9), 4094-4098, 1999.
- Marques F.C., Canela M.C., and Stumbo A.M., Use of TiO₂/Cr-MCM-41 molecular sieve irradiated with visible light for the degradation of thiophene in the gas phase, *Catalysis Today*, 133–135, 594–599, 2008.
- Maruska, H.P.and Ghosh, A.K. Transition-metal dopants for extending the response of titanate photoelectrolysis anodes, *Sol. Energy Mater*, 1, 237,1979.
- Masih D., Yoshitake H., and Izumi Y., Photo-oxidation of ethanol on mesoporous vanadium-titanium oxide catalysts and the relation to vanadium(IV) and (V) sites, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 325, 276–282, 2007.
- Matsubara H., Takasa M., Koyama S., Hashimoto K. and Fujishima A., Photoactive TiO₂ containing paper: Preparation and its photocatalytic activity under weak UV light illumination, *Chem. Lett. (Jpn.)*, 24, 767, 1995.
- Matsumoto, Y., Kurimoto J., Amagasaki Y., and Sato E., Visible light response of polycrystalline TiO₂ electrodes, *J. Electrochem.Soc*, 127, 2148, 1980.



- Matsunaga T., Sterilization with particulate photo-semiconductor, J. Antibact Antifung Agents, 13, 211-220, 1985.
- Matsunaga T., Tomoda R., Nakajima T., Nakamura N., and Komine T., Continuoussterilization system that uses photosemiconductor powders, *Applied and environmental microbiology*, June, 1330-1333,1988,
- Matsuoka M. and Anpo M., Review, Local structures, excited states, and photocatalytic reactivities of highly dispersed catalysts constructed within zeolites, *J. Photochem. Photobiol. C: Photochem. Rev.*, 3, 225-252, 2003.
- Matthews R.W., Photooxidative degradation of colored organics in water using supported catalysts TiO₂ on sand, *water research*, 25(10), 1169-1176, 1991.
- Matthews R.W., Solar-electric water purification using photocatalytic oxidation with TiO₂ as a stationary phase, *Solar Energy*, 38(6), 405-413, 1987.
- Matthews R.W., Photocatalytic oxidation of chlorobenzene in aqueous suspensions of titanium dioxide, *Journal of Catalysis*, 97, 565-568, 1986.
- Mazille F., Lopez A., and Pulgarin C., Synergistic effect of TiO₂ and iron oxide supported on fluorocarbon films part 2: Long-term stability and influence of reaction parameters on photoactivated degradation of pollutants, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 90, 321-329, 2009b.
- Mazille F., Schoettl T., and Pulgarin C., Synergistic effect of TiO₂ and iron oxide supported on fluorocarbon films. Part 1: Effect of preparation parameters on photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutant at neutral pH, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 89, 635–644, 2009a.
- McNamara W.R., Snoeberger R.C., Li G.H., Schleicher J.M., Cady C.W., Poyatos M., Schmuttenmaer C.A., Crabtree R.H., Brudvig G.W., and Batista V.S., Acetylacetonate anchors for robust functionalization of TiO₂ nanoparticles with Mn(II)-terpyridine complexes, J. Am. Chem. Soc, 130, 14329-14338, 2008.
- Memming R., Photochemical processes in monomolecular dye layers on SnO₂, *Faraday Discuss., Chem. Soc.*, 58, 261, 1975.
- Menesi J., Kekesi R., Korosi L., Zollmer V., Richardt A., and Dekany I., The effect of transition metal doping on the photooxidation process of titania-clay composites, *International Journal of Photoenergy*, 846304, 2008.
- Menesi J., Kekesi R., Oszko A., Zollmer V., Seemann T., Richardt A., and Dekany I., Photocatalysis on silver-layer silicate/titanium dioxide composite thin films at solid/vapour interface, *Catalysis Today*, 144, 160–165, 2009.



- Meng Y.L., Chen J.S., Wang Y., Ding H.M., and Shan Y.K., (N, F)-codoped TiO₂ nanocrystals as visible light-activated photocatalyst, *Journal of Materials Science & Technology*, 25(1), 73-76, 2009.
- Mills A. and Le Hunte S., An overview of semiconductor photocatalysis, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 108, 1-35, 1997.
- Mills G. and Hoffmann M.R., Photocatalytic degradation of pentachlorophenol on TiO₂ particles-identification of intermediates and mechanism of reaction, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 27(8), 1681-1689, 1993.
- Min S.X., Wang F., and Han Y.Q., An investigation on synthesis and photocatalytic activity of polyaniline sensitized nanocrystalline TiO₂ composites, *J. Mater. Sci.*, 42, 9966–9972, 2007.
- Miyazaki H., Matsui H., Nagano T., Karuppuchamy S., Ito S., and Yoshihara M., Synthesis and electronic behaviors of TiO₂/carbon clusters/Cr₂O₃ composite materials, *Applied Surface Science* 254, 7365–7369, 2008.
- Miller J.D., Haisley P.D., and Reinhardt J.H., Air sampling results in relation to extent of fungal colonization of building materials in some water-damaged buildings, *Indoor Air*, 10, 146-151, 2000.
- Mo J.H., Zhang Y.P., Xu Q.J., Lamson J.J., and Zhao R.Y., Photocatalytic purification of volatile organic compounds in indoor air: A literature review, *Atmospheric Environment*, 43, 2229-2246, 2009.
- Mohammed A.K. and Mckenzie K.T., Photocatalytic degradation of Chicago Sky Blue 6B and Benzopurpurin 4B using titanium dioxide thin film, *J Environ Sci China*. 17(5), 869-872, 2005.
- Mohammed R.M., Characterization and catalytic properties of nano-sized Pt metal catalyst on TiO₂-SiO₂ synthesized by photo-assisted deposition and impregnation methods, *Journal of materials processing technology*, 209, 577–583, 2009.
- Monnier, A. and Augustynski, Hotoelectrolysis of water photoresponses of nickel, chromium and zinc-doped polycrystalline TiO₂ electrodes, *J. the Electrochemical Soc.*, 127, 1576-1579, 1980.
- Montana E., Etzel R.A., Allan T., Horgan T.E., and Dearborn D.G., Envirnomental risk factors associated with pediatric idiopathic pulmonary hemorrhage and hemosiderosis in a Cleveland community, *Pediatrics*, 99(1), 1, 1997.
- Morato J., Mir J., and Codony F., Microbial response to disinfectants in *Handbook of Water and Wastewater Microbiology* (Mara D, and Horan N, eds), Academic Press, Spain, 657-690, 2003.


- Morawski A.W., Janus M. Tryba B., Inagaki M., and Kalucki K., TiO₂-anatase modified by carbon as the photocatalyst under visible light, *C. R. Chimie*, 9(5-6), 800-805, 2006.
- Morikawa T., Irokawa Y., and Ohwaki T., Enhanced photocatalytic activity of TiO_{2-x}N_x loaded with copper ions under visible light irradiation, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 314, 123-127, 2006.
- Morikawa T., Ohwaki T., Suzuki K., Moribe S., and Tero-Kubota S., Visible-lightinduced photocatalytic oxidation of carboxylic acids and aldehydes over N-doped TiO₂ loaded with Fe, Cu or Pt, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 83, 56-62, 2008
- Mrowetz M., Balcerski W., Colussi A.J. and Hoffmann M.R., Oxidative power of nitrogen-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts under visible illumination, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 108(45), 17269-17273, 2004.
- Mrowetz M., Villa A., Prati L., and Selli E., Effects of Au nanoparticles on TiO₂ in the photocatalytic degradation of an azo dye, *Gold Bulletin*, 40(2), 154, 2007.
- Nadtochenko V., Denisov N., Gorenberg A., Kozlov Y., Chubukov P., Rengifo J.A., Pulgarin C., and Kiwi J., Correlations for photocatalytic activity and spectral features of the absorption band edge of TiO₂ modified by thiourea, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 91, 460-469, 2009.
- Nakamura I., Negishi N., Kutsuna S., Ihara T., Sugihara S., and Takeuch K., Role of oxygen vacancy in the plasma-treated TiO₂ photocatalyst with visible light activity for NO removal, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 161, 205-212, 2000.
- Nakamura R., Tanaka T. and Nakato Y., Mechanism for visible light responses in anodic photocurrents at N-doped TiO₂ film electrodes, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 108, 10617-10620, 2004.
- Nambu A., Graciani J. Rodriguez J.A., Wu Q., Fujita E., and Sanz J.F., N doping of TiO₂(110): Photoemission and density-functional studies, J. Chem. Phys., 125(9), 094706, 2006.
- Natori H., Kobayashi K., and Takahashi M., preparation and photocatalytic property of phosphorus-doped TiO₂ particles, *J. Oleo Sci.*, 58 (7), 389-394, 2009.
- Neatu S., Parvulescu V.I., Epure G., Petrea N., Somoghi V., Ricchiardi G., Bordiga S., and Zecchina A., M/TiO₂/SiO₂ (M = Fe, Mn, and V) catalysts in photo-decomposition of sulfur mustard, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 91, 546-553, 2009.
- Negishi N., Iyoda T., Hashimoto K., and Fujishima A., Preparation of transparent TiO₂ thin film photocatalyst and its photocatalytic activity, *Chem. Lett.*, 24, 841-842, 1995.



- Nishijima K., Fujisawa Y., Murakami N., Tsubota T., and Ohno T., Development of an S-doped Titania nanotube (TNT) site-selectively loaded with iron(III) oxide and its photocatalytic activities, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 84, 584-590, 2008.
- Nishijima K., Naitoh H., Tsubota T., and Ohno T., Visible-light-induced hydrophilic conversion of an S-doped TiO₂ thin film and its photocatalytic activity for decomposition of acetaldehyde in gas phase, *Journal of the Ceramic Society of Japan*, 115(5), 310-314, 2007a.
- Nishijima K., Ohtani B., Yan X.L., Kamai T., Chiyoya T., Tsubota T., Murakami N., and Ohno T., Incident light dependence for photocatalytic degradation of acetaldehyde and acetic acid on S-doped and N-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts, *Chemical Physics*, 339, 64-72, 2007b.
- Noguchi D., Kawamata Y., and Nagatomo T., The response of TiO₂ photocatalysts codoped with nitrogen and carbon to visible light, *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, 153(9), D124-D129, 2005.
- Obata K., Irie H., and Hashimoto K., Enhanced photocatalytic activities of Ta, N codoped TiO₂ thin films under visible light, *Chemical Physics*, 339, 124–132, 2007.
- Obee T. And Brown R.T., TiO₂ photocatalysis for indoor air applications: effects of humidity and trace contaminant levels on the oxidation rates of formaldehyde, toluene, and 1,3-butadiene, *Environ. Sci. Technol*, 29, 1223-1231, 1995.
- Ogino C., Dadjour M.F., Iida Y., and Shimizu N., Decolorization of methylene blue in aqueous suspensions of titanium peroxide, *J. Hazard. Mater.*, 153(1-2), 551-556, 2008.
- Ohko Y., Hashimoto K., and Fujishima A., Kinetics of photocatalytic reactions under extremely low-intensity UV illumination on titanium dioxide thin films, *J. Phys. Chem. A*, 101, 8057–8062, 1997.
- Ohko Y., Tryk D.A., Hashimoto K., and Fujishima A., Autoxidation of Acetaldehyde initiated by TiO₂ photocatalysis under weak UV illumination, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 102, 2699-2704, 1998.
- Ohno T., Development of visible light sensitive tio₂ photocatalysts and their sensitization using Fe³⁺ Ions, *J. Jpn. Petrol. Inst.*, 49(4), 168-176, 2006.
- Ohno T., Preparation of visible light active S-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts and their photocatalytic activities, *Water Science and Technology*, 49(4), 159-163, 2004.
- Ohno T., Akiyoshi M., Umebayashi T., Asai K., Mitsui T., and Matsumura M., Preparation of S-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts and their photocatalytic activities under visible light, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 265, 115-121, 2004.



- Ohno T., Masaki Y., Hirayama S., and Matsumura M., TiO₂-photocatalyzed oxidation of 1-decene by H₂O₂ under visible light, *J. Catal.*, 204(1), 163-168, 2001.
- Ohno T., Miyamoto Z., Nishijima K., Kanemitsu H., and Feng X.Y., Sensitization of photocatalytic activity of S⁻ or N-doped TiO₂ particles by adsorbing Fe³⁺ cations, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 302, 62-68, 2006.
- Ohno T., Murakami N., Tsubota T., and Nishimura H., Development of metal cation compound-loaded S-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts having a rutile phase under visible light, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 349, 70-75, 2008.
- Ollis D.F., Pelizzetti E., and Serpone N, Destruction of water contaminants, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 25(9), 1523-1529, 1991.
- Orlov, A., Jefferson, D.A., Macleod, N., and Lambert, R.M., Photocatalytic properties of TiO₂ modified with gold nanoparticles in the degradation of 4-chlorophenol in aqueous solution, *Catal. Lett.*, 92, 41-47, 2004.
- Orlov A., Jefferson, D.A., Tikhov M., and Lambert R.M., Enhancement of MTBE photocatalytic degradation by modification of TiO₂ with gold nanoparticles, *Catal. Comm.*, 8, 821, 2007.
- Osa T. and Fujihira M., photocell using covalently-bound dyes on semiconductor surfaces, *Nature*, 264, 349, 1976.
- Ozaki H., Iwamoto S., and Inoue M., Effects of amount of Si addition and annealing treatment on the photocatalytic activities of N- and Si-codoped titanias under visible-light irradiation, *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 47(7), 2287-2293, 2008.
- Ozaki H., Iwamoto S., and Inoue M., Improved visible-light responsive photocatalytic activity of N and Si co-doped titanias, *Journal of Materials Science*, 42(11), 4009-4017, 2007.
- Palmgren M.S. and Lee L.S., Separation of mycotoxin-containing sources in grain dust and determination of their mycotoxin potential, *Environ. Health Persp.*, 66, 105-108, 1986.
- Palmisano G., Augugliaro V., Pagliaro M., and Palmisano L., Photocatalysis: a promising route for 21st century organic chemistry, *Chem. Commun*, 3425-3437, 2007.
- Papp J., Shen H.S., Kershaw R., Dwight K., and Wold A., Titanium(iv) oxide photocatalysts with palladium, *chemistry of materials*, 5(3), 284-288, 1993.
- Parida K.M., Sahu N., Biswal N.R., Naik B., and Pradhan A.C., Preparation, characterization, and photocatalytic activity of sulfate-modified Titania for degradation of methyl orange under visible light, *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 318, 231-237, 2008.



- Pelizzetti E. and Minero C., Mechanism of the photo-oxidative degradation of organic pollutants over TiO₂ particles, *Electrochemica*. *Acta*, 38(1), 4145, 1993.
- Pena M., Meng X., Korfiatis G.P. and Jing C. Adsorption mechanism of arsenic on nanocrystalline titanium dioxide, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 40, 1257-1262, 2006.
- Peral J., Domenech X., and Ollis D.F., Heterogeneous photocatalysis for purification, decontamination and deodorization of air, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 70, 117-140, 1997.
- Peral J. and Ollis D.F., Heterogeneous photocatalytic oxidation of gas-phase organics for air purification: acetone, 1-butanol, butyraldehyde, formaldehyde, and m-xylene oxidation, *Journal of Catalysis*, 136, 554-565, 1992.
- Pore V., Heikkila M., Ritala M., Leskela M., and Areva S., Atomic layer deposition of TiO_{2-x}N_x thin films for photocatalytic applications, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 177, 68-75, 2006.
- Portela R., Canela M.C., Sanchez B., Marques F.C., Stumbo A.M., Tessinari R.F., Coronado J.M., and Suarez S., H₂S photodegradation by TiO₂/M-MCM-41 (M = Cr or Ce): Deactivation and by-product generation under UV-A and visible light, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 84, 643-650, 2008.
- Portjanskaja E., Stepanova K., Klauson D., and Preis S., The influence of titanium dioxide modifications on photocatalytic oxidation of lignin and humic acids, *Catalysis Today* 144, 26–30,2009.
- Pourabbas B., and Jamshidi B., Preparation of MoS₂ nanoparticles by a modified hydrothermal method and the photo-catalytic activity of MoS₂/TiO₂ hybrids in photo-oxidation of phenol, *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 138, 55-62, 2008.
- Prabakar K., Takahashi T., Nezuka T., Takahashi K., Nakashimab T., Kubota Y., and Fujishima A., Visible light-active nitrogen-doped TiO₂ thin films prepared by DC magnetron sputtering used as a photocatalyst, *Renewable Energy*, 33, 277-281, 2008.
- Proudfoot C.N., *Handbook of Photographic Science and Engineering*, second ed., IS&T, 1997.
- Pruden A.L. and Oilis D.F., Degradation of chloroform by photoasslsted heterogeneous catalysis in dilute aqueous suspensions of titanlum dioxide, *Environ. Scl. Technol.*, 17, 10, 1983.
- Qu P., Zhao J., Shen T., and Hidaka H., TiO₂-assisted photodegradation of dyes: A study of two competitive primary processes in the degradation of RB in an aqueous TiO₂ colloidal solution, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 129, 257-268, 1998.



- Qu X.G., Liu W.X., Ma J., and Cao W.B., Research on photodegradation of formaldehyde by nanocrystalline N-TiO₂ powders under visible light irradiation, *Res. Chem. Intermed*, 35, 313-320, 2009.
- Rabito F.A., Iqbal S., Kiernan, M.P., Holt E., and Chew G.L., Children's respiratory health and mold levels in New Orleans after Katrina: A preliminary look, *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 121, 622-625, 2008.
- Rao Y.F. and Chu W., Reaction mechanism of linuron degradation in TiO₂ suspension under visible light irradiation with the assistance of H₂O₂, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 43, 6183-6189, 2009.
- Rayalu S.S., Dubey N., Chatti R.V., Joshi M.V., Labhsetwar N.K., and Devotta S., Effect of heteropolyacid and its route of incorporation on the photocatalytic properties of zeolite-based materials, *Current Science*, 93(10), 25, 2007.
- Reddy B.M., Khan A., Yamada Y., Kobayashi T., Lordant S., and Volta J.C., Structural characterization of CeO₂-TiO₂ and V₂O₅/CeO₂-TiO₂ catalysts by raman and XPS techniques. *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 107, 5162–5167, 2003.
- Reddy E.P., Davydov L., and Smirniotis P.G., Synthesis and characterization of TiO₂ loaded Cr-MCM-41 catalysts, *Journal of Nanoporous Materials III*, Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Nanoporous Materials, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, 487-494, 2002.
- Reddy E.P., Sun B., and Smirniotis P.G., Transition metal modified TiO₂-loaded MCM-41 catalysts for visible- and uv-light driven photodegradation of aqueous organic pollutants, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 108, 17198–17205, 2004.
- Rengifo-Herrera J.A., Pierzchaa K., Sienkiewicz A., Forro L., Kiwi J., and Pulgarin C., Abatement of organics and *Escherichia coli* by N, S co-doped TiO₂ under UV and visible light: Implications of the formation of singlet oxygen (¹O₂) under visible light, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 88, 398-406, 2009.
- Reyes-Garcia E.A., Sun Y.P., and Raftery D., Solid-state characterization of the nuclear and electronic environments in a boron-fluoride co-doped TiO₂ visible-light photocatalyst, *Journal of Physical Chemistry C*, 111(45), 17146-17154, 2007.
- Riggs M.A., Rao C.Y., Brown C.M., Van Sickle D.V., and Cummings K.J., Resident cleanup activities, characteristics of flood-damaged homes and airborne microbial concentrations in New Orleans, Louisiana, October. *Environ. Res.* 106, 401–409, 2005.
- Rincon A.G. and Pulgarin C., Photocatalytical inactivation of *E. coli*: effect of (continuous–intermittent) light intensity and of (suspended–fixed) TiO₂ concentration, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 40(3), 263-284, 2003.



- Rodrigues S, Ranjit KT, Uma S, Martyanov IN, Klabunde KJ, Single-step synthesis of a highly active visible-light photocatalyst for oxidation of a common indoor air pollutant: Acetaldehyde, *Advanced Materials*, 17(20), 2467, 2005.
- Rupa A.V., Manikandan D., Divakar D., and Sivakumar T., Effect of deposition of Ag on TiO₂ nanoparticles on the photodegradation of Reactive Yellow-17, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 147, 906–913, 2007.
- Saito T., Iwase T., Horie J., and Morioka T., Mode of photocatalytic bactericidal action of powdered semiconductor TiO₂ on mutans streptococci, *J Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol.*, 14, 369-379, 1992.
- Sathish M., Viswanathan B., and Viswanath R.P., Characterization and photocatalytic activity of N-doped TiO₂ prepared by thermal decomposition of Ti–melamine complex, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 74, 307-312, 2007.
- Sathish, M., Viswanath, R.P., and Gopinath C.S., N,S-co-doped TiO₂ nanophotocatalyst: synthesis, electronic structure and photocatalysis, *Journal of Nanoscience And Nanotechnology*, 9(1), 423-432, 2009.
- Sato S., Photocatalytic activity of NO_x-doped TiO₂ in the visible light region, *Chemical Physics Letters*, 123(1), 126-128, 1986.
- Sato S., Nakamura R., and Abe S., Visible-light sensitization of TiO₂ photocatalysts by wet-method N doping, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 284, 131-137, 2005.
- Sauer M.L. and Ollis D.F., Photocatalyzed oxidation of ethanol and acetaldehyde in humidified air, *Journal Of Catalysis*, 158, 570-582, 1996.
- Sauer M.L. and Ollis D.F., Acetone oxidation in a photocatalytic monolith reactor, *Journal of Catalysis*, 149, 81–91, 1994.
- Sayılkan F., Asilturk M., Tatar P., Kiraz N., Arpac E., and Sayılkan H., Preparation of reusable photocatalytic filter for degradation of Malachite Green dye under UV and visirradiation, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 148, 735-744, 2007.
- Sclafani A., Palmisano L., and Davi E., Photocatalytic degradation of phenol in aqueous polycrystalline TiO₂ dispersions: the influence of Fe³⁺, Fe²⁺ and Ag⁺ on the reaction rate, *J. Photochem. Phorobiol. A: Chem.*, 56, 113-123,1991.
- Sclafani A., Palmisano L., and Schiavello M., N₂ photoreduction and phenol and nitrophenol isomers photooxidation as examples of heterogeneous photocatalytic reactions, *Res. Chem. Intermed.*, 18(2-3), 211-226, 1992.
- Seltzer J.M., and Baxter D.M., Airborne mold spore and skin cell fragment concentrations inside "clean" buildings, *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 101, 134, 1998.



- Serpone N., Is the band gap of pristine TiO₂ narrowed by anion- and cation-doping of titanium dioxide in second-generation photocatalysts? *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 24287–24293, 2006
- Serpone N., Maruthamuthu P., Pichat P., Pelizzetti E., and Hidaka H., Exploiting the interparticle electron-transfer process in the photocatalyzed oxidation of phenol, 2chlorophenol and pentachlorophenol-chemical evidence for electron and hole transfer between coupled semiconductors, *Photochem J.*. *Photobiol. A: Chem.*, 85(3), 247-255, 1995.
- Shao G.S., Zhang X.J., and Yuan Z.Y., Preparation and photocatalytic activity of hierarchically mesoporous-macroporous TiO_{2-x}N_x, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 82, 208-218, 2008.
- Shen H., Mi L., Xu P., Shen W.D., and Wang P.N., Visible-light photocatalysis of nitrogen-doped TiO₂ nanoparticulate films prepared by low-energy ion implantation, *Applied Surface Science*, 253, 7024-7028, 2007.
- Shen Y.f., Xiong T.Y., Li T.F., and Yang K., Tungsten and nitrogen co-doped TiO₂ nanopowders with strong visible light response, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 83, 177-185, 2008.
- Shi J.Y., Leng W.H., Cao J.L., Zhang J.Q., and Cao C.N., Effect of cobalt precursor on microstructures and visible light photoactivity of doped TiO₂ powders, *Chinese Journal of Chemical Physics*, 19(5), 463, 2006.
- Shiraishi, F., Nomura, T., Yamaguchi, S., Ohbuchi, Y., Rapid removal of trace HCHO from indoor air by an air purifier consisting of a continuous concentrator and photocatalytic reactor and its computer simulation, *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 127, 157-165, 2007.
- Sichel C., de Cara M., Tello J., Blanco J., and Fernandez-Ibanez P., Solar photocatalytic disinfection of agricultural pathogenic fungi: Fusarium species, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 74(1-2), 152-60, 2007.
- Sidheswaran M. and Tavlarides L.L., Visible light photocatalytic oxidation of toluene using a cerium-doped titania catalyst, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 47, 3346-3357, 2008.
- Silva A.M.T., Silva C.G., Drazic G., and Faria J.L., Ce-doped TiO₂ for photocatalytic degradation of chlorophenol, *Catalysis Today*, 144, 13-18, 2009.
- Sioi M., Bolosis A., Kostopoulou E., and Poulios I., Photocatalytic treatment of colored wastewater from medical laboratories: Photocatalytic oxidation of hematoxylin, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 184, 18–25, 2006.
- Sitkiewitz S. and Heller A., Photocatalytic oxidation of benzene and stearic acid on solgel derived TiO₂ thin films attached to glass, *New J. Chem.*, 20, 233-241, 1996.



- Song H.Y., Yu Y.T., and Norby P., Efficient complete oxidation of acetaldehyde into CO₂ over Au/TiO₂ core-shell nano catalyst under uv and visible light irradiation, *J. Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 9, 5891-5897, 2009.
- Song S., Tu J.J., Xu L.j., Xu X., He Z.Q, Qiu J.P., Ni J.G., and Chen J.M., Preparation of a titanium dioxide photocatalyst codoped with cerium and iodine and its performance in the degradation of oxalic acid, *Chemosphere*, 73, 1401–1406, 2008.
- Sopyan I., Murasawa S., Hashimoto K., and Fujishima A., Highly efficient TiO₂ film photocatalyst: degradation of gaseous acetaldehyde, *Chemistry Letters*, 723-726, 1994.
- Sopyan I., Watanabe M., Murasawa S., Hashimoto K., and Fujishima A., An efficient TiO₂ thin-film photocatalyst: photocatalytic properties in gas-phase acetaldehyde degradation, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 98, 79-86, 1996.
- Spengler, J.D. and Sexton, K. Indoor air pollution: a public health perspective, *Science*, 221, 9-17, 1983.
- Spitler M.T.and Calvin M., Electron-transfer at sensitized TiO₂ electrodes, J. Chem. Phys., 66, 4294, 1977.
- Srinivasan S.S., Wade J., and Stefanakos E.K., Visible light photocatalysis via CdS/TiO₂ nanocomposite materials, *Journal of Nanomaterials*, Sp. 2, 87326, 2006.
- Stylidi M., Kondarides D.I., and Verykios X.E., Visible light-induced photocatalytic degradation of Acid Orange 7 in aqueous TiO₂ suspensions, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 47, 189-201, 2004.
- Suarez-Parra R., Hernandez-Perez I., Rincon M.E., S. Lopez-Ayala, M.C. Roldan-Ahumada, Visible light-induced degradation of blue textile azo dye on TiO₂/CdO– ZnO coupled nanoporous films, *Solar Energy Materials & Solar Cells*, 76, 189–199, 2003.
- Subramanian V., Wolf E.E., and Kamat P.V., Influence of metal/metal-ion concentration on the photocatalytic activity of TiO₂-Au composite nanoparticles, *Langmuir*, 19, 469-474, 2003.
- Sullivan W.F., Weatherability of titanium dioxide containing paints, *Prog. Org. Coatings*, 1, 157, 1972.
- Sun B., Reddy E.P., and Smirniotis P.G., TiO₂-loaded Cr-modified molecular sieves for 4-chlorophenol photodegradation under visible light, *Journal of Catalysis*, 237, 314-321, 2006.
- Sun B., Smirniotis P.G., and Boolchand P., Visible light photocatalysis with platinized rutile TiO₂ for aqueous organic oxidation, *Langmuir*, 21, 11397-11403, 2005



- Sun J.H., Qiao L.P., Sun S.P., and Wang G.L., Photocatalytic degradation of Orange G on nitrogen-doped TiO₂ catalysts under visible light and sunlight irradiation, *Journal* of Hazardous Materials, 155, 312-319, 2008a.
- Sun Q. and Xu Y.M., Sensitization of TiO₂ with aluminum phthalocyanine: factors influencing the efficiency for chlorophenol degradation in water under visible light, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 113, 12387–12394, 2009.
- Sun W.T., Yu Y., Pan H.Y., Gao X.F., Chen Q., and Peng L.M., CdS quantum dots sensitized TiO₂ nanotube-array photoelectrodes, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 130, 1124–1125, 2008b.
- Sunada K., Kikuchi Y., Hashimoto K., and Fujishima A., Bactericidal and detoxification effects of TiO₂ thin film photocatalysts, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 32(5), 726-728, 1998.
- Szczepankiewicz S.H., Moss J.A., and Hoffmann M.R., Slow surface charge trapping kinetics on irradiated TiO₂, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 106, 2922–2927, 2002.
- Tachikawa T., Takai Y., Tojo S., Fujitsuka M., Irie H., Hashimoto K., and Majima T., Visible light-induced degradation of ethylene glycol on nitrogen-doped TiO₂ powders, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 13158-13165, 2006.
- Tachikawa T., Tojo S., Kawai K., Endo M., Fujitsuka M., Ohno T., Nishijima K., Miyamoto Z., and Majima T., Photocatalytic oxidation reactivity of holes in the sulfur- and carbon-doped TiO₂ powders studied by time-resolved diffuse reflectance spectroscopy, J. Phys. Chem. B, 108, 19299-19306, 2004.
- Takahara Y.K., Hanada Y., Ohno T., Ushiroda S., Ikeda S., and Matsumura M., Photooxidation of organic compounds in a solution containing hydrogen peroxide and TiO₂ particles under visible light, *Journal of Applied Electrochemistry*, 35, 793–797, 2005.
- Takeshita K., Yamakata A., Ishibashi T., Onishi H., Nishijima K., and Ohno T., Transient IR absorption study of charge carriers photogenerated in sulfur-doped TiO₂, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 177, 269–275, 2006.
- Tan, T.T.Y., Yip, C.K., Beydoun, D., Amal, R., Effects of nano-Ag particles loading on TiO₂ photocatalytic reduction of selenate ions. *Chem. Eng. J.* 95, 179–186, 2003.
- Thompson T.L. and JR-Yates J.T., Surface science studies of the photoactivation of TiO₂-new photochemical processes, *Chem. Rev*, 106, 4428-4453, 2006.
- Tichenor B.A., Guo Z. and Dorsey J.A., Emission rates of mercury from latex paints. In: *IAQ 91—Healthy Buildings*, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning Engineers, Atlanta, GA, 276–279, 1991.



- Tojo S., Tachikawa T., Fujitsuka M., and Majima T., Iodine-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts: correlation between band structure and mechanism, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 112, 14948–14954, 2008.
- Tokudome H. and Miyauchi M., N-doped TiO₂ nanotube with visible light activity, *Chemistry Letters*, 33(9), 1108-1109, 2004.
- Tsai S.J. and Cheng S., Effect of TiO₂ crystalline structure in photocatalytic degradation of phenolic contaminants, *Catal. Today*, 33, 227–237, 1997.
- Tseng Y.H., Kuo C.S., Huang C.H., Li Y.Y., Chou P.W., Cheng C.L., and Wong M.S., Visible-light-responsive nano-TiO₂ with mixed crystal lattice and its photocatalytic activity, *Nanotechnology*, 17, 2490–2497, 2006.
- U.S. EPA, A Comparison of Indoor and Outdoor Concentrations of Hazardous Air Pollutants. EPA Report EPA/600/N-98/002, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Research Triangle Park, NC, 1998.
- U.S. EPA, Reducing Risk: Setting Priorities and Strategies for Environmental Protection. EPA Report EPA-SAB-EC-90/02, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Washington D.C. 1990.
- U.S. EPA, Report to Congress on indoor air quality: Volume 2. EPA/400/1-89/001C. Washington, D.C. 1989.
- U.S. EPA, The total exposure assessment methodology (team) study. EPA 600/S6-87/002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1987a.
- U.S. EPA, Unfinished Business: A comparative assessment of environmental problems, EPA Report EPA-230/2-87-025, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington D.C. 1987b.
- Umebayashi T., Yamaki T., Sumita T., Yamamoto S., Tanaka S. and Asai K., UV-ray photoelectron and ab initio band calculation studies on electronic structures of Cr- or Nb-ion implanted titanium dioxide, *Nuc. Instru. Meth. B*, 206, 264-267, 2003b.
- Umebayashi T., Yamaki T., Yamamoto S., Miyashita A., Tanaka S., Sumita T., and Asai K., Sulfur-doping of rutile-titanium dioxide by ion implantation: Photocurrent spectroscopy and first-principles band calculation studies, *J. Appl. Phys.*, 93(9), 5156-5160, 2003a.
- Usseglio S., Damin A., Scarano D., Bordiga S., Zecchina A., and Lamberti C., $(I_2)_n$ encapsulation inside TiO₂: a way to tune photoactivity in the visible region, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 129, 2822-2828, 2007.



- Vacaroiu C., Enache M., Gartner M., Popescu G., Anastasescu M., Brezeanu A., Todorova N., Giannakopoulou T., Trapalis C., and Dumitru L., The effect of thermal treatment on antibacterial properties of nanostructured TiO₂(N) films illuminated with visible light, *World J Microbiol Biotechnol*, 25, 27-31, 2009.
- Valentin C.D., Pacchioni G., Selloni A., Livraghi S. and Giamello E., Characterization of paramagnetic species in N-Doped TiO₂ powders by EPR Spectroscopy and DFT calculations, J. Phys. Chem. B, 109(23), 11414-11419, 2005.
- Venkatadri R. and Peters R.W., Chemical oxidation technologies: ultraviolet light/hydrogen peroxide, fenton's reagent, and titanium dioxide-assisted photocatalysis, *Hazardous Waste & Hazardous Materials*, 10(2), 107-149, 1993.
- Viitanen H., Modelling the time factor in the development of mould fungi in wood-The effect of critical humidity and temperature conditions, *Holzforschung*, 51(1), 6-14, 1997.
- Viitanen H., Hanhijarvi A., Hukka A., and Koskela K., Modelling mould growth and decay damages, *Healthy Buildings, Espoo*, 10(3), 341–46, 2000.
- Viitanen H. and Ritschkoff A., Mould growth in pine and spruce sapwood in relation to air humidity and temperature. Report no. 221. Uppsala, The Swedish University of Agricultural Scienses, Department of Forest Products, 1991.
- Vlachopoulos, N., Liska, P., Augustynski, J., and Graetzel, M., Very efficient visible light energy harvesting and conversion by spectral sensitization of high surface area polycrystalline titanium dioxide films, J. Am. Chem. Soc, 110, 1216-1220, 1988.
- Vrachnou E., Grltzel M. and McEvoy A.J., Efficient visible light photoresponse following surface complexation of titanium dioxide with transition metal cyanides, J. *Electroanal. Chem.*, 258, 193-205, 1973.
- Wamer W.G., Yin J.J., and We R.R., Oxidative damage to nucleic acids photosensitized by titanium dioxide, *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 23(6), 851-858, 1997.
- Wan L., Li J.F., Feng J.Y., Sun W., and Mao Z.Q., Photocatalysts of Cr doped TiO₂ Film prepared by micro arc oxidation, *Chinese Journal of Chemical Physics*, 21(5), 487, 2008.
- Wan L. Li J.F., Feng J.Y., Sun W., and Mao Z.Q., Improved optical response and photocatalysis for N-doped titanium oxide (TiO₂) films prepared by oxidation of TiN, *Applied Surface Science*, 253, 4764-4767, 2007.
- Wang J., Ma T., Zhang G., Zhang Z.H., Zhang X.D., Jiang Y.F., Zhao G., and Zhang P., Preparation of novel nanometer TiO₂ catalyst doped with upconversion luminescence agent and investigation on degradation of acid red B dye using visible light, *Catalysis Communications*, 8, 607-611, 2007d.



- Wang J., Uma S., and Klabunde K.J., Visible light photocatalytic activities of transition metal oxide/silica aerogels, *Micropor. Mesopor. Mater.* 75(1-2), 143-147, 2004a.
- Wang J., Uma S., and Klabunde K.J., Visible light photocatalysis in transition metal incorporated titania-silica aerogels, *Appl. Catal. B Environ.* 48(2), 151-154, 2004b.
- Wang J., Zhang G., Zhang Z.H., Zhang X.D., Zhao G., Wen F.Y., Pan Z.J., Li Y., Zhang P., and Kang P.L., Investigation on photocatalytic degradation of ethyl violet dyestuff using visible light in the presence of ordinary rutile TiO₂ catalyst doped with upconversion luminescence agent, *Water Research*, 40, 2143-2150, 2006f.
- Wang J., Zhao G., Zhang Z.H., Zhang X.D., Zhang G., Ma T., Jiang Y.F., Zhang P., and Li Y., Investigation on degradation of azo fuchsine using visible light in the presence of heat-treated anatase TiO₂ powder, *Dyes and Pigments*, 75, 335-343, 2007c.
- Wang K.H., Hsieh Y.H., Chou M.Y., and Chang C.Y., Photocatalytic degradation of 2chloro and 2-nitrophenol by titanium dioxide suspensions in aqueous solution, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 21, 1-8, 1999a.
- Wang K.H., Hsieh Y.H., Lin C.H., and Chang C.Y., The study of the photocatalytic degradation kinetics for dichloroethylene in vapor phase, *Chemosphere*, 39, 1371-1384, 1999b.
- Wang Q., Chen C.C., Ma W.H., Zhu H.Y., and Zhao J.C., Pivotal role of fluorine in tuning band structure and visible-light photocatalytic activity of nitrogen-doped TiO₂, *Chemistry-A European Journal*, 15(19), 4765-4769, 2009.
- Wang S.B., Ang H.M., and Tade M.O., Volatile organic compounds in indoor environment and photocatalytic oxidation: State of the art, *Environment International*, 33, 694-705, 2007a.
- Wang X.C., Yu J.C., Chen Y.L., Wu L., and Fu X.Z., ZrO₂-modified mesoporous nanocrystalline TiO_{2-x}N_x as efficient visible light photocatalysts, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 40, 2369-2374, 2006c.
- Wang X.H., Li J.G., Kamiyama H., and Ishigaki T., Fe-doped TiO₂ nanopowders by oxidative pyrolysis of organometallic precursors in induction thermal plasma: Synthesis and structural characterization, *Thin Solid Films*, 506-507, 278-282, 2006a.
- Wang X.H., Li J.G., Kamiyama H., Moriyoshi Y., and Ishigaki T., Wavelength-sensitive photocatalytic degradation of methyl orange in aqueous suspension over Iron(III)-doped TiO₂ nanopowders under uv and visible light irradiation, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 110, 6804-6809, 2006b.
- Wang Y.Q., Yu X.J., and Sun D.Z., Synthesis, characterization, and photocatalytic activity of TiO_{2-x}N_x nanocatalyst, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 144, 328-333, 2007b.



- Wang Z.D., Experimental study of self-sustained electrochemical promotion catalysts for heavy hydrocarbon reforming, University of Miami, 2011.
- Wang Z.P., Cai W.M., Hong X.T., Zhao X.L., Xu F. and Cai C.G., Photocatalytic degradation of phenol in aqueous nitrogen-doped TiO₂ suspensions with various light sources, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 57, 223–231, 2005.
- Wang Z.Y., Chen H.F., Tang P.S., Mao W.P., Zhang F.A., Qian G.D., and Fan X.P., Hydrothermal in situ preparation of the copper phthalocyanine tetrasulfonate modified titanium dioxide photocatalyst, *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects,*, 289, 207-211, 2006e.
- Wang Z.Y., Mao W.P., Chen H.F., Zhang F.A., Fan X.P., and Qian G.D., Copper(II) phthalocyanine tetrasulfonate sensitized nanocrystalline Titania photocatalyst: Synthesis in situ and photocatalysis under visible light, *Catalysis Communications*, 7, 518-522, 2006d.
- Watts R.J., Kong S., Orr M.P., Miller G.C., and Henry B. E., Photocatalytic inactivation of coliform bacteria and viruses in secondary wastewater effluent, *War.Res.*, 29(1), 95-100, 1995.
- Wawrzyniak B. and Morawski A.W., Solar-light-induced photocatalytic decomposition of two azo dyes on new TiO₂ photocatalyst containing nitrogen, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 62, 150-158, 2006.
- Wawrzyniak B. and Morawski A.W., Solar-light-induced photocatalytic decomposition of two azo dyes on new Viitanen H., Modelling the time factor in the development of mould fungi in wood-The effect of critical humidity and temperature conditions, *Holzforschung*, 51(1), 6-14, 1997.
- Wei C., Lin W.Y., Zainal Z., Williams N.E., Zhu K., Krurlc A.P., Smith R.L., and Rajeshwar K., Bactericidal activity of TiO₂ photocatalyst in aqueous media: toward a solar-assisted water disinfection system, *Environ. Sci. Technol*, 28, 934-938, 1994.
- Wei T.Y., Wang Y.Y., and Wan C.C., Photocatalytic oxidation of phenol in the presence of hydrogen peroxide and titanium dioxide powders, *J. Photochem. Photobiol. A: Chem.*, 55, 115-126,1990.
- Wendt S., Sprunger P.T., Lira E., Madsen G.K.H., Li Z.S., Hansen J., Matthiesen J., Blekinge-Rasmussen A., Lagsgaard E., Hammer B., and Besenbacher F., The role of interstitial sites in the Ti3d defect state in the band gap of Titania, *Science*, 320, 1755-1759, 2008.
- Wicklow D.T. and Shotwell O.L., Intrafungal distribution of aflatoxins among conidia and sclerotia of *Aspergillus flavus* and *Aspergillus parasticus*, *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 29(1), 1-5, 1983.



- Wilke K. and Breuer H.D., The influence of transition metal doping on the physical and photocatalytic properties of Titania, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 121, 49-53, 1999.
- Wold A., Photocatalytic properties of TiO₂, Chem. Mater., 5, 280-283, 1993.
- Wong M.S., Wang S.H., Chen T.K., Weng C.W., and Rao K.K., Co-sputtered carbonincorporated titanium oxide films as visible light-induced photocatalysts, *Surface & Coatings Technology*, 202, 890-894, 2007.
- WHO, World Health Organization, Indoor air quality: organic pollutants, copenhagen, WHO regional office for europe (EURO Report and Studies I111). 1989.
- Wu G.S. and Chen A.C., Direct growth of F-doped TiO₂ particulate thin films with high photocatalytic activity for environmental applications, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 195, 47-53, 2008.
- Wu L., Yu J.C., and Fu X.Z., Characterization and photocatalytic mechanism of nanosized CdS coupled TiO₂ nanocrystals under visible light irradiation, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical*, 244, 25-32, 2006.
- Wu P.G., Xie R.C., Imlay J.A., and Shang J.K., Visible-light-induced photocatalytic inactivation of bacteria by composite photocatalysts of palladium oxide and nitrogendoped titanium oxide, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 88, 576-581, 2009c.
- Wu T.S., Wang K.X., Li G.D., Sun S.Y., Sun J., and Chen J.S., Montmorillonitesupported Ag/TiO₂ nanoparticles: An efficient visible-light bacteria photodegradation material, *Applied Materials & Interfaces*, 2(2), 544-550, 2010.
- Wu T.X., Liu G.M., Zhao J.C., Hidaka H., and Serpone N., Photoassisted degradation of dye pollutants. V. Self-photosensitized oxidative transformation of rhodamine B under visible light irradiation in aqueous TiO₂ dispersions, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 102, 5845-5851, 1998.
- Wu X.F., Song H.Y., Yoon J.M., Yu Y.T., and Chen Y.F., Synthesis of core-shell Au-TiO₂ nanoparticles with truncated wedge-shaped morphology and their photocatalytic properties, *Langmuir*, 25(11), 6438-6447, 2009a.
- Wu Y.M., Liu H.B., Zhang J.L., and Chen F., Enhanced photocatalytic activity of nitrogen-doped titania by deposited with gold, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 113, 14689-14695, 2009b.
- Wu Z.B., Dong F., Zhao W.R., and Guo S., Visible light induced electron transfer process over nitrogen doped TiO₂ nanocrystals prepared by oxidation of titanium nitride, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 157, 57-63, 2008.



- Xie Y.B. and Yuan C.W., Transparent TiO₂ sol nanocrystallites mediated homogeneouslike photocatalytic reaction and hydrosol recycling process, *Journal Of Materials Science*, 40, 6375-6383, 2005.
- Xie Y.B. and Yuan C.W., Photocatalysis of neodymium ion modified TiO₂ sol under visible light irradiation, *Applied Surface Science*, 221, 17-24, 2004.
- Xie Y.B., Yuan C.W., and Li X.Z., Photocatalytic degradation of X-3B dye by visible light using lanthanide ion modified titanium dioxide hydrosol system, *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects*, 252, 87-94, 2005.
- Xing M.Y., Zhang J.L., and Chen F., New approaches to prepare nitrogen-doped TiO₂ photocatalysts and study on their photocatalytic activities in visible light, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 89, 563-569, 2009a.
- Xing M.Y., Zhang J.L., and Chen F., Photocatalytic performance of N-doped TiO₂ adsorbed with Fe³⁺ ions under visible light by a redox treatment, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 113, 12848-12853, 2009b.
- Xu J.H., Li J.X., Dai W.L., Cao Y., Li H.X., and Fan K.N., Simple fabrication of twistlike helix N,S-codoped titania photocatalyst with visible-light response, *Applied Catalysis B-Environmental*, 79(1-2), 72-80, 2008.
- Xu Y.H., Chen H.R., Zeng Z.X., Lei B., Investigation on mechanism of photocatalytic activity enhancement of nanometer cerium-doped Titania, *Applied Surface Science*, 252, 8565-8570, 2006.
- Xu Y.M. and Langford D.H., UV- or visible-light-induced degradation of X3B on TiO₂ nanoparticles: The influence of adsorption, *Langmuir*, 17, 897-902, 2001.
- Yamada T., Gao Y.F., and Nagai M., Hydrothermal synthesis and evaluation of-visiblelight-active photocatalyst of (N, F)-codoped anatase TiO₂ from an F-containing titanium chemical, *Journal of The Ceramic Society of Japan*, 116(1353), 614-618, 2008.
- Yamagata S., Baba R., and Fujishima A., Photocatalytic decomposition of 2ethoxyethanol on titanium dioxide, *Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn.*, 62, 1004-1010, 1989.
- Yamashita H., Ichihashi Y., Takeuchi M., Kishiguchi S., and Anpo M., Characterization of metal ion-implanted titanium oxide photocatalysts operating under visible light irradiation, *J. Synchrotron Rad.*, 6, 451-452, 1999.
- Yan G.Y., Zheng L.P., Lin S., and Ye J.H., Photocatalysis activity and physicochemical structure of titanium dioxide co-doped with N and B, *Chinese Journal Of Structural Chemistry*, 27(11), 1353-1359, 2008.



- Yan Q.Z., Su X.T., Huang Z.Y., and Ge C.C., Sol-gel auto-igniting synthesis and structural property of cerium-doped titanium dioxide nanosized powders, *Journal of the European Ceramic Society*, 26, 915-921, 2006.
- Yanagida S., Nakajima A., Sasaki T., Isobe T., Kameshima Y., and Okada K., Preparation and photocatalytic activity of Keggin-ion tungstate and TiO₂ hybrid layer-by-layer film composites, *Applied Catalysis A: General*, 366, 148-153, 2009.
- Yanagida S., Nakajima A., Sasaki T., Kameshima Y., and Okada K., Processing and photocatalytic properties of transparent 12 tungston(VI) phosphoric acid-TiO₂ hybrid films, *Chem. Mater.* 20, 3757-3764, 2008.
- Yang H.M., Deng Y.H., and Du C.F., Synthesis and optical properties of mesoporous MCM-41 containing doped TiO₂ nanoparticles, *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochem. Eng. Aspects*, 339, 111-117, 2009.
- Yang H.Y., Lou L.P., Wu X.N., and Chen Y.X., Reaction site and mechanism in the UV or visible light induced TiO₂ photodegradation of Orange G, *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 18(1), 180-183, 2006.
- Yang Q.J., Xie C., Xu Z.L., Gao Z.M., and Du Y.G., Synthesis of highly active sulfatepromoted rutile Titania nanoparticles with a response to visible light, *J. Phys. Chem. B*, 109, 5554-5560, 2005.
- Yang R., Zhang Y.P., Xu Q.J., and Mo J.H., A mass transfer based method for measuring the reaction coefficients of a photocatalyst. *Atmospheric Environment*, 41, 1221-1229, 2007b.
- Yang S.Y., Hu H., Chen Y.Y., Zheng J.G., and Cui Y.J., Role of the reduction site in the fluorinated or sulfated TiO₂ photocatalytic process, *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 19, 1239-1244, 2007a.
- Yang X., Study of building material emissions and indoor air quality, Ph.D. Dissertation, Building Technology Program, Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 1999.
- Yang X. Chen Q., Zeng J. Zhang J.S., and Shaw C.Y., A mass transfer model for simulating volatile organic compound emissions from 'wet' coating materials applied to absorptive substrates, *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer*, 44, 1803-1815, 2001.
- Yang X. and Wang Y., Photocatalytic effect on plasmid DNA damage under different UV irradiation time, *Building and Environment*, 43, 253-257, 2008.
- Yao H.C., Tsia T.C., Huang C.J., and Shieu F.S., Effect of annealing on the Sn-doped TiO₂ films prepared by DC/RF cosputtering, *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, 154(12), 284-290, 2007.



- Yates H.M., Nolan M.G., Sheel D.W., and Pemble M.E., The role of nitrogen doping on the development of visible light-induced photocatalytic activity in thin TiO₂ films grown on glass by chemical vapour deposition, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 179, 213-223, 2006.
- Yi Z., Wei W., Lee S., and Gao J.H., Photocatalytic performance of plasma sprayed Ptmodified TiO₂ coatings under visible light irradiation, *Catalysis Communications*, 8(6), 906-912, 2007.
- Yin S., Komatsu M., Zhang Q.W., Saito F., and Sato T., Synthesis of visible-light responsive nitrogen/carbon doped titania photocatalyst by mechanochemical doping, *Journal of Materials Science*, 42(7), 2399-2404, 2007.
- Yin S., Yamaki H., Komatsu M., Zhang Q.W., Wang J.S., Tang Q., Saito F., and Sato T., Synthesis of visible-light reactive TiO_{2-x}N_y photocatalyst by mechanochemical doping, *Solid State Sciences*, 7, 1479-1485, 2005.
- Yin S., Yamaki H., Komatsu M., Zhang Q.W., Wang J.S., Tang Q., Saito F. and Sato T., Preparation of nitrogen-doped Titania with high visible light induced photocatalytic activity by mechanochemical reaction of Titania and hexamethylenetetramine, J. Mater. Chem., 13, 2996-3001, 2003.
- Yokosuka Y., Oki K., Nishikiori H, Tatsumi Y., Tanaka N., and Fujii T., Photocatalytic degradation of trichloroethylene using N-doped TiO₂ prepared by a simple sol–gel process, *Res Chem Intermed*, 35, 43-53, 2009.
- Yu J.G., Xiang Q.J., and Zhou M.H., Preparation, characterization and visible-lightdriven photocatalytic activity of Fe-doped Titania nanorods and first-principles study for electronic structures, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental*, 90, 595-602, 2009.
- Yu J.C., Lin J., and Kwok R.W.M., Enhanced photocatalytic activity of Ti_{1-x}V_xO₂ solid solution on the degradation of acetone, *J. Photochem. Photobiol. A*, 111, 199-203, 1997.
- Yu J.C., Yu J., Ho W., Jiang Z., and Zhang L., Effects of F doping on the photocatalytic activity and microstructures of nanocrystalline TiO₂ powders, *Chem. Mater.*, 14, 3808-3816, 2002.
- Yu J.G., Zhou M.H., Cheng B., and Zhao X.J., Preparation, characterization and photocatalytic activity of in situ N,S-codoped TiO₂ powders, *Journal of Molecular Catalysis A-Chemical*, 246(1-2), 176-184, 2006.
- Zaleska A., Sobczak J.W., Grabowska E., and Hupka J., Preparation and photocatalytic activity of boron-modified TiO₂ under UV and visible light, *Applied Catalysis B: Environme-ntal*, 78, 92-100, 2008.
- Zang Y.J. and Farnood R., Photocatalytic activity of AgBr/TiO₂ in water under simulated sunlight irradiation, *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 79, 334-340, 2008.



- Zeng Y., Wu W., Lee S., and Gao J.H., Photocatalytic performance of plasma sprayed Ptmodified TiO₂ coatings under visible light irradiation, *Catalysis Communications*, 8, 906–912, 2007.
- Zhang H., Zong R.L., Zhao J.C., and Zhu Y.F., Dramatic visible photocatalytic degradation performances due to synergetic effect of TiO₂ with PANI, *Environ. Sci. Technol*, 42, 3803-3807, 2008b.
- Zhang J.W., Wang Y., Jin Z.S., Wu Z.S., and Zhang Z.J., Visible-light photocatalytic behavior of two different N-doped TiO₂, *Applied Surface Science*, 254, 4462-4466, 2008a.
- Zhang X. and Liu Q.Q., Visible-light-induced degradation of formaldehyde over Titania photocatalyst co-doped with nitrogen and nickel, *Applied Surface Science*, 254, 4780–4785, 2008.
- Zhang X., Zhang F., and Chan K.Y., Synthesis of titania-silica mixed oxide mesoporous materials, characterization and photocatalytic properties, *Appl. Catal. A. Gen.*, 284(1-2), 193-198, 2005.
- Zhang X.T., Udagawa K., Liu Z.Y., Nishimoto S., Xu C.S., Liu Y.C., Sakai H., Abe M., Murakami T., and Fujishma A., Photocatalytic and photoelectrochemical studies on N-doped TiO₂ photocatalyst, *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology A: Chemistry*, 202, 39-47, 2009.
- Zhang Y.G., Ma L.L., Li J.L., and Yu Y., In situ fenton reagent generated from TiO₂/Cu₂O composite film: a new way to utilize TiO₂ under visible light irradiation, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41, 6264-6269, 2007.
- Zhao J., Wu T., Wu K., Oikawa K., Hidaka H., and Serpone N., Photoassisted degradation of dye pollutants 3 degradation of the cationic dye rhodamine B in aqueous anionic surfactant/TiO₂ dispersions under visible light irradiation: evidence for the need of substrate adsorption on TiO₂ particles, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 32, 2394-2400, 1998.
- Zhao J. and Yang X., Photocatalytic oxidation for indoor air purification: a literature review, *Building and Environment*, 38, 645-654, 2003.
- Zhao Q., Li M., Chu J., Jiang T.S., and Yin H.B., Preparation, characterization of Au (or Pt)-loaded Titania nanotubes and their photocatalytic activities for degradation of methyl orange, *Applied Surface Science*, 255, 3773-3778, 2009.
- Zheng R.Y., Lin L., Xie J.L., Zhu Y.X., and Xie Y.C., State of doped phosphorus and its influence on the physicochemical and photocatalytic properties of P-doped Titania, J. Phys. Chem. C, 112, 15502-15509, 2008.



- Zhong J.B., Wang J.L., Tao L., Gong M.C., Liu Z.M., and Chen Y.Q., Photocatalytic degradation of gaseous benzene over TiO₂/Sr₂CeO₄: Preparation and photocatalytic behavior of TiO₂/Sr₂CeO₄, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 140, 200-204, 2007.
- Zhou L., Tan X., Zhao L., and Sun M., Photocatalytic degradation of NO_x over platinum and nitrogen codoped titanium dioxide under visible light irradiation, *Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun.*, 72(3), 379-391, 2007.
- Zhou M.H. and Yu J.G., Preparation and enhanced daylight-induced photocatalytic activity of C,N,S-tridoped titanium dioxide powders, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 152, 1229-1236, 2008.
- Zhou Z.Q., Zhang X.Y., Wu Z., and Dong L.M., Mechanochemical preparation of sulfurdoped nanosized TiO₂ and its photocatalytic activity under visible light, *Chinese Science Bulletin*, 50(23), 2691-2695, 2005.
- Zhu J., Ren J., Huo Y.N., Bian Z.F., and Li H.X., Nanocrystalline Fe/TiO₂ visible photocatalyst with a mesoporous structure prepared via a nonhydrolytic sol-gel route, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 111, 18965-18969, 2007a.
- Zhu J.P., Lusztyk E., Zhang J.S., and Shaw C.Y., A method for sampling and analysis of Volatile Organic Compounds in emission testing of building materials, Final report1.1. *CMEIAQ: Consortium for Material Emission and IAQ Modeling*, 1999.
- Zhu Y.F., Pan K.L., Jiang L., and Dan Y., Preparation and evaluation of photocatalytic activity of poly(dimethylsiloxane)–titanium dioxide composites, *Plastics, Rubber and Composites*, 36(7-8), 360-364, 2007b..

